Incorporating seasonal flooding into frameworks modelling geographical access to health services

Elizabeth Jade Mroz

Submitted in accordance with the requirements of the degree of

Master of Science by Research

The University of Leeds School of Geography September 2021 The candidate confirms that the work submitted is her own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others. This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement. The right of Elizabeth Jade Mroz to be identified as author of this work has been asserted by Elizabeth Jade Mroz in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Acknowledgements

Thanks simply *must* go first to my incredible supervisors, Dr. Mark Smith and Dr. Tom Willis. Even in the daunting face of my long emails and even longer PowerPoint presentations, both have tirelessly guided and supported me throughout this project. What started off as an undergraduate exercise in delineating roads and trying not to get a repetitive strain injury became *this project* thanks to their enthusiasm in letting me explore ideas, their expertise in helping me shape said ideas into methods, and their knack for knowing when to reel me back in so I didn't lose focus! It goes without saying that the Guinness World Record for *Best Supervisor* is a shared title between them.

Secondly, I'd like to thank my family. They have no absolutely no clue what it is I do, but they blindly love and support and tell me I'm the best anyway. Visits home also never had panic-inducing questions about how the thesis write-up was going – *bonus*!

I'd also like to thank my PGR buddies: Sophie Tankard, who has been a continuous source of support and great conversations which have kept me sane; Adam Hartley, for his endless kindness; and Chris Stringer, friend extraordinaire who revolutionised my life by showing me how to make aesthetic graphs in Excel.

Finally, immense thanks and gratitude are dedicated to Ewan McLaughlin, Samantha Ravenscroft, and Lydia Richardson. When the worst experience of my life occurred and threatened my academic progress, their unwavering love and support throughout the proceeding months ensured I was able to continue to succeed academically whilst recovering. This thesis simply wouldn't have been possible without them, and I feel so blessed to call them my best friends.

Abstract

Seasonal floods are an important barrier to healthcare access in low-income countries, with recognised implications of increased morbidity and mortality. Effective interventions require detailed understanding of how flood inundation alters patterns and magnitudes of inaccessibility through space and time. Despite recognition of the importance of seasonal floods, few have previously modelled their impacts on geographic access. This study developed a new framework for incorporating quantitative measurements of floodwater depth and velocity into network analysis and cost-distance algorithms. The new approach directly calculates flood hazard to vehicular and walking access as it changes through space and time, permitting more realistic representation of floods as a barrier without substantially inflating data requirements or relying on inappropriate assumptions from urban, high-income regions. The new approach was demonstrated in the Barotse Floodplain, a large African floodplain in Zambia. Floodwater variables were obtained from a hydrodynamic model, and all other inputs were sourced from freely-available datasets or manually delineated. Monthly scenarios were produced between October 2017 and October 2018, capturing the spatio-temporal impacts of one annual flood event on access to healthcare and specifically to maternal services. Access was shown to dynamically change through space and time as the seasonal floodwave passed through the floodplain, with substantial drops in access experienced at the peak of the floods. The new approach provided unprecedented, detailed information regarding the onset, duration, and cessation of flood impacts. Previous static approaches were shown to be unable to recreate the dynamism of access under floodwaters. The use of a hydrodynamic model is advantageous over satellite-derived flood extents and has the potential to predict future impacts of climate change on access. This research has demonstrated the importance of modelling spatio-temporal variability in access for regions affected by seasonal flooding and the framework can be applied to other regions to aid in intervention planning and build future health system resilience. Future research should continue to reduce the gap in knowledge of how floods affect access, integrate qualitative and quantitative data to address access through an interdisciplinary approach, and investigate what scale of data are needed for accurate results at different areal units.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION, Outline of the research

1.1.	Rationale	1
1 2	Aims and philostives	้า
1.2.	Aims and objectives	Z
1.3.	Thesis outline	3

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW, Access to health and modelling geographical variables

•	• ·	
2.1.	Chai	acteristics of large African floodplains4
2.2.	Theo	oretical framework of access to healthcare6
2.	2.1.	Overview
2.	2.2.	Geographic accessibility7
2.	2.3.	Effects of flooding and precipitation10
2.	2.4.	Non-geographic variables affecting access10
2.3.	Мос	lelling geographical accessibility12
2.	3.1.	Overview of GIS methods12
	2.3.1.1	. Simple Cartesian measures12
	2.3.1.2	. Provider-to population ratios13
	2.3.1.3	. Gravity models14
	2.3.1.4	. Cost-distance and network analysis15
	2.3.1.5	. Units of measure
2.	3.2.	Comparison of GIS methods19
	2.3.2.1	. Appropriateness of Euclidean distance measures19
	2.3.2.2	. Vector- or raster-based models?22
	2.3.2.3	. Unimodal or multimodal cost-distance algorithms?23
	2.3.2.4	. Criticisms of cost-distance algorithms23
2.4.	Inco	rporation of flooding and precipitation24
2.	4.1.	Human instability
2.	4.2.	Vehicular instability
2.5.	Rese	arch gaps31
2.	5.1.	Accounting for floodwaters in low-income regions

2.5.2	2. Use of hydrodynamic model outputs	32
2.6.	Chapter summary	34

CHAPTER 3: METHODS, A new geographical access framework that models floodwater impacts

3.1.	The	Barotse floodplain	36
3.	1.1.	Floodplain characteristics	36
3.	1.2.	Sociocultural characteristics	39
3.	.1.3.	Canal network	40
3.	.1.4.	Transportation	41
3.	.1.5.	Health challenges	41
3.2.	Desc	ription of input data	42
3.	.2.1.	Healthcare facilities	42
3.	.2.2.	Population density	42
3.	.2.3.	Waterbodies and floodwater variables	44
3.	.2.4.	Road network	45
	3.2.4.1	. Delineation	45
	3.2.4.2	. OpenStreetMap	47
	3.2.4.3	. Speed limit classifications	47
	3.2.4.4	. Validation	47
3.3.	Netv	vork-based model	48
3.	.3.1.	Procedure	49
	3.3.1.1	. Set-up and calculating travel times	49
	3.3.1.2	. Accumulated cost surfaces	52
	3.3.1.3	. Service areas	52
	3.3.1.4	. Binary network accessibility	52
	3.3.1.5	. Origin-destination cost matrix	53
3.4.	Rast	er-based model	54
3.	.4.1.	Procedure	54
	3.4.1.1	. Set-up and impedance surface creation	54
	3.4.1.2	. Accumulated cost surfaces and closest facility analysis	58
	3.4.1.3	. Service areas	58
3.5.	Appl	ication to the Barotse Floodplain	60
3.	.5.1.	Sensitivity analysis	60
	2 5 4 4	Natwork based model	<u> </u>

3.5.1.2.	Raster-based model	62
3.5.1.3.	Conclusions of Sensitivity Analyses	63
3.5.2. Acc	ess scenarios	64
3.6. Chapter	summary	65

CHAPTER 4, RESULTS: Health access in the Barotse Floodplain

4.1.	Floo	dwave passage	.67
4.2.	Gen	eral walking access to healthcare	.70
4.2.	1.	Overview	.70
4.2.	2.	Walking access throughout the hydrological year	.74
4.2.	3.	The spatio-temporal impact of floodwater variables	.78
4.2.	4.	Effects of floods on health access inequity	.80
4.3.	Acce	ess to maternal services	.83
4.3.	1.	Walking access throughout the hydrological year	.83
4.3.	2.	Spatio-temporal patterns of walking access	.87
4.3.	3.	Potential referral coverage and referral times	. 89
4.4.	Imp	rovements over previous approaches	.94
4.5.	Sum	mary of key findings	.97

CHAPTER 5, DISCUSSION: Understanding dynamic flood inundation impacts on health service access

5.1. Eval	uation of model performance100
5.1.1.	Impact of floods on access to care100
5.1.2.	Importance of findings for the region102
5.1.3.	Accuracy of the model in representing access103
5.2. Com	nparison to previous approaches106
5.2.1.	Use of hydrodynamic model outputs instead of remotely-sensed flood extents
5.2.2.	Walking through floodwaters
5.2.3.	Comparison of floodwater parameters with those used in hazard mapping110
5.3. Imp	ortance of the new framework111
5.3.1.	Raster-based model
5.3.2.	Vector-based model112
5.4. Limi	tations113
5.4.1.	Data constraints
5.4.2.	Unimodality of approach116

5.4.3.	Transhumanance behaviours of the population	117
5.4.4.	Validation of travel times and consideration of other access variables	118
5.5. Futi	ure work	120
5.5.1.	Scale of approach	120
5.5.2.	Boat modelling	120
5.5.3.	Integration of qualitative and quantitative approaches	121

List of Figures

CHAPTER 2, LITERATURE REVIEW:

- 2.1 Conceptual diagram of the key variables influencing access to healthcare
- 2.2 Comparison of Euclidean, Manhattan, and shortest network distances
- 2.3 Comparison of vector- and raster-based spatial representation
- 2.4 Diagram of octangular propagation and its elongation errors relative to true distance
- 2.5 Comparison of the differences between 8-cell and 16-cell propagation
- 2.6 Geographic accessibility resulting from the Euclidean and network-based approaches
- 2.7 Inappropriateness of Euclidean distance measures on floodplains
- 2.8 Sketch of forces acting to cause sliding and toppling instability in humans
- 2.9 Photographs of a human subject in a flume experiment measuring human instability
- 2.10 *hv_c* equation variants from Karvonen *et al.* (2000) plotted against experimental data
- 2.11 Forces acting upon a partially-submerged vehicle
- 2.12 AR&R stability criteria plotted against all data generated since its publication

CHAPTER 3, METHODS:

- **3.1** Map of the Barotse Floodplain
- 3.2 Hydrographs of the Zambezi River's discharge in 2009 and 2018
- **3.3** Photograph of the Kuomboka festival
- 3.4 Road network dataset combining OpenStreetMap with manually-delineated data
- **3.5** Simplified flow diagram of network model framework
- **3.6** Decision tree on how flood impacts on driving are modelled in the network-based model
- **3.7** Simplified flow diagram of raster model framework

- **3.8** Decision tree on how flood impacts on walking is modelled in the raster-based model
- **3.9** Sensitivity analysis results for the vector model
- **3.10** Sensitivity analysis results for the raster model

CHAPTER 4, RESULTS:

- 4.1 Floodwater extent and depth in key months
- 4.2 Comparison of the FW and NFW predictions of inaccessibility
- 4.3 Monthly variation in the percentage of population with walking access to a facility
- 4.4 Monthly variation in the percentage of population with walking access to a hospital
- 4.5 Satellite image of a settlement with no walking access to any facility
- 4.6 Comparison of NFW and FW monthly predictions of access to hospitals
- 4.7 Remaining floodwaters in the Luanginga Valley in October 2018
- 4.8 Relative monthly decreases in accessibility to facilities depending on dry season travel time
- 4.9 Relative monthly decreases in accessibility to hospitals depending on dry season travel time
- 4.10 Percentage of women unable to reach maternal services each month
- 4.11 Percentage of women within each travel time threshold to maternal services
- 4.12 Comparison of accessibility to different maternal services in key months
- 4.13 Referral capabilities of facilities to EmOC each month
- 4.14 Vehicular referral times in the Barotse Floodplain between delivery sites and EmOC
- 4.15 Flood presence around Lealui in October 2017, March 2018, and October 2018
- **4.16** Monthly variation in percentage of women within different referral categories
- **4.17** Comparison of access in 2018 between previous static approaches and the new approach
- 4.18 Travel times of women identified using a static "dry" and "wet" season approach

List of Tables

CHAPTER 3, METHODS:

- **3.1** Facilities and services offered by the healthcare system in Zambia
- 3.2 Definitions of maternal services
- 3.3 Reclassification of OpenStreetMap data
- 3.4 Speed limits assigned to roads in the network-based model
- 3.5 Parameters in the network-based model
- 3.6 Parameters in the raster-based model
- 3.7 Summary of inputs and parameters used in access model scenarios

CHAPTER 4, RESULTS:

- 4.1 Monthly average depths and velocities
- 4.2 Monthly estimates of the population with timely access to the nearest facility
- **4.3** Monthly estimates of the population with timely access to the nearest hospital
- 4.4 Disproportionate impacts for populations furthest away from facilities
- 4.5 Monthly estimates of women with timely access to maternal services
- 4.6 Disproportionate impacts for women furthest away from maternal services
- **4.7** Comparison of maternal access projections between a previous approach and the new approach

CHAPTER 5, DISCUSSION:

5.1 Classification of basic and emergency obstetric care by signal functions

Abbreviations

BRE	Barotse Royal Establishment
2SFCA	Two-step floating catchment area method
e2SFCA	Enhanced two-step floating catchment area method
3SFCA	Three-step floating catchment area method
EmOC	Emergency obstetric care
FME	Feature Manipulation Engine
FW	Walking through floodwaters
GIS	Geographical information system
h	Human height
н	Water depth
H _{max}	Maximum water depth threshold
HRSL	High resolution settlement layer
HV	Depth-velocity product
ΗVc	Critical depth-velocity stability criteria
ITCZ	Intertropical Convergence Zone
m	Human weight
MMR	Maternal mortality ratio
MWS	Maternity waiting shelter
NFW	Not walking through floodwaters
OSM	OpenStreetMap
PPR	Provider-to-population ratio
UN	United Nations
V	Velocity
V _{max}	Maximum velocity threshold
WHO	World Health Organisation
4WD	Four wheel-drive

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION: Outline of the research

1.1. Rationale

The ability of populations to access healthcare is critical for improving health outcomes, reducing inequity, and meeting the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goal of good health and wellbeing for all. In low-income countries, geographical barriers to healthcare facilities have been linked with poor service uptake and worsened health outcomes (Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a; Lohela *et al.*, 2012; Zegeye *et al.*, 2014; Kenny *et al.*, 2015; Wong *et al.*, 2017; Tegegne *et al.*, 2018; Gammino *et al.*, 2020; Stone *et al.*, 2020). Modelling geographical access is essential for identifying populations not served adequately by facilities, recognising the most impactful variables, and to plan interventions that allocate limited resources for the greatest cost-benefit (e.g., Fisher and Lassa, 2017; Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020; Ngana and Karyawati, 2021; Pereira *et al.*, 2021).

Floodwaters are key barriers in low-income countries with distinctive seasonal climates (Schoeps et al., 2011; Blanford et al., 2012; Berendes et al., 2014; Makanga et al., 2017; Brottem and Coulibaly, 2019; Schmitz et al., 2019; Joseph et al., 2020). The impacts of floods can persist for extensive amounts of time, restricting healthcare access (Espinet Alegre et al., 2020; Ngana and Karyawati, 2021), isolating entire populations (Makanga et al., 2017), causing medical supply shortages (Phalkey et al., 2012; limi and Rajoela, 2018), and hindering referrals between facilities (Nhemachena et al., 2011; Phalkey et al., 2012); all of which increase morbidity and mortality that could have otherwise been preventable in the dry season. Despite recognition (Oppong, 1996; Nhemachena et al., 2011; Phalkey et al., 2012; Makanga et al., 2017; Munthali et al., 2017) that floods have significant impacts on access, there is a critical dearth of literature that considers the impacts of floods on access to healthcare in low-income countries. Few studies have directly considered the impacts of floods on access (Blanford et al., 2012; Fisher and Lassa, 2017; Makanga et al., 2017; Hierink et al., 2020), and no study has yet coupled a hydrodynamic model with an access model to investigate how access changes spatio-temporally over the duration of a flood event. Nearly all previous studies have presented access as a spatially and temporally static contrast between a dry and wet scenario (e.g., Blanford et al., 2012), using maximum flood extents only to represent floodwaters.

Introduction

Consequently, there is limited understanding of the relationship between actual floodwater variables and access, and no representation of how access changes in the key transition stages of flood rise and flood recession.

The lack of understanding on how floods affect access to healthcare is a critical problem. Floods exert multiple influences on access by not only limiting the ability of populations to reach care, but also potentially reducing the quality of care provided such as by impacting the distribution of important medicines (e.g., antiretrovirals) and preventing timely referrals (Veenstra *et al.*, 2010). These impacts cannot be mitigated against without knowledge on how floods impact access through space and time, particularly during flood rise and recession stages which previous work has not studied. Additionally, climate change will alter the magnitude, timing, and extent of fluvial floods (Arnell and Gosling, 2014; Kling *et al.*, 2014; Nka *et al.*, 2015) which in turn will impact the health outcomes of rural floodplain populations who are already vulnerable. Health systems need to be resilient to the effects of climate change in order to prevent progress stagnating or undoing. The ability to explicitly model changes in access under flooding is consequently crucial now as well as in the future to continue with progress made towards health equity. For models to be effective in achieving this, an interdisciplinary approach is needed that is able to integrate environmental science into geographic access models.

1.2. Aims and objectives

The aim of this study was to create a geospatial framework that quantifies the spatiotemporally variable impacts of flooding when modelling geographical access to healthcare in lowincome countries. The Barotse Floodplain located in Western Province, Zambia was selected as the first case study application to demonstrate the new approach which is generalisable to other regions. Three objectives were defined to guide the research:

O1: To create novel network and raster models that incorporate quantitative measurements of water depth and velocity when assessing vehicular and walking access.

O2: To demonstrate the new approach by modelling monthly changes in access across an entire hydrological year for a large African floodplain using hydrodynamic model outputs representative of a real annual flood event.

2

Introduction

O3: To assess the spatio-temporal impact of flooding on access to both general and maternal healthcare for the Barotse Floodplain, Zambia.

The research aim and objectives build upon four key research gaps identified in the health access literature. First, quantitative measurements of floodwater depth and velocity are directly incorporated into the geospatial framework; previous research in low-income countries has either ignored floodwater impacts, or solely considered flood extent as a barrier. Second, the new framework incorporates stability criteria for vehicles and humans to more accurately assess the safety of moving through floodwaters. To the author's knowledge, this is the first instance of these being used in access models. Third, the case study outlined here assesses access for thirteen months, documenting access in the dry season and throughout an annual flood event. Previous studies that considered access with a temporal component were nearly all limited to modelling access as one dry and one wet season scenario, ignoring changing spatio-temporal dynamics. Finally, this study is the first to apply access models specifically to a large African floodplain.

1.3. Thesis outline

Chapter 2 addresses the existing literature which underpins this research, spanning disciplines to discuss: (i) the characteristics of large African floodplains and their populations; (ii) the theories of health access; (iii) the GIS (geographic information system) methods used to assess access; (iv) human and vehicular instability criteria; and (v) the work of previous studies which have incorporated precipitation and flooding into their methodologies. A new geospatial framework is then proposed in Chapter 3 which address the gaps identified in the literature review through the specific incorporation of floodwater variables and stability criteria. The Zambezi case study is also introduced, and the application of the new methodology to model access to general and maternal healthcare is described. Chapter 4 reports the results from the Zambezi case study, focusing on the spatio-temporal influence of floodwaters on the monthly variation of populations attempting to reach healthcare. The new methodology is also compared with previous approaches to demonstrate its advantages and the additional insights into access it provides. The results are further discussed in Chapter 5 with comparisons made to previous studies to emphasise the importance and usefulness of modelling spatio-temporal impacts of flooding in the new methodology. The limitations of the study and recommendations for future research directions are also discussed in this chapter. Chapter 6 summaries the body of the thesis by presenting the key findings.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW: Health access and modelling geographical variables

Section 2.1 describes the characteristics of large African floodplains, focusing on flood pulses and their importance to the local livelihoods. In Section 2.2, access to healthcare is then reviewed in the entirety of its theoretical framework, with a focus on geographical variables. The effects of flooding and precipitation on access are explicitly described to emphasise the importance of considering these variables. Section 2.3 introduces the current common methodologies used to measure geographical access, ranging from most simple to complex. Euclidean distances and costdistance algorithms are then compared as these are the most commonly-used methods in low-income or data-sparse regions. Finally, Section 2.4 considers the incorporation of flooding and precipitation into access models. Instability of both vehicular and human movement is described to provide knowledge on how floodwater variables can be used to determine hazard. The current state of knowledge is then explicitly reviewed in Section 2.5 to show how few studies have attempted to account for seasonality effects on access, and that a critical gap in knowledge persists regarding how dynamic floodwaters cause access to change over space and time. To conclude, Section 2.6 provides a concise summary of the entire literature review.

2.1. Characteristics of large African floodplains

African floodplains often cover substantial areas of flat land adjacent to rivers and experience a minimum of one seasonal flood pulse per hydrological year (Welcomme, 1975; Gaudet, 1992). A floodplain is considered large when its extent at peak inundation exceeds 1,000 km² (Gaudet, 1992), but the inundation dynamics of floodplains varies considerably and some may contract as much as 85% in areal inundation extent during the dry season (Gaudet, 1992; Adams, 1993; Cohen Liechti *et al.*, 2016a; Thompson *et al.*, 2017). Nearly every African river has a fringing floodplain, but the largest floodplains have formed due to geologic impediments that have obstructed discharge (Welcomme, 1979). The presence of a barrier, such as a resistant outcrop, forces floodwaters backwards into

extensive flat plains which creates seasonal flood extents that rival the area of the largest lakes (Welcomme, 1979).

Strongly seasonal variations in precipitation cause many African rivers to exhibit seasonal discharges which cause overbank flooding (Welcomme, 1979; Gaudet, 1992; Charlton, 2008). Variability in precipitation and discharge determines flood extent and depth, leading to annual variations in the size of floods (Welcomme, 1979; Zimba et al., 2018). Flow patterns and flood pulses differ between floodplains due to complexity in factors such as river length, climate, underlying geology and soil, upstream catchment size, and the number, complexity and synchronicity of tributaries (Welcomme, 1975; Charlton, 2008). The delayed arrival of floodwaters is a common characteristic shared between African floodplains; floodwaters often arrive downstream many months after peak rainfall due to the length of many African rivers (Welcomme, 1979; Cai et al., 2017; Thompson et al., 2021). For example, before dams modified flows in the Kafue Flats, Zambia, floodwaters would peak in the dry season month of May, after the rainy season between November and March (Howard, 1991). Consequently, some floodplains even experience multiple flood pulses per year: one flood pulse resulting from local rainfall, and a second caused by overspill of delayed discharge arriving from upstream (Welcomme, 1975; Welcomme, 1979). The hydrology of large African floodplains is complex which leads to difficulties in establishing their water regimes, but floods typically persist from weeks to multiple months with the average inundation time estimated to be six months annually (Marchand, 1987).

Large floodplains have complex negative relief features which are highly significant in determining the behaviours of floodwaters (Adams, 1993; Lewin and Ashworth, 2014). Negative relief features influence surface water depths and velocities as well as groundwater; consequently, even minor variations alter the spatio-temporal distribution of floodwaters across a floodplain (Welcomme, 1979; Lewin and Ashworth, 2014). The topography of a floodplain is not permanent as sediment from fluvial and non-fluvial sources may infill depressions over very long timescales (Lewin and Ashworth, 2014). Negative relief features are additionally important to local populations as they provide diverse ecological habitats, including for fish and mammals (Lewin and Ashworth, 2014). They can even influence transmission of diseases like malaria; in non-flood months, depressions that retain water can provide viable anopheline habitats (Smith *et al.*, 2013).

Local African communities are dependent on floodplains and their regular inundation (Marchand, 1987; Thompson and Polet, 2000; Schuijt, 2002; Schuijt, 2005; Rebelo *et al.*, 2010; Moritz *et al.*, 2016; Cai *et al.*, 2017; Laborde *et al.*, 2018). These communities typically have subsistence-based economies which gives floodplain resources a high local value (IUCN, 2003). Floodplains offer a source of food, water, and building materials which are important to livelihoods, and it is the dynamism and

characteristics of floodplains and their floods which maintains these (Marchand, 1987). Floodplains are pulse-stabilised ecosystems whose continuous wet and dry cycles prevent a climatic climax community; this maintains high productivity, and thus high numbers of fish and mammals which are traditional key sources of food and income (Marchand , 1987; Junk *et al.*, 1989; Acreman, 1996).

Despite the importance of floodplains for local communities, decision-makers commonly view large African floodplains as economically worthless due to ignorance regarding the ecosystem services they provide (Marchand, 1987; Schuijt, 2002; Schuijt, 2005). Floodplains are often seen as having an "excess" of water (Howard, 1991; Adams, 1993) and thus large African floodplains are increasingly under threat due to the potential they afford large hydropower production and irrigation schemes (Gaudet, 1992; Movik *et al.*, 2005; Schuijt, 2005; Fynn *et al.*, 2015). Due to the strong interrelationship between floodplains and local populations, any variation in seasonal flood characteristics directly impacts livelihoods (Moritz *et al.*, 2016). The construction of dam and irrigation projects would alter hydrology, modify the timing and magnitude of floods, and affect river system continuity and sediment transfer dynamics (Adams, 1993; Charlton, 2008; Beilfuss, 2012). Consequently, the impact to floodplains and their populations would be significantly detrimental.

2.2. Theoretical framework of access to healthcare

2.2.1. Overview

Achieving equitable access to healthcare is important for maintaining and improving the health of populations. Access can be most broadly defined as the ability of populations to reach healthcare; however, access is a complex concept with multiple dimensions to consider. The World Health Organisation (WHO, 1978, p. 58) defined accessibility as "...the continuing and organised supply of care that is geographically, financially, culturally, and functionally within easy reach of the whole community. The care has to be appropriate and adequate in content and in amount to satisfy the needs of people and it has to be provided by methods acceptable to them."

Penchansky and Thomas (1981) defined five dimensions of access that theoretically satisfy this definition: availability (provision of enough services to meet everyone's needs), accessibility (geographic barriers impeding populations from reaching services), accommodation (whether populations deem health services and their delivery suitable for them), affordability (financial costs to use services), and acceptability (satisfaction with care quality). As human decision-making underpins the entire access to healthcare framework, Thaddeus and Maine (1994) proposed that there are three key phases in healthcare access: (1) the decision to seek care; (2) the ability to reach care; and (3) the

6

delay in receiving treatment. The five dimensions of access (Penchansky and Thomas, 1981) and the variables influencing them form complex interrelationships that affect each of these three phases (Figure 2.1).

The uptake of health services can be affected by either spatial (physical and geographical) or aspatial (sociocultural and socioeconomic) variables (Khan and Bhardwaj, 1994), and access can either be measured as realised or potential. Realised access analyses actual real-world uptake of health services, such as by recording travel times of actual journeys. Potential access models the barriers that could be impeding access and estimates travel times (Khan and Bhardwaj, 1994; Andersen, 1995).

This research investigates only the accessibility dimension of access (also referred to as geographic, physical, or spatial accessibility) and solely considers spatial factors when modelling potential access to healthcare. Throughout the study, human decision-making is assumed to weigh in favour of seeking care, and only the second phase of Thaddeus and Maine's (1994) framework concerning the ability to reach care is considered. Healthcare is also used in this study to refer exclusively to medical care administered by professionals. Complete health is considered to be comprised of physical, mental, and social health (WHO, 1978) and so medical care is only one component of healthcare (Gulzar, 1999).

2.2.2. Geographic accessibility

In the first and second phases of delay (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994), geographical accessibility is critical in determining whether a person seeks care and whether a person can reach care. Spatial barriers act as a significant impediment to the uptake of services; this has been well-demonstrated in the literature (e.g., Gage and Calixte, 2006; Gage, 2007; Mpembeni *et al.*, 2007; Kyei *et al.*, 2012; Mwaliko *et al.*, 2014; Tatem *et al.*, 2014; Hanson *et al.*, 2015; Vora *et al.*, 2015; Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016; Hanson *et al.*, 2017; Wong *et al.*, 2017). For example, Gabrysch *et al.* (2011a) found that increased distance to a healthcare facility in rural Zambia was significantly associated with the likelihood of institutional births decreasing by 29% (*p*<0.05). Meanwhile, Tanser *et al.* (2006) found healthcare facility usage declined logistically as travel times increased in rural South Africa (*p*<0.0001), and Ruktanonchai *et al.* (2016) found that increased geographic inaccessibility had the strongest association with reducing all maternal care usage in five countries (Burundi, Kenya, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda). These examples demonstrate the distance decay effect: a decrease in healthcare system usage as barriers to geographic accessibility increase.



Figure 2.1. Conceptual diagram outlining the key variables influencing access to healthcare, according to the classical frameworks of Penchansky and Thomas (1981) and Thaddeus and Maine (1994). Text in red indicates the health aspects this thesis covers.

Variables important in explaining geographical accessibility include travel distance, road network infrastructure and conditions, topography, available modes of transport, and climate (Kironji *et al.*, 2018; Huot *et al.*, 2019; Dawkins *et al.*, 2021). These factors aggregate into an accumulated travel time which often exerts multiple influences on human decision-making by forming complex interrelationships with other variables such as finance (Thaddeus and Maine, 1996; Simkhada *et al.*, 2008; Karra *et al.*, 2016). If transport is too expensive and walking too arduous due to difficult terrain and subsequent long travel times, a person will simply not be able to reach a healthcare facility irrespective of whether they want to. Consequently, the interpretation of potential geographic access is complicated, as the other factors involved in healthcare-seeking behaviour (see Section 2.3.4) must be considered to prevent erroneous conclusions.

Travel distance refers exclusively to the total distance between a population and a healthcare provider. Distance typically forms complex interrelationships with other spatial variables which can compound its effect, so distance preferably should not be considered alone. Topographies such as deserts, wetlands, and mountains can increase travel times or force travel along longer distances due to their impassibility (Gage and Calixte, 2006; Alegana et al., 2012; Blanford et al., 2012; Sturrock et al., 2014; Khatri and Karkee, 2018; Dumitrache et al., 2020). Terrain slope alone is able to reduce walking accessibility by increasing the relative travel time to walk a given distance (Tobler, 1993; Fogliati et al., 2015; Márquez-Pérez et al., 2017). Temporal topographic effects, such as precipitation and flooding, can act as temporary barriers for parts of the year thereby complicating journeys and travel times (see Section 2.3.3). Access to a motorised vehicle is associated with improved geographic accessibility as a person becomes able to travel longer distances to reach healthcare (e.g., Comber et al., 2011; Gabrysch et al., 2011a). However, in low-income areas such as rural sub-Saharan Africa, very few households have access to their own motorised vehicle and public transport can be unscheduled and incomplete in coverage (Gabrysch et al., 2011a; Dos Anjos Luis and Cabral, 2016). Instead, journeys often take place on-foot and thus long distances and travel times act as common barriers to healthcare access.

Road network infrastructure conditions describe whether paths, roads, and bridges are in good traversable condition. Poor conditions can further impede walkers and prevent motorised vehicles from driving along theoretically optimum routes, thus compounding distance and increasing travel times (Le Roux *et al.*, 2019). All-weather (also referred to as all-season) roads are arguably a key infrastructure for improving healthcare accessibility in rural areas (Espinet Alegre *et al.*, 2020). An all-weather road is paved with surface materials that are resistant to precipitation (i.e., the materials do not become saturated and waterlogged), maintained in good condition, and thus operable all year-round (Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Mikou *et al.*, 2019; Stone *et al.*, 2020). Such characteristics are important

in countries with significant wet seasons. Vora *et al.* (2015) found that access to an all-weather road was positively correlated with institutional births for rural women in two states in India, which experiences an annual monsoon.

2.2.3. Effects of flooding and precipitation

The effects of climate on geographical accessibility are primarily dictated by precipitation and flooding, both of which have severe impacts on access. For countries with high percentages of unpaved roads (such as most of the sub-Saharan Africa region), heavy precipitation can render most of the roads unusable due to waterlogging (Laurance *et al.*, 2014; Le Roux *et al.*, 2019; Stone *et al.*, 2020). Even on paved road surfaces, precipitation causes increased risk of hydroplaning (e.g., Atubi and Onokala, 2009) and increased braking distances, both of which reduce safe travel speeds and thus increase journey times. Very high precipitation rates can cause surface flooding on roads which necessitates their closure, forcing travel along alternative routes, negatively influencing the connectivity of the network, potentially increasing congestion, and thus increasing travel times. In extreme scenarios, excess precipitation and flooding can cause wide swathes of land to become inaccessible, subsequently isolating local populations constrained by the floodwaters (Howard, 1991; Makanga *et al.*, 2017; Espinet Alegre *et al.*, 2020; Roder-DeWan *et al.*, 2020).

Accessibility to a wide range of services can be affected including schools, shops and markets (Nhemachena *et al., 2011*; Cai *et al.,* 2017), which further compounds poverty (Espinet Alegre *et al.,* 2020). However, the impacts on healthcare accessibility are immediately more critical as geographical access is hindered and the provision of quality care is reduced (e.g., Nhemachena *et al.,* 2011; Phalkey *et al.,* 2012). Morbidity and mortality often increase as a result of reduced accessibility during floods; for example, missed appointments for chronic illnesses (e.g., HIV) or medicine stock-outs (e.g., of antiretroviral drugs) lead to worsened health outcomes and shortened life expectancies (Schatz, 2008; Lankowski *et al.,* 2014; Espinet Alegre *et al.,* 2020). Injuries and health emergencies that were time-critical result in fatalities in the wet season despite them otherwise being treatable in the dry season. Those most impacted by floods are usually already vulnerable, such as the rural poor who already face long travel times to their nearest healthcare facility.

2.2.4. Non-geographic variables affecting access

Decisions to seek healthcare and the ability to reach healthcare facilities are underpinned by numerous theoretical concepts regarding influential socioeconomic and sociodemographic factors in

Chapter 2

Literature review

addition to the geographical factors discussed (Penchansky and Thomas, 1981; Thaddeus and Maine, 1996; Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009; Levesque *et al.*, 2013). It is beyond the scope of this study to incorporate and discuss all of these factors in detail. However, to dismiss them entirely would ignore substantial contextual information that explains the unquantifiable aspects of geographical access related to human-decision making, which are critical to understanding and interpreting results (Simkhada *et al.*, 2008; Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a). Failure to give consideration to all potentially influential factors could cause misleading interpretation of results and thus misrepresentation of the true nature of geographic accessibility for policy-makers (Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a).

Perceived accessibility, finance, and social influences (e.g., stigma) are key to influencing decisions to seek care (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994). Essentially, a person is either motivated or demotivated to seek care based upon how difficult they believe it will be to attend a healthcare facility (both geographically and economically) and whether they believe their local community will view them negatively. If the route to healthcare is deemed too difficult or too costly, healthcare-seeking may be restricted to only serious illnesses and critical injuries (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994). Social influences vary geographically due to differing local sociocultural traditions surrounding modern medicine and healthcare usage. Perceived impression of healthcare facilities is also an influential social factor; this includes whether a person believes a healthcare facility will offer advantages over traditional medicine, and perceived quality of care, which has been shown to be a strong influence affecting healthcare-seeking behaviours (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994; Gage, 2007).

Healthcare-seeking journeys are not concluded until the receipt of appropriate treatment. A person may have overcome travel obstacles to reach a healthcare facility, but waiting times for treatments, referral times between facilities and services, poor quality of care, understaffing, and medicine stock-outs can all lead to delays in receiving appropriate treatment for a health condition (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994; Phalkey *et al.*, 2012; Penfold *et al.*, 2013). These final delays can be critical, resulting in mortalities that would otherwise have been prevented with adequate, timely treatment (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994; Hanson *et al.*, 2015). For example, Nassoro *et al.* (2020) found that 19 of 35 maternal deaths at a Tanzanian referral hospital in 2018 were due to these final delays in referrals from facilities, in receiving treatment, and inadequate skills of staff.

Strong feedback loops can emerge between the variables involved in each phase of this conceptual healthcare access framework. For example, the effects of precipitation and flooding have long-term impacts on the health-care seeking behaviours of populations in addition to the short-term implications already described. For those who have travelled despite floods and overcome significant obstacles to reach a healthcare facility, there is an expectation that the healthcare received will be of

quality to have made the arduous journey worthwhile. Receipt of poor healthcare quality, thus, causes dissatisfaction and potentially a perception that healthcare quality is poor year-round. This discourages future healthcare-seeking for the individuals and the experience may also be communicated so that entire communities can be deterred from seeking care (Thaddeus and Maine, 1994; Gage, 2007; Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016; Mupwanyiwa *et al.*, 2020).

2.3. Modelling geographical accessibility

2.3.1. Overview of GIS methods

There are a variety of methods used in the literature to measure geographic access to services. Most broadly, these can be grouped into four categories: (1) simple Cartesian measures; (2) providerto-population ratios; (3) gravity-based measures; and (4) cost-distance and network analysis. Any method and the data used in models of geographic accessibility all influence the outcome and can bias the results. The potential sources of this bias necessitate close consideration of the data and methodology used at every stage of the research process.

2.3.1.1. Simple Cartesian measures

Euclidean (also commonly referred to as straight-line or linear) and Manhattan distances (also known as taxicab geometry) are the two simplest access measures employed in the literature (Figure 2.2). Euclidean distances are simply a straight-line plotted between point A (e.g., the centre of a population) and point B (e.g., a healthcare facility). As Euclidean distances ignore topography to assume a homogeneous isotropic surface, they can be readily applied anywhere which has made them historically popular for studies in low- and middle-income countries where the data required to operate more complex GIS methods can be difficult to source or of unusable quality (e.g., Noor *et al.*, 2003; Målqvist *et al.*, 2010; Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a; Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011b; Kyei *et al.*, 2012; Mwaliko *et al.*, 2014; Hanson *et al.*, 2015). Manhattan distances are slightly more complex as they measure the distance between point A and point B based on the absolute difference in length between their Cartesian coordinates (Apparicio *et al.*, 2017). Due to the differences in how they are calculated, Manhattan measures will always produce a greater distance value than Euclidean measures for the same sets of points (Apparicio *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 2.2. Euclidean and Manhattan distance measures compared against the shortest network distance calculated between a healthcare facility and a populated area in Mongu, Zambia. Adapted from Apparicio *et al.*, (2017).

2.3.1.2. Provider-to population ratios

Provider-to-population ratios (PPR; also known as supply ratios) have been used as a measure of geographical accessibility since before the 1970s (Maina *et al.*, 2019). In a PPR, the numerator represents a value for an indicator of a health system (e.g., hospitals, available hospital beds) and the denominator denotes the population size computed for an area (Rekha *et al.*, 2017). Areas border one another and are representative of a geographic unit such as countries, states, or another user-determined geographic boundary (Rekha *et al.*, 2017). PPRs can be compared for all areas to assess discrepancies in the healthcare system and to identify areas under- or over-served by the healthcare system (Rekha *et al.*, 2017). PPRs are popular as the data required to create them are usually readily-accessible and they require no GIS expertise to create (Guagliardo, 2004). Values arising from PPRs are also easily interpreted by policy-makers (Guagliardo, 2004) and consequently the format is often used to report values resulting from gravity models.

2.3.1.3. Gravity models

Gravity models estimate interactions between populations and providers by combining both accessibility and availability (supply of services), considering the effects of distance and the attractiveness of services (Rekha *et al.*, 2017). Gravity models use a distance decay function to represent the fact that nearby providers are more accessible than those located further away (Luo and Wang, 2003). In the simplest gravity models, demand and competition effects are not considered. The limitations of early, basic gravity models have spawned a series of descendants attempting to improve upon the gravity model concept. The two-step floating catchment area method (2SFCA), enhanced two-step floating catchment area method (e2SFCA), and three-step floating catchment area method (3SFCA) are the most noteworthy of the descendants.

The 2SFCA method (Luo and Wang, 2003) improved upon earlier gravity models by explicitly considering travel times as its threshold, rather than assuming that all providers were equal in accessibility provided they were located within a threshold distance of a population centroid. 2SFCA is a systematic and consistent approach whose results are more easily interpreted by policy-makers than earlier gravity models as they are in the familiar PPR ratio format (Luo and Wang, 2003). 2SFCA also considers population movement across geographic boundaries, which earlier gravity models did not do.

The e2SFCA method (Luo and Qi, 2009) is a derivative of the 2SFCA method which incorporates a distance decay function to further emphasise distances between providers and populations (Luo and Qi, 2009; Heywood *et al.*, 2011). The use of a distance decay function further discretises a population's catchment into travel time intervals permitting higher resolution quantification of the differences in accessibility between travel time intervals in one catchment, rather than using dichotomous travel time measures for catchment coverage (i.e., providers are either within the threshold or they are not) (Luo and Wang, 2003, Luo and Qi, 2009). Access within a catchment is no longer assumed to be uniform, and the discretisation is a closer analogue to the continuous distance measures used in traditional gravity models which are theoretically optimal (Luo and Qi, 2003). eS2FCA results are also reported in the familiar PPR format.

The 3SFCA method was developed from the 2SFCA and e2SFCA methods and differs in that it considers competition effects between facilities (Rekha *et al.*, 2017). This consequently models the demand supply of healthcare in addition to the supply side, reducing overestimation of demand (Wan *et al.*, 2012).

2.3.1.4. Cost-distance and network analysis

Cost-distance and network analysis are commonly used in the literature to measure distance and/or travel time between two locations, normally populations and services (e.g., Tanser *et al.*, 2006; Bailey *et al.*, 2011; Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Gething *et al.*, 2012; dos Anjos Luis and Cabral, 2016; Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016; Makanga *et al.*, 2017; Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020). In addition to health services, cost-distance and network analysis have been used to assess geographic access to food, education, parks and recreation, religious establishments, and other services (Larsen and Gilliland, 2008; Hallet and McDermott, 2011; Mulrooney *et al.*, 2017; Abd El Karim and Awawdeh, 2020). The methods are also applied in other fields such as landscape ecology (Pérez-Espona *et al.*, 2008; Etherington, 2016), archaeology (Taliaferro *et al.*, 2010; White, 2015), and infrastructure planning (de Lima *et al.*, 2016; Ghandehari Shandiz *et al.*, 2018).

Principally, cost-distance analysis uses a raster-based model and network analysis uses a vector-based model (Delamater *et al.*, 2012; Nesbitt *et al.*, 2014). Whilst methodological differences exist between the two types, the underlying principles of the algorithms are the same (Delameter *et al.*, 2012): raster and vector are simply alternative ways of representing geographical data (Figure 2.3). In both analyses, geographical accessibility is typically computed by calculating the path of least resistance, or least geographical cost, between two locations (Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016) using an algorithm such as Dijkstra's Shortest Path (Dijkstra, 1959). The resulting path represents the ideal route to take in terms of minimum distance or travel time (Tanser *et al.*, 2006).

A vector-based model uses edges (lines) and nodes (points) to construct the road network, with the remainder of the geographical plane denoted as undefined (Delameter *et al.*, 2012). Travel can only occur along edges and time penalties can be introduced at nodes to represent delays such as turn and stop impedances (Heywood *et al.*, 2011; Delameter *et al.*, 2012). The construction of a vector network closely mimics its real-world counterpart (Heywood *et al.*, 2011; Delameter *et al.*, 2012) and so they are after seen as a more realistic representation of true road network connectivity. Vectors have attribute tables which permit the storage of multiple entities of information about each edge such as geographical coordinates, road type, road surface material, speed limits under different conditions, etc. The expansiveness of the vector attribute table allows complex calculations of impedance values assigned to edges. However, this also requires the modeller to clearly document all the rules in their vector-based model that determine travel along the edges and nodes (Delamater *et al.*, 2012; Wong *et al.*, 2017). Failure to do so could misrepresent connectivity and thus lead to misleading conclusions about geographical accessibility.



Figure 2.3. A comparison of vector- and raster-based representations of an area in Limulunga, Zambia. Note that in the vector model, white represents an undefined plane which cannot be traversed. Comparatively, in the raster model, the same area is represented in grey as it can be traversed.

In a raster-based model, travel is determined by cell proximity on an impedance surface (also known as a friction surface or cost surface) (Delamater *et al.*, 2012). An impedance surface is a grid of cells with impedance values determining the ease of geographical movement through each cell (Gething *et al.*, 2012). Typically, the higher the impedance value, the less accessible the cell is to move through geographically, and vice versa. Waterbodies are typically assigned impedance values representative of total inaccessibility (e.g., Makanga *et al.*, 2017) to deter any attempts to route through waterbodies. The impedance surface used in a raster-based model can only display data for one attribute: total surface impedance. However, total surface impedance can be calculated from as many variables as desired by combining multiple different raster layers representing different impedance variables (e.g., land-use, slope, roads) (Alegana *et al.*, 2012; Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016). Spatial data can be classified into four types: ordinal, nominal, ratio, and interval. Critically, a total surface impedance must contain only ratio-scaled values (e.g., travel time) that represent the real world as these values are multiplied in order to derive shortest paths. Consequently, using arbitrary values that are not ratio-scaled results in meaningless measurements (Medrano, 2021).



Figure 2.4. Conceptual diagram of the "zigzag" problem, taken from Tomlin (2010, p. 1,396). The white dashed lines represent radial propagation (or true distance) whilst the black dashed line illustrate the error in distance estimates caused by octangular propagation. The total error here is a 3.81% overestimate of cost.

In most raster cost-distance algorithms, movement is constricted to occur into any one of the eight adjacent cells through either horizontal, vertical, or diagonal movement (Tomlin, 2010). Due to the directional limitation imposed, propagation is octangular and paths created generate unintentional anisotropic measurements, unless they are completely straight in one of the eight directions (Tomlin, 2010). These anisotropic measurements are caused by the 45° movements that occur between cells where propagation would ideally be radial (Tomlin, 2010; Figure 2.4). This geometrically distorts paths and imparts an elongation error on measurements of distance, leading to overestimations of travel costs by as much as 8.24% if measured between octangular corners (Goodchild, 1977; Tomlin, 2010; Medrano, 2021). Increasing cell resolution is relatively ineffective for this problem, although highly heterogeneous surfaces are affected less due to the occurrence of true anisotropic movements (Tomlin, 2010). Instead, the addition of arcs that connect non-adjacent cells allows propagation into 16 cells rather than 8, which produces a result closer to true radial

propagation (Figure 2.5; Tomlin, 2010; Medrano, 2021). More arcs can be added to permit propagation into greater numbers of cells to further reduce geometric distortion, but doing so increases computational processing times (Medrano, 2021); Huber and Church (1985) found that 16-cell propagation was most optimal in reducing elongation errors relative to its processing time.



Figure 2.5. A comparison of the differences between 8-cell and 16-cell propagation. In (a), moves can only be made into directly adjacent cells in either the orthogonal or diagonal directions. This results in significant deviations away from true radial distance (black dotted line). In (b), *"knight's move"* can be made into cells that are not directly adjacent, but are within two cells horizontal and one cell vertical (or vice versa) distance; the cost in non-adjacent cells is the measurement resulting from the connecting arc (black arrow). As a result of the additional cell movement potential, unintentional anisotropic variations in grid paths are reduced, minimising travel time overestimates. Consequently, 16-cell propagation is a closer representation of true radial propagation than 8-cell propagation.

A geographical access model may represent travel as unimodal (one transport mode only) or multimodal (multiple transport modes used). More data are required to create multimodal models in order to parameterise travel times to appropriately represent the realities of populations using different combinations of transport. Unimodal models are, thus, easier to create as they only require data and rules to be provided and established for one mode of transport. In low- and middle-income countries, multimodal models typically represent movement more realistically, provided the model set-up is appropriate to the study area and the data are accurate. This is because household car ownership (for example, in sub-Saharan Africa) is usually low and journeys to healthcare are typically a combination of walking to the nearest road in order to access public transport or a taxi (e.g., Rudolfson *et al.*, 2020).

2.3.1.5. Units of measure

Access models use a variety of units to represent geographical accessibility. As described earlier, gravity models and their variants typically use PPRs to convey results, whilst Cartesian measures and cost-distance algorithms represent results in units of distance, travel time, or financial cost (Penchansky and Thomas, 1981; Vadrevu and Kanjilal, 2016).

Distance is the most commonly used unit (Wong *et al.*, 2017) whilst financial cost is rarely utilised and is typically reserved for studies looking at the interrelationship between geographic and financial accessibility. In healthcare applications looking solely at potential geographic access, either distance, time, or both are acceptable to use. However, there is a stronger argument to opt for travel times as the unit of measure where possible as time often better represents a true journey traversed compared to distance alone. This is especially true for journeys over complex, difficult terrains across otherwise short distances (Vadrevu and Kanjilal, 2016). Additionally, in the health literature, time thresholds to access care are used to distinguish increased morbidity and mortality outcomes for serious conditions, such as a two-hour time limit from postpartum haemorrhage to mortality in the absence of medical intervention (World Health Organisation *et al.*, 2009). Consequently, denoting geographical accessibility results in units of time allows better interpretability in the context of health.

2.3.2. Comparison of GIS methods

2.3.2.1. Appropriateness of Euclidean distance measures

There remains long-running, ongoing debate surrounding the usage of Euclidean distance measures and whether they are a trustworthy proxy for real travel distance (Målqvist *et al.*, 2010;

Chapter 2

Literature review

Gething *et al.*, 2012; Salonen *et al.*, 2012; Nesbitt *et al.*, 2014). As Euclidean distance measures assume isotropy, they do not consider heterogeneity in surface impedance (Delameter *et al.*, 2012). Consequently, they ignore the reality of terrain and the difficulties potentially experienced in traversing it (Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a). Euclidean measures underestimate the effects of terrain in influencing distance and time to reach a healthcare facility (Figure 2.6). For example, Ihantamalala *et al.* (2020) found that Euclidean distance results consistently underestimated the recorded travel times by ~31 minutes (40.5% underestimation) when compared with a raster-based cost-distance algorithm which underestimated travel times by an absolute maximum of ~22 minutes (29.8% underestimation). As a result of its underestimation, the Euclidean approach overestimated the percentage of population with access to a healthcare facility in an hour by almost 20%.

However, Nesbitt *et al.* (2014) compared Euclidean distances to both network- and rasterbased cost-distance algorithms and reported that, whilst it comparatively underestimated travel distances, it did predict the odds of healthcare facility use. Consequently, Nesbitt *et al.* (2014) concluded that, with consideration of context appropriateness, Euclidean distance measures could be reasonably used as a proxy especially for rural low-income settings where available input data is not available or of sufficient quality, or where cost or computational restrictions prevent more sophisticated GIS techniques. Regardless, for areas where waterlogged or flooded land constitutes an important component of the topography, Euclidean distance measures are completely inappropriate (Figure 2.7). The homogeneous isotropic assumption cannot consider topological features and would route a straight-line directly through impassable water bodies. Such results would be completely implausible and misleading.

Whilst Euclidean distance measures have generally fallen out of favour in more recent studies (Delamater *et al.*, 2012), new studies are still being published where Euclidean distance is the primary or sole method for assessing geographic accessibility (e.g., Kyei *et al.*, 2012; Hanson *et al.*, 2015; Hanson *et al.*, 2017; Togawa *et al.*, 2020; McGuire *et al.*, 2021). Commonly-cited reasons justifying the usage of Euclidean distance measures are a lack of high quality data, and the cost and computational demands of more sophisticated GIS techniques. However, the strength of this reasoning has substantially diminished over the last decade due to: (1) the availability of numerous free GIS software (e.g., QGis with a user-friendly interface and as many capabilities as ESRI's ArcGIS) (Nesbitt *et al.*, 2014; dos Anjos Luis and Cabral, 2016); (2) the availability of high-resolution satellite imagery which can be used to check and correct datasets, fill-in missing data, or even create entire new topological datasets (e.g., Google Earth Pro has very-high resolution composite imagery and permits delineation of topological features) (dos Anjos Luis and Cabral, 2016; Makanga *et al.*, 2017); (3) the existence of freely-available, easy-to-operate tools that run more complex geographical accessibility analyses with

minimal user set-up required (e.g., AccessMod and Fisher and Lassa's (2017) interactive modelling tool) (Ray and Ebener, 2008; Alegana *et al.*, 2012; Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020; Rudolfson *et al.*, 2020); and (4) the increasing availability of open-access topological data (e.g., OpenStreetMap, DIVA-GIS) (Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016, Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020, Rudolfson *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 2.6. Comparison between a Euclidean approach and network-based approach for identifying variations in geographic accessibility, taken from Noor *et al.* (2006: p. 193).



Figure 2.7. Euclidean distances calculated for the Barotse Floodplain in (a) October 2017 and (b) March 2018. Due to their isotropic assumption, the resulting measurements (black dashed lines) are the same in both months as the Euclidean distance paths generated have ignored the roads, waterbodies, and any floodwaters present.

2.3.2.2. Vector- or raster-based models?

There remains discussion in the health literature about whether vector-based or rastermodels are more appropriate for measuring geographical accessibility (Delamater *et al.*, 2012). Principally, neither is universally better than the other approach. Both raster- and vector-based models operate using the same assumption that the most optimal route is the path of least resistance. The choice of which approach to use is a decision that needs to be made for each independent study. It depends upon the mode(s) of transport being assessed (e.g., mechanised or non-mechanised transport), the characteristics of the study area (e.g., topography), and data availability and quality. All variables pertaining to the study area must be considered with regards to the advantages and limitations of the vector- and raster-based approaches (Nesbitt *et al.*, 2014).

In low- and middle-income countries, raster-based models are commonly applied because they are preferable for areas where walking is the most common mode of transport and, unlike in vector-based models where movement is bound to edges, movement can occur anywhere (Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Delamater *et al.*, 2012; Neutens, 2015). Consequently, raster-based models better represent the ability of a person to walk off-road to their destination. In urban areas or high-income

countries where car ownership is widespread, vector-based models provide the most accurate travel times and simulation of car journeys which are bound to the road network. A raster-based approach is as geographically appropriate as a vector-based approach for analysing geographical accessibility; exactly mimicking real-world geography of roads is not a necessity for accurate, reliable results provided impedance is adequately accounted for (Heywood *et al.*, 2011; Mulrooney *et al.*, 2017).

2.3.2.3. Unimodal or multimodal cost-distance algorithms?

Decisions on whether to operate a unimodal or multimodal model require critical consideration of the data requirements, advantages, and limitations of each model type in specific relation to the study area. A multimodal model may theoretically produce results that are more representative of true journeys undertaken in a rural, low-income area. However, if the data used are inadequate or unreliable, the results will be subject to significant uncertainty. Accurate data on travel times for all modelled transport modes are needed to calibrate journey times in a model. Additional data for multimodal models is needed on typical journeys the population take, what percentage of the population travel in the way the model suggests, and what delays are experienced when switching between transport types (e.g., waiting times for public transport). These data are typically obtained through surveys which are time- and resource-intensive (e.g., Gething *et al.*, 2012; Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020). Consequently, a multimodal model is not inherently superior to a unimodal model if the additional data required are not available or of the quality needed.

2.3.2.4. Criticisms of cost-distance algorithms

Some authors (e.g., Geurs and van Wee, 2004) categorise cost-distance algorithms as simple approaches due to their inability to consider supply and demand and competition effects like advanced gravity models. Cost-distance algorithms also cannot account for the personal preferences of populations, including the social factors and perceptions of healthcare that can encourage populations to either ignore healthcare or to seek it beyond their nearest facility. However, in data-limited regions, cost-distance algorithms are usually the most complex models that could be feasibly operated (Nesbitt *et al.*, 2014). Arguably cost-distance algorithms are excellent for low-income and middle-income countries as: (1) their data requirements are minimal relative to their research power; (2) competition is normally not as influential due to fewer services being present (Neutens, 2015); and (3) the model user can control the complexity of the model by varying the inputs, parameters, and modes of transport used to create the impedance surface.

2.4. Incorporation of flooding and precipitation

This section explains flood hazard experienced when walking or driving, and reviews existing attempts to incorporate flooding and precipitation into transport models. Sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.2 first review the literature on human instability and vehicular instability, which underpins the use and choice of stability criteria in the new network- and raster-based models. Section 2.5 then explicitly summarises methodologies from studies situated in high-and low-income countries which have incorporated flooding and precipitation, and critically reviews the variation in approaches from simple to most complex.

2.4.1. Human instability

When walking through floodwaters, the human body is subject to five key forces acting upon it vertically (gravitational force, buoyancy force, and the ground's normal reaction force) and horizontally (drag force of floodwaters, and the frictional force between a person's feet and the ground) (Abt et al., 1989; Xia et al., 2014a). Human instability occurs when the balance of forces shifts so that the hydrodynamic forces of floodwaters overwhelm the ability of a person to stand upright. There are two main mechanisms of human instability: toppling (moment) and sliding (frictional) instability (Figure 2.8; Keller and Mitsch 1993; Jonkman and Penning-Rowsell, 2008; Cox et al., 2010; Chanson et al., 2014; Xia et al., 2014a; Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016a; Shu et al., 2016a). Toppling occurs where the moment drag force of floodwaters exceeds the moment force of a person's effective mass (Abt et al., 1989; Chanson et al., 2014; Xia et al., 2014a; Shu et al., 2016a). Sliding occurs when the drag force of floodwaters exceeds the frictional resistance between a person's feet and the ground (Nanía, 1999; Chanson et al., 2014; Xia et al., 2014a; Shu et al., 2016a). Toppling is most common in deep floodwaters with lower velocities, whilst sliding is more common in shallow waters with high velocities such as urban flash floods (Chanson et al., 2014; Shu et al., 2016a). There is a third, less common hydrostatic mechanism known as floating where if water depths exceed a person's height, toppling and sliding no longer apply (Jonkman and Penning-Rowsell, 2008).

The risk of instability for a person in floodwaters changes over space and time, reflective of changes in the hydrodynamic properties of floodwaters as well as topographical changes underfoot (Xia *et al.*, 2014a; Xia *et al.*, 2014b). Floodwater depth (*h*) and velocity (*v*) are the key hydraulic properties commonly considered when investigating human instability (Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2016a), but fluctuations in water depth and velocity in addition to flow turbulence are also
influential hazards (Chanson *et al.*, 2014). Non-hydraulic factors also influence stability including: the temperature and visibility of water; any debris present in the water or on the ground; the surface material, its frictional resistance, and slope; weather and lighting; and a complex variety of human characteristics such as height and weight, age, disabilities and health, clothing, additional weight carried, previous experience in floodwaters, and emotions (Foster and Cox, 1973; Karvonen *et al.*, 2000; Xia *et al.*, 2014a; Xia *et al.*, 2014b; Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2016a; Arrighi *et al.*, 2017; Bignami *et al.*, 2019; Chen *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 2.8. Sketch of sliding and toppling (tumbling) instability. *d* represents flow depth (m), V_x represents a depth-averaged velocity (m s⁻¹), *H* represents human height (m), and O represents forces acting at the bottom of the body. Source: Chanson *et al.* (2014: p. 3).

Numerous studies have investigated human instability from toppling and sliding to define stability criterion (e.g., Cox *et al.*, 2010; Chanson *et al.*, 2014; Milanesi *et al.*, 2015). Stability criteria (*hv_c*) are the product of floodwater depth and velocity that causes instability (Jonkman and Penning-Rowsell 2008). Xia *et al.* (2014a) classifies these studies and their stability criteria into two groups: (1) regression relationships created from subjecting real humans (or a representative monolith) to a variety of flows in flume experiments (e.g., Abt *et al.*, 1989; Karvonen *et al.*, 2000; Figure 2.9), and (2) empirical or theoretical formulae from mechanics-based analyses with experimental data (Keller and Mitsch, 1993; Lind *et al.*, 2004; Jonkman and Penning-Roswell, 2008).



Figure 2.9. Photographs of a human subject in a flume tank subject to floodwaters with a depth of 1.07 m and a velocity of 1.0 m s⁻¹. The human subject stands on a steel grate wearing safety clothing and equipment and has clear visibility in and out of water, all of which has the potential to influence their behaviour in simulated floodwaters relative to reality. Source: Karvonen *et al.* (2000: p. 49).

In (1) the experimental regression approach, the product of water depth and velocity that led to the instability of a person is related to the product of that person's height and weight. An equation describing the linear regression of all the experimental data is then created which estimates *hv_c* as a function of effective mass (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). The regression relationships produced are highly dependent on a study's test subjects and conditions in the flume (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). Relationships produced for monoliths will typically have lower stability criteria as real humans are able to adjust their stances relative to floodwater flow in order to become more stable (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). Conditions in flumes are also usually optimum (for example, good visibility and lighting, and warm water temperatures) which Xia *et al.*, (2014a) states can cause the criteria to be optimistic. Karvonen *et al.* (2000) pioneered good, normal, and bad equation variants that attempted to account indirectly for the impact of these non-measured conditions on stability (Figure 2.10). Finally, human test subjects in a flume are repeatedly exposed to different variations of flows over numerous tests, which may bias criteria towards optimistic values as participants learn to maintain stability (Xia *et al.*, 2014a; Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2016a).



Figure 2.10. Karvonen *et al.* (2000)'s equations describing stability criteria in different conditions, plotted against experimental data of participants' loss of stability obtained from both their study (RESCDAM) and Abt *et al.* (1989). Taken from Karvonen *et al.* (2000: p. 52).

In (2), formulae derived from mechanics-based analyses are created that solely relate stability to hydrodynamic variables, ignoring non-hydraulic factors such as human height and weight (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). These formulae heavily simplify human bodies and flow conditions; human bodies are represented as cylinders, and uniform velocity profiles are typically assumed (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). The formulae observe the forces acting on a representative cylinder that cause toppling or sliding instability (Xia *et al.*, 2014a), and are sensitive to friction and drag coefficients (Xia *et al.*, 2014a). In addition to these limitations, buoyancy force is also neglected which makes criteria recommended by these formulae unsuitable for precisely assessing instability in floodwaters. Rather, they are most suitable for use in initial assessments of hazard (Xia *et al.*, 2014a).

In reality, hv_c values differ depending on the characteristics of floods; for example, urban flash floods with shallow water depths and high velocities have a different hvc relative to floodplain floods, which have higher water depths, low or negligible velocities, and persist for longer durations. Additionally in riverine flood plains, depending on a singular hv_c to determine flood hazard may be inappropriate due to these characteristics. Sole consideration of the depth-velocity product (hv) may underestimate true flood hazard; the combination of a large water depth with a negligible velocity produces a low hv below the hv_c which fails to recognise that deep flows independently are hazardous (Quirogaa et al., 2016). Consequently, Témez (1992) proposed additional thresholds in addition to hv_c based upon floodplains with low floodwater velocities (Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016a; Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016b). Témez (1992) recommended an absolute maximum depth (H_{max}) of 1 m, an absolute maximum velocity (V_{max}) of 1 m s⁻¹ in addition to a hv_c of 0.5 m² s⁻¹ which is a commonly recommended and used threshold (Abt et al., 1989; Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016a). Whilst Témez (1992)'s stability criterion values have been criticised as excessively restrictive in studies observing urban floodwater hazards where measured stability consistently exceeds these criterion (Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016a; Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016b), the values are considered reasonable in floodplains (Martínez-Gomariz et al., 2016a).

2.4.2. Vehicular instability

A vehicle in floodwaters is subject to a gravitational force, a frictional force between its tyres and the road surface, and a lift, drag, and buoyancy force from floodwaters (Xia *et al.*, 2014c; Xia *et al.*, 2011a; Xia *et al.*, 2011b; Figure 2.11). As with humans, vehicles in floodwaters experience instability when the hydrodynamic forces exceed a stability threshold (Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2018). Assessing vehicular instability is simpler than human instability as there are fewer non-hydraulic variables to consider (i.e., ability to adapt does not apply), but still remains challenging, particularly for instability in moving vehicles. Consequently, there remains substantial disagreement about critical combinations of depth and velocity (Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2018). Studies examining floodwater impacts on vehicles have been limited (Xia *et al.*, 2011b; Bignami *et al.*, 2019b) and have primarily investigated incipient velocities (i.e., the value of velocity required to cause instability) of idealised vehicles (stationary and water-tight) on flat surfaces in flumes, with constant drag and friction coefficients applied (Shu *et al.*, 2011; Xia *et al.*, 2011b; Xia *et al.*, 2014c; Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2018).

Chapter 2



Figure 2.11. Forces acting upon a vehicle partially-submerged in floodwaters. F_D represents drag force, F_N represents the normal reaction force from the ground, F_R represents a frictional force between the car's tyres and the ground, and F_G represents a combination of the gravitational force and buoyancy force. *y* is floodwater depth (m), and *u* is floodwater velocity (m s⁻¹). Source: Shu *et al.* (2011: p. 710).

It is widely acknowledged that floodwater depth and velocity are the primary hydrodynamic variables determining stability for a vehicle (Mens *et al.*, 2008; Teo *et al.*, 2013). Combinations of both shallow water depths and high velocities, and high water depths with low velocities are hazardous (Teo *et al.*, 2012). Experimental studies have shown that where floodwaters are below a model vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwater depths decrease (Mens *et al.*, 2008; Teo *et al.*, 2012; Xia *et al.*, 2014c). In contrast, if floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase as floodwaters are above a vehicle's height, incipient velocities increase with increases in floodwater depths (Mens *et al.*, 2008; Teo *et al.*, 2012; Xia *et al.*, 2014c). However new hydrodynamic and chassis designs of vehicles increase vehicular buoyancy, so new studies are needed on modes of vehicular instability (Shand *et al.*, 2010). Slope also modifies incipient velocities which are reduced on steeper gradients (Teo *et al.*, 2012; Xia *et al.*, 2014c).

Instability criteria are different for every vehicle and vary spatio-temporally with floodwaters, but can be summarised as the combination of a vehicle's characteristics and the forces acting upon it (Wright *et al.*, 2010). A vehicle's height, weight, chassis height, aerodynamics, sealing capacity, and tyre condition (age, tread depth, pressure) influence its susceptibility to floodwaters forces (Xia *et al.*, 2011b; Teo *et al.*, 2012). For example, Teo *et al.* (2012) considers chassis height to be a particularly key variable due to increased buoyancy (and thus instability) when water depths reach a vehicle's chassis. Additionally, Teo *et al.*, (2012) and Xia *et al.* (2014c) showed that the same vehicle can

experience different thresholds of incipient velocity based upon their orientation relative to oncoming flow; vehicles positioned perpendicular to oncoming flow experienced greater drag forces acting on the increased surface area, thus lower incipient velocities were needed to cause instability. Regardless of this complexity, experimental studies at most have calculated incipient velocities for a maximum of three vehicle models (facing oncoming flow) representative of a small (or compact) passenger vehicle, a large passenger vehicle, and a four-wheeled drive (e.g., Shand *et al.*, 2010). Existing criteria are consequently unsuitable for development into generalised methodologies for calculating instability of any vehicle with different characteristics (Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2018). However, in their comprehensive review on vehicular instability, Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2010) were the most suitable and best available reference on the basis that nearly all newly-published experimental data points on instability continued to fall outside of the boundaries of the stability criteria proposed (Figure 2.12).



Figure 2.12. The Australian Runoff and Rainfall (AR&R) stability criteria compared against all theoretical and experimental data independently generated since its publication. The points plotted refer to measured instability for different types of vehicles. No instability data fall below the criterion for large four-wheeled drive (4WD) vehicles or small passenger vehicles. Only two instability data from Toda *et al.* (2013) and Oshikawa *et al.* (2011) fall below the criterion for large passenger vehicles. Source: Martínez-Gomariz *et al.* (2018: p. 821).

2.5. Research gaps

Few studies have attempted to model floodwater impacts on healthcare access in low-income countries, causing research gaps to exist on how intermediate changes in floodwaters affect access, and how to incorporate floods into geographic access models. Previously, limited computational power and inadequate data prevented modelling flood impacts on access at sufficient temporal and spatial resolution. These limitations have since sufficiently resolved and novel studies have pioneered approaches for representing flood hazard. However, these are limited to network-based approaches applicable only to studying the impacts of short-duration, urban floods on car usage in high-income countries with predominantly paved infrastructure. An approach is needed that is suitable to the assumptions of floods in low-income regions with predominantly informal, unpaved rural roads. A literature review was conducted through which two broad research gaps were identified. Section 2.5.1 discusses the research gap in accounting for floodwaters in low-income regions, and Section 2.5.2 explores the research gap in using hydrodynamic model outputs to represent floods in geographic access models.

2.5.1. Accounting for floodwaters in low-income regions

Due to the sheer complexity of variables involved and the spatio-temporal dynamic nature of floodwaters, accounting for the effects of floodwaters on access has been challenging. Few studies (Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Makanga *et al.*, 2017; Ihantamalala *et al.*, 2020) have considered the impact of precipitation and/or flooding on geographical access in low-income countries, despite widespread acknowledgement in the literature that significant drops in accessibility occur between the dry and wet season (e.g., Schatz, 2008; Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011a; Vora *et al.*, 2015; Espinet Alegre *et al.*, 2020; Stone *et al.*, 2020). A failure to account for the impacts of precipitation and flooding on access leads to modelled scenarios that overestimate true geographical accessibility, resulting in overly-optimistic estimates. These "dry season" scenarios have limited value in assessing geographic access as they are static (i.e., the model's impedances do not change over space or time), cannot detect seasonal vulnerabilities in access and thus cannot represent access for more than a limited duration of a hypothesised typical year. Critically, these studies offer insubstantial information that could be of use or incorporated into health policy planning (Makanga *et al.*, 2017).

Of the few studies to consider precipitation and/or flooding, most consider their study areas to be temporally and spatially static. Blanford *et al.* (2012) attempted to represent differences in access caused by seasonal effects in Niger, but were limited in creating static maps of "dry" and "wet" season access. In the wet season scenario, the differences compared to the dry season scenario purely

arose because Blanford *et al.* (2012) uniformly reduced travel times across the entire of Niger, and assumed documented seasonal waterbodies were impassable in the wet (but not the dry) season. There was no consideration of real-world data and no incorporation of precipitation or flooding variables to determine where impacts were occurring.

Makanga *et al.* (2017) vastly improved upon previous research by explicitly incorporating empirical records of precipitation and flood extent into impedance surfaces for their region of interest in south Mozambique. They modelled monthly seasonal variations in access using different transport options across a 17-month timespan between March 2013 and September 2014. Critically, Makanga *et al.* (2017) demonstrated that access is not well-represented by two static scenarios of "dry" and "wet" season access, but that it fluctuates monthly. However, Makanga *et al.* (2017) used remotely-sensed flood extents (taken from the DFO Flood Observatory) and classified any land intersecting flood extent as completely impassable. This basic classification is in contrast to their approach with the precipitation data where they reduced travel times based upon precipitation depth (mm) thresholds. Flood extent data is unable to recognise water depth, and thus it is not possible to differentiate between floodwaters of 1 cm depth, and those of 1 m depth (Tsang and Scott, 2020). As a consequence, there remains limited understanding of how floodwater depth and velocity interact over space and time to determine access.

Relying on flood extent alone may be appropriate for considering spatio-temporal changes in access at the country-level. However, to date no studies have considered whether smaller areal units require higher-resolution representations of floodwater variables to adequately model flood impacts on access. There remains no geospatial model adapted for use in low-income/data-limited regions that is able to incorporate quantitative floodwater measurements. This is a critical shortcoming as government officials require information on healthcare access for specific populations they have already identified as underutilising healthcare, such as communities living on large African floodplains.

2.5.2. Use of hydrodynamic model outputs

In both vector- and raster-based access models those who consider floodwater impacts consider flood extent alone (e.g., Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Reuben and Lowry, 2016; Makanga *et al.*, 2017; Hierink *et al.*, 2020). Hydrodynamic models have been used before as a source of data on floodwater variables, but their usage has been restricted to network analysis for smaller areal units (e.g., towns or cities) in high-income regions (Albano *et al.*, 2014; Yin *et al.*, 2016; Coles *et al.*, 2017; Green et al., 2017). In these studies, floodwater depths obtained from hydrodynamic modelling are incorporated into the network analysis; velocity outputs have been seldom used in network analysis studies due to

difficulties in incorporating depth-velocity products whilst the existing knowledge (Section 2.5.3) on appropriate values remains uncertain. To date, no study has used hydrodynamic model outputs in a raster cost-distance access model operated for a low-income region.

The simplest use of a hydrodynamic model has been to use the floodwater depth outputs to generate polygons representative of an area of impassable floodwaters (Coles *et al.,* 2017; Green *et al.,* 2017). To do this, a water depth threshold is defined and any floodwaters exceeding the threshold are retained in the model as impassable polygons. The water depth threshold is most commonly set as between 0.25 and 0.3 m based on air inlets of small passenger vehicles (Yin *et al.,* 2016; Coles *et al.,* 2017; Yu *et al.,* 2020); however, a threshold of 0.5 or 0.6 m may be used when modelling emergency vehicles (Kramer *et al.,* 2016; Yin *et al.,* 2017). These thresholds can also be defined from criteria in the vehicular instability literature.

As discussed previously in relation to flood extents, any roads intersecting a floodwater polygon are assumed inaccessible. Roads are assumed either completely inaccessible or completely accessible at ordinary speeds. This binary representation has been criticised as unrealistic (Pregnolato *et al.*, 2017; Tsang and Scott, 2020). The presence of floodwaters below a threshold will still reduce safe travel speeds along an otherwise open road. As a result, Pregnolato *et al.* (2017) created a depth-disruption function to relate floodwater depths to safe travel speeds based on available data from observational, experimental, and modelling studies in the literature. This depth-disruption function or an adaptation of it has been used in subsequent studies coupling flood models with traffic models (e.g., Kasmalkar *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2020).

The most advanced use of hydrodynamic model outputs in a network access model was Pyatkova *et al.* (2019) who coupled an InfoWorks 1D-2D model with a traffic supply-and-demand model to assess spatio-temporal variations in network access every ten minutes during a flood event in Marbella, Spain. Pyatkova *et al.*, (2019) defined a water depth threshold of 0.3 m for road closure and defined all roads intersecting floodwaters (of depths between 0.1 to 0.3 m) a safe travel speed of 20 km h⁻¹. Pregnolato *et al.* (2019)'s depth-disruption function was not used by Pyatkova *et al.*, (2019) due to the function not being validated by measured data. The study of Pyatkova *et al.* (2019) was novel in dynamically integrating spatio-temporal changes in floodwaters with the network, rather than relying on static flood scenarios as in previous research. Consequently, Pyatkova *et al.* (2019) were able to assess the duration of flood impacts on the network, calculating the occurrence and persistence of road closure over the duration of the >3 hour flood event.

As demonstrated by Pyatkova *et al.* (2019), the incorporation of flood variables from a hydrodynamic model greatly improved research power by capturing disruption patterns, identifying

33

tipping points in floods impacts on the network, and revealing the roads most vulnerable to impact. Evans *et al.* (2020) were even able to consider the implications on future network resilience resulting from climate change by modelling predicted floods under different climate change scenarios. However, these approaches are not directly and appropriately applicable to low-income regions. These studies all assume cars as the predominant mode of transport, which is not necessarily an appropriate assumption in low-income regions where household car ownership may be substantially lower. Additionally, the study areas are urban with paved roads and flood characteristics representative of flash floods persisting for shorter durations and thus the modelling is specific to these characteristics and cannot be directly applied to floodplain floods in rural areas. Finally, the methodologies used are complex with high data requirements, and data constraints are a key reason behind the operation of cost-distance algorithms in low-income regions. As a result, there is a need to adapt existing models commonly-used in low-income regions so that they can capture the influence of floodwater variables as they impact access over space and time whilst otherwise maintaining low data requirements and suitable assumptions on study area characteristics.

2.6. Chapter summary

Geographic access is an important component in the ability of populations to receive healthcare. GIS can be used to model geographic access, and there are numerous specific methods available. The methods used in low-income countries tend to be simpler due to data constraints and different assumptions than those in high-income regions. Whilst precipitation and flooding have been recognised as severely impacting access in countries with seasonal climates, few have modelled their effects on potential geographic access. Failing to model changes in access under floods and considering access to be temporally static limits the ability of health policy planners to identify interventions. Floodwaters differ across space and time, and their impacts on vehicular and human instability can be represented through the use of instability criteria as derived from experimental studies. Floodwater depth and velocity can be generated using hydrodynamic models, to provide inputs by which flood hazard can be assessed throughout a flood. Traffic models operated in a few novel studies have used hydrodynamic outputs and have demonstrated greater research power in identifying spatio-temporal vulnerabilities in access. However, these models are unsuitable for operation in low-income regions where data availability is limited, and methodological assumptions are not appropriate. As a result, there is a need to adapt existing vector- and raster-based methodologies used in data-limited regions so that floodwater variables can be incorporated quantitatively. This study proposes the framework by which to achieve these new geospatial models so that the spatio-temporally variable impacts of floods on access to healthcare can be assessed for low-income countries.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS: A new geographical access framework that models floodwater impacts

This chapter focuses on the development of the vector- and raster-based geospatial models that are able to incorporate floodwater variables into their predictions of geographical accessibility. Section 3.1 first introduces the Barotse Floodplain field site that will be used to demonstrate the method which is generalisable to regions with similar flood and environmental characteristics, such as other floodplains. Section 3.2 then describes all the data that were created or acquired in order to operate the models for the Barotse Floodplain case study. Sections 3.3 and 3.4 explicitly explain the general procedure involved in the new approaches, including the outputs that are derived. Finally, Section 3.5 states how the new approach was applied to the Barotse Floodplain demonstration site, including the performance of a sensitivity analysis to derive approach parameter values and the access scenarios modelled.

3.1. The Barotse Floodplain

3.1.1. Floodplain characteristics

The Barotse Floodplain is located within the Upper Zambezi valley, Zambia (Figure 3.1). It is a large African floodplain, extending approximately 160 km in length and 30 km in width, reaching ~60 km wide around Mongu (Pollard and Cousins, 2008; Zimba *et al.*, 2018). The floodplain is extremely flat with elevation differences of ~5 m between the east and west escarpments, and ~30 m from north to south; this results in generally slow-moving floodwaters. The floodplain begins at Lukulu where the Kabompo River joins the Zambezi at an elevation of 1192 m above sea level (a.s.l.) and ends in the south at Senanga at an elevation of ~900 m a.s.l. (Zimba *et al.*, 2018). In total, the floodplain covers 5,500 km² of land, although total inundated area can be as great as ~10,750 km² if tributary floodplains (such as the Luena Flats) are included (Zimba *et al.*, 2018; Hardy *et al.*, 2019; Willis *et al.*, *in press*).



Figure 3.1. Map of the Barotse Floodplain and its major waterbodies, and the floodplain's location within Zambia.

The floodplain has formed due to basalt that has resisted downcutting below Senanga at Ngonye Falls. The resistant basalt has created a narrow valley which forces floodwaters to form behind it when the Zambezi experiences peak discharge (Zimba *et al.*, 2018; Hardy *et al.*, 2019). The Upper Zambezi's discharge exhibits a strongly seasonal pattern, reflective of the high inter-annual variability in precipitation caused by the movements of the Inter Tropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) (Beilfuss, 2012; Hardy *et al.*, 2019). Average annual evapotranspiration is ~1560 mm, and average annual precipitation is ~830 mm; however, floodplain inundation is predominantly determined by rainfall in the upper catchments where the average annual precipitation is ~1400 mm (Beilfuss 2012; Cai *et al.*, 2017; Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). The floodplain has low runoff efficiency, low drainage density, and high aridity, which attenuates flows downstream causing the annual persistence of floodwaters between February and June (Beilfuss, 2012; Cohen Liechti *et al.*, 2014a; Cohen Liechti *et al.*, 2014b; Kling *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 3.2. Hydrographs of the Zambezi River's discharge in the hydrological years of (a) 2009 and (b) 2018 as recorded by the Lukulu river gauge. Source: Willis *et al.,* (*in press*).

Inundation extent remains strongly correlated with channel discharge ($R^2 = 0.89$) as no dams have been constructed above the floodplain (Zimba *et al.*, 2018; Figure 3.2). Floodwaters begin to rise in December, and there is a delay of approximately two months between peak rainfall in the upstream catchment and peak inundation (Cai *et al.*, 2017). The floodwaters extend annually to the floodplain escarpment, exhibit low velocities, and are mostly vegetated rather than open water (Hardy *et al.*,

2019). The annual floods improve upon the otherwise low fertility of the aeolian-transported Kalahari sands by interspersing them with alluvium (Pollard and Cousins, 2008; Cai *et al.*, 2017; Estrada-Carmona *et al.*, 2020). There is little forest on the floodplain and vegetation is mostly composed of grassland species (Mwanangombe, 2010; Hardy *et al.*, 2020).

3.1.2. Sociocultural characteristics

The Barotse Floodplain is inhabited by the native Lozi people who depend on the floodplain for their livelihoods (Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). The population of the Barotse Floodplain has seldom been investigated and there are large discrepancies between the few available estimates. A population of ~250,000 has been commonly cited (e.g., Rajaratnam *et al.*, 2015); however, Cai *et al.* (2017) doubted the validity of this figure and estimated a population closer to ~33,000 based upon counting houses observed in satellite imagery. Consequently, there is some uncertainty regarding the number of people living on the floodplain. This study estimates the population of the Barotse Floodplain to be ~44,600 using the High Resolution Settlement Layer (HRSL) of population density (see Section 3.2.2); this figure represents an estimate for 2021, using the values from the most recent Zambian census in 2010 adjusted with UN estimates of population growth at national level.

The Lozi exhibit transhumance which further complicates obtaining accurate population estimates for the floodplain; at the peak of the floods, the Lozi move to drier, higher ground until the floodwaters have receded. This seasonal movement is dictated by the Barotse Royal Establishment (BRE) – the traditional governance of the floodplain – on behalf of the *Litunga* (the king of Barotseland). Each year, the BRE announce a date for the *Kuomboka*, a historical festival where the Lozi vacate the floodplain for higher grounds (Flint, 2006). Kuomboka typically occurs in either late March or early April, and it is forbidden in Lozi law for the common people to leave before the Litunga (Flint, 2006; Mwanangombe, 2010). During Kuomboka, the Litunga embarks onto the water in a barge paddled by a hundred men, followed then by Lozi people in their dugout canoes (Figure 3.3). The Lozi return to the floodplain in a festival called *Kufuluhela* (again led by the Litunga) once floodwaters have begun to recede, normally in July or August (Flint, 2006; Mwanangombe, 2010).

Settlements are scattered across the floodplain; villages are built on manmade mounds of dirt (locally known as *suubas*) to prevent them being inundated (Mwanangombe, 2010; Cai *et al.*, 2017; Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). Traditional sources of income and food are livestock rearing, recession farming, fishing, and general usage of available floodplain resources (Cai *et al.*, 2017; Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). The Lozi rely on their traditional knowledge of the floodplain to assist them with these activities.

39



Figure 3.3. A photograph taken during Kuomboka, showing the Litunga's state barge (called Nalikwanda) being paddled whilst the Lozi people follow in their dugout canoes. Image by Brugger (2008).

3.1.3. Canal network

There are over 3,000 canals on the Barotse Floodplain which form a critical network due to their high cultural and use value (Cai *et al.*, 2017; Estrada-Carmona *et al.*, 2020). Traditionally, canals have a wide range of uses from transportation to farmland drainage and there are no restrictions on who can use them. Prior to colonialism and during Barotseland's time as a British protectorate, the BRE were solely responsible for delegating responsibility for the maintenance of the canals (World Bank, 2013). The canals act as a hydraulic extension on the floodplain and require continuous maintenance after flood recession to remove sediments, clear blockages, and reshape sections modified by geomorphic processes (Shastry *et al.*, 2020). Local governance from the BRE was effective in completing these maintenance tasks and keeping the canals in an operable state. However, since Zambian independence and the incorporation of the Barotse Floodplain as part of Western Province, authority over the canals has shifted to national government organisations. Chikozho and Mapedza

(2017) proposed that this change in governance is the primary reason why canals on the floodplain are now inoperable due to excess sedimentation and blockages. Whilst a World Bank project restored the major canals (Muoyowamo, Musiamo, Lubitamei, Fisheries, and N'gobala) in 2013/14, most canals that are important to local livelihoods remain in disrepair (World Bank, 2013; BRLi and NIRAS, 2014).

3.1.4. Transportation

Land transport on the floodplain is arduous. Little economic development and road building took place during the colonial period, and the road network on the floodplain remains disconnected, informal, and unmapped. The majority of roads are unpaved, in poor conditions, and only accessible by four-wheeled drive vehicles (BRLI and NIRAS, 2014). During the dry season, movement is either on foot or by slow vehicles; journeys can easily take an entire day to complete (Flint, 2006). Water transport by boat or canoe is also used where possible using the canal network (Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). During the wet season, fluvial transport is usually the only reasonable mode of transport (Flint, 2006; Chikozho and Mapedza, 2017). Whilst both dugout canoes and oxen-carts are evidently influential local modes of transport, neither were modelled in this study due to a lack of data to characterise their usage, and a lack of suitable methods for incorporating boats into access models.

The Barotse Floodplain Causeway was completed in 2016, extending the Great West Road between Mongu to Kalabo. The construction of the road was a key development for the floodplain as previously no road connected between the two banks of the floodplain, and access to Kalabo was consequently very difficult.

3.1.5. Health challenges

The key health concerns on the floodplain relate to Zambia's efforts to reduce maternal mortality and HIV incidence. In 2018, the maternal mortality ratio (MMR) for Zambia was estimated to be 252 per 100,000 live births averaged over data from the preceding seven years (ZSA, MoH, and ICF, 2019). This ratio continues to exceed the Millennium Development Goal Target of 162.3 per 100,000 live births by 2015, and remains above the 2021 target set by Zambia itself to reduce MMR to 100 deaths per 100,000 live births (MoH, 2016). In previous studies, Western Province has had the highest MMR compared to any other province in Zambia (MCD and MoH, 2013; Singini, 2015) and increasing the number of births at facilities is encouraged as a mitigation strategy. Western Province also has one of the highest rates of HIV incidence in Zambia, with approximately 15% of the population estimated to be afflicted (Rajartnam *et al.*, 2015).

Efforts to reduce both maternal mortality and HIV incidence on the Barotse Floodplain are threatened by the difficulties experienced by floodplain populations in accessing healthcare. Most healthcare facilities are located on the floodplain escarpment, forcing populations to travel substantial distances with little adequate transport infrastructure (BRLi and NIRAS, 2014). For the few facilities located on the floodplain itself, there are difficulties in maintaining the medical supply chain due to the regular impassability of floods and poor network infrastructure (BRLI and NIRAS, 2014).

3.2. Description of input data

3.2.1. Healthcare facilities

Geolocation information on the operational healthcare facilities on or surrounding the Barotse Floodplain was downloaded from the Zambia Master Health Facility List (MoH, 2019). According to the list, the data were last updated in November 2019. Only non-private, correctly geolocated facilities that were within the study area were retained. Information on facility type (Table 3.1) and maternal services provided (Table 3.2) were recorded from the 2012 List of Health Facilities in Zambia (MoH, 2012).

3.2.2. Population density

Population density data were obtained from the High Resolution Settlement Layer (HRSL), a freely-accessible gridded dataset with the highest spatial resolution currently available of 30 m (1 arcsecond). The population density data were estimated using a binary top-down modelling approach where census data were proportionally attributed to buildings identified through convolutional neural networks (CNN) operating on 0.5 m resolution DigitalGlobe satellite imagery. The HRSL contains density estimates for both the entire population and by specific demographic. The HRSL was updated in August 2021 and the data for Zambia were downloaded in August 2021.

The Lozi exhibit transhumance in response to the annual floodwave, however the HRSL data was not modified to represent this. Instead, the HRSL data was used to assume that the population was static due to difficulty in ascertaining how many of the Lozi are either present or absent on the floodplain each month. Resolving this limitation was not possible in the absence of further data to characterise the Lozi's movements (see Section 5.4.3).

Table 3.1. Information on the healthcare system surrounding the Barotse Floodplain, Zambia. Adapted from MoH (2012). Note that in the modelling, mini hospitals, first level hospitals, and second level hospitals were categorised together as "hospitals." There are also third level hospitals in Zambia, but as there are none surrounding the floodplain they are not included here.

Facility type	Description	Typical services offered	Typical catchment size
Health post	Lowest level of health care, usually positioned to serve communities that are otherwise far from the nearest health centre.	Basic first aid	1,000 to 7,000 in urban areas
			3,500 in rural areas
Health centre	Can be either rural or urban. Urban health centres serve larger numbers of the population.	First aid, delivery, preventative care (e.g., HIV counselling and testing, prevention of mother to child HIV transmission)	30,000 to 50,000 in urban areas
			10,000 in rural areas
Mini hospital	A new initiative, these act as an intermediate between health centre and hospital, providing a range of primary healthcare services like a first level hospital. Designed to alleviate burden on access to first level hospitals.	Medical, surgical, obstetric, preventative care, and diagnostics. More complicated, specific health problems are referred to the first level hospitals.	N/A
First level hospital	Hospitals serving at the district level.	Medical, surgical, obstetric, and diagnostic services. Populations are referred to first level hospitals from health centres and mini hospitals.	80,000 to 200,000
Second level hospital	Hospitals serving at the provincial level.	General surgery, paediatrics, obstetrics, gynaecology, dental, psychiatric, and intensive care services. Populations are referred to second level hospitals from first level hospitals.	200,000 to 800,000

Maternal service	Description	Supplementary notes
Delivery site	A healthcare facility able to provide a trained/skilled birth attendant to assist during labour.	
Emergency obstetric care (EmOC)	The provision of medical care able to assist with life- threatening obstetric complications such as haemorrhage, a ruptured uterus, and eclampsia.	EmOC can be either basic or comprehensive, depending on the presence of specific signal functions (Tembo <i>et al.</i> , 2017). The 2012 facility list makes no reference to signal functions, so EmOC is assumed to be at least basic for all facilities.
Maternity waiting shelter	Accommodations provided for pregnant women so that they can remain close to a delivery site in anticipation of labour.	

Table 3.2. Description of key maternal services offered by healthcare facilities in Zambia.

3.2.3. Waterbodies and floodwater variables

A polyline shapefile provided by Willis *et al.* (*in press*) outlined the positions and average widths of rivers and canals on the floodplain. A LISFLOOD-FP hydrodynamic model (Bates and De Roo, 2000) run for the Barotse Floodplain (Willis *et al., in press*) at monthly timesteps between October 2017 and October 2018 provided floodwater depth and velocity magnitude rasters with a spatial resolution of 100 m.

The flood event in 2018 was significant due to it being one of the largest experienced in recent years. Its extent and water levels have been compared to the 2009 flood event (Willis *et al., in press*) whose extent was estimated to be 35% greater than an average flood (Cai *et al.,* 2017). However, the event was neither extreme nor unusual, instead reflecting a larger-than-average but still normal fluctuation in the extent, timing, and magnitude of the annual flood wave. Consequently, whilst the use of modelled 2018 data may produce a more pessimistic representation of access during flood months than is average, any findings are still within the bounds of normality and thus relevant.

The LISFLOOD-FP model domain was set-up by Willis *et al., (in press*) to include all canals, major river channels, and river gauges, and was configured to represent the hydrological processes on the floodplain. Inflow boundary conditions were obtained from river gauges maintained by the Water Resources Management Agency (WARMA), and the model assumes flows over the floodplain are mostly subcritical and low velocity (Willis *et al., in press*). A high-resolution TanDEM-X1 digital elevation model (DEM) obtained for 2016 (Wessel *et al., 2018*) with a spatial resolution of ~12 m and a vertical accuracy rating on the floodplain of ~2 m (Böer *et al., 2008*) was resampled to 100 m and used as the terrain data (Willis *et al., in press*). The model was calibrated using gauge data and remotely-sensed flood extents from Landsat (30 m spatial resolution), and a variance-based sensitivity analysis related the input parameters to the model results (Willis *et al., in press*). The calibrated model was then used to provide the floodplain (Willis *et al. in press*). Willis *et al., in press*) showed the model to perform best during the flood peak in 2018 (goodness of fit, F² = 0.62) with lower performance in intermediate flood stages (F² = 0.10). For further details on the hydrodynamic model, see Willis *et al. (in press*).

3.2.4. Road network

3.2.4.1. Delineation

No complete network dataset was available for the Barotse Floodplain. Remotely-sensed image classification of roads was also not possible due to the spatial resolutions of freely-available satellite imagery being too coarse and thus unsuitable for detecting community-level tracks that predominate the floodplain. Google Earth and Microsoft Bing Maps composite imagery are both very high resolution (<5 m), were collated recently, and have excellent coverage of southern Africa (Lesiv *et al.*, 2018). Neither can be used for remotely-sensed image classifications as they only contain data of the visible spectrum and original band numbers have been modified (Hu *et al.*, 2013; Malarvizhi *et al.*, 2016; Fatemi and Gholinejad, 2019). However, the use of composite satellite imagery to manually delineate infrastructure has been used before successfully, including for the Barotse Floodplain (Cai *et al.*, 2017). Consequently, Google Earth and Microsoft Bing Maps were used to create a new, complete network dataset for the Barotse Floodplain through manual delineation of visible roads (Figure 3.4).

The majority of the delineation was completed between October 2019 and April 2020, but the study area was expanded and additional gaps in network coverage were delineated between April 2021 and June 2021. The entire dataset was then checked again in July 2021 to ensure completion and

validity before its usage. Google Earth was primarily used for delineation due to its imagery being typically more recent (Lesiv *et al.*, 2018). For the Barotse Floodplain, Microsoft Bing Maps images originated in 2014, whilst most Google Earth images were dated as 2019 or later. Microsoft Bing Maps images normally complemented interpretation, but were relied upon solely where Google Earth imagery was degraded. Google Maps and OpenStreetMap data were used to identify highways and major roads. For the few floodplain roads documented on OpenStreetMap, these were used to validate that delineation efforts were working successfully.



Figure 3.4. The roads network dataset used as inputs, as created by combining OpenStreetMap data with manually-delineated data.

A systematic approach for delineation was used which assigned an ID to each network edge based upon the following road type classifications: (1) primary road; (2) secondary road; (3) track; (4) uncertain track; (5) elevated highway; (6) bridge/water crossing. Polygons were used to enclose areas of dense track interconnectivity to speed-up delineation by assuming full road connectivity within. The

polygons were then divided into 100 m² grid tiles, converted to polylines with the track classification attribute, and merged with the network dataset. Bridge and water crossings were delineated as points which were then buffered to 100 m; any road within was assigned the attribute and considered always accessible unless the surrounding roads were flooded.

No distinction was made between paved and unpaved major roads, although tracks were always unpaved. Uncertain tracks were those where reasonable doubt prevented confident delineation, such as difficulty in differentiating tracks from canals filled with sediment which appear visually similar on images. Uncertain tracks were subject to further analysis using historical images in Google Earth Pro, where they were either retained in the dataset as tracks or removed if significant doubt persisted. The inability to extract Z-coordinates for roads prevented creating a threedimensional network beyond identifying roads that were already known to be elevated.

3.2.4.2. OpenStreetMap

OpenStreetMap contained network data for beyond the floodplain escarpment. These data were downloaded in March 2021 and gaps in coverage were manually delineated in June 2021. The data were recoded to match the classification assigned to the delineated Barotse Floodplain roads (Table 3.3). The OpenStreetMap data were then merged with the Barotse Floodplain data, and conflating roads were removed.

3.2.4.3. Speed limit classifications

Each road in the network-based model is assigned a speed limit based upon its road type classification (Table 3.4). The Road Traffic (Speed Limits) Regulations (2020) were used to assign these speed limits to network edges, assuming the limits listed for ordinary motor vehicles. Tracks assumed the unpaved (Second Schedule) speed limit regulations, whilst primary roads and highways assumed the paved (First Schedule) speed limit regulations. Minor roads were assigned a speed limit value that was the midpoint of the paved and unpaved speed limit regulations. Bridges and water crossings on the floodplain were assumed to have a reduced speed limit in absence of measured data (Table 3.4).

3.2.4.4. Validation

For network analysis, a topologically correct network that appropriately represents edge connectivity is vital (Heywood *et al.,* 2011). Consequently, an extensive validation procedure was

47

undertaken. Network completeness was ascertained by manually checking that all roads had been delineated. Topological, geometrical, and classification errors were corrected using FME Workbench 2020.2. Healthcare facilities were snapped to the nearest transport network edge if they were determined to be within proximity, and nodes were ensured to be located only at endpoints, intersections, speed limit changes, and healthcare facilities.

OpenStreetMap classification	Recode
Trunk	Primary road
Primary	Secondary road
Secondary	Secondary road
Tertiary	Secondary road
Track	Track
Residential	Track
Unclassified	Track
Service	Track
Path	Track
Footway	Removed in network model (track in walking model only)
Steps	Removed in network model (track in walking model only)

 Table 3.3.
 Reclassification of OpenStreetMap data.

Table 3.4. Speed limits assigned to roads in the network-based model.

Road classification	Speed limit (km hr ⁻¹)
Primary road	80
Secondary road	50
Track	30
Elevated highway	120
Bridge/water crossing	15

3.3. Network-based model

FME Workbench 2020.2 was used to create an automated network-based model that directly considers the impact of floodwater variables on road network accessibility (Figure 3.5). The model

developed is capable of computing accumulated cost surfaces (aggregated travel times distributed over space), service areas (catchments of facilities), binary network accessibility (operational status of a road), origin-destination cost matrices (every path computed between origins and destinations), and closest facilities (the closest facility for given points). Either distance or travel time can be used as the cost metric. QGis Desktop 3.16.6 with GRASS 7.8.5 was used to post-process and display the data. Section 3.3.1. provides overview on how the model generally operates with specific reference to the modelling of spatio-temporal variations in access to healthcare. Section 3.5.2. explicitly describes the scenarios that were assessed using the model.

3.3.1. Procedure

3.3.1.1. Set-up and calculating travel times

Inputs (see Section 3.2) and parameters (Table 3.5) were first defined for each network model run. In all model runs with different inputs and parameter sets, the general procedure was the same. The network was first converted into a series of points at every 100 m interval. The points extracted the cell values from the underlying floodwater rasters to generate lists of the water depths and velocities intersecting each unique edge. The absolute maximum water depth and velocity value was then determined and forced as a new attribute for each edge.

The speed limits defined for each road type were assumed representative of travel conditions in the dry season, before floodwater impact had been considered. The impact of floodwaters on the network was considered through a series of conditional statements to derive updated travel speed weights (*w*) for the network at each flood timestep (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.5. Simplified flow diagram of the vector model framework.



Figure 3.6. Decision tree outlining how the network-based model decides on speed weights for edges intersecting floodwaters.

The conditional statements make a number of assumptions, specifically that: (i) the maximum floodwater values extracted are representative of accessibility across the entirety of each edge; (ii) drivers have omniscient knowledge of floodwater properties; (iii) drivers will drive through floodwaters (parameter settings permitting) where deemed safe to do so; (iv) water depth and velocity are the only variables dictating travel safety through floodwaters; and (v) drivers always

drive on wet roads and through floodwaters safely and at appropriate speed. Travel times along each edge were then calculated for input into the network model analyses.

3.3.1.2. Accumulated cost surfaces

Accumulated cost surfaces were created for each monthly timestep, representing accumulated travel times from healthcare facilities along network edges. Edges were first assessed to determine if they were connected to a healthcare facility and that a direct path could be routed. Any disconnected edges had their travel times overwritten to the infinite value as used by the flooded edges. Dijkstra's algorithm was used to calculate least-cost paths which were output as travel time vertices. Each vertex also contained the unique healthcare facility ID that produced the minimum travel time at that location. Interpolated travel time vector surfaces were then created, with isochrones built at 5 minute intervals. A buffer with a distance standard of 1 km was created around the connected edges, and the cost surfaces were clipped to this buffer. Geometries of the clipped cost surfaces were dissolved and collected to form multipart polygons based on the isochrones intervals. Zonal statistics can then be calculated on the area or populations living within each travel time isochrone.

3.3.1.3. Service areas

Dynamic service areas for each monthly timestep were created based on the corresponding accumulated cost surfaces. Thiessen polygons were generated around the travel time vertices, and then dissolved by unique healthcare facility IDs. The resulting service area polygons were then clipped by a 1 km buffer of the network considered accessible within a 60 minute driving threshold.

3.3.1.4. Binary network accessibility

A binary representation of network accessibility was created for each timestep in every scenario. Edges with an infinite travel time were classified as inaccessible whilst all other edges were classified as accessible regardless of whether floodwaters had modified their overall travel speeds. Summary statistics produced can then be interpreted to demonstrate monthly changes in network accessibility and connectivity over the duration of a flood event for each scenario.

Parameter	Units	Definition	Appropriate values
p	m	The interval at which edges are	Value should be the same
		divided into points for sampling the	resolution as the highest
		flood raster data	resolution floods raster
W	km hr ⁻¹	The travel speed limit applied to an	Dependent on road type
		edge	and restrictions. Absolute
			maximum legal limit in the
			world is 140 km hr ⁻¹
Wa	km hr ⁻¹	A reduced speed limit when	Below 10 km hr ⁻¹
		travelling through floodwaters	
		between 1-10 cm depth	
Wb	km hr ⁻¹	A reduced speed limit when	Below 8 km hr ⁻¹
		travelling through floodwaters	
		greater than 10 cm depth, but	
		below H _{max}	
H _{max}	m	Maximum water depth threshold.	< 0.3 m for passenger
		Water depths greater than the	vehicles
		threshold are completely	0.5 - 0.6 m for 4WD
		impassable	
V _{max}	m s⁻¹	Maximum velocity threshold.	Appropriate value
		Velocities greater than the	dependent on <i>H</i> . Absolute
		threshold are completely	maximum of 2.0 m s ⁻¹ if $H =$
		impassable	0.5 m

Table 3.5. Parameters in the network-based model. Note that w_a , w_b , H_{max} , and V_{max} can be disabled so that driving through floodwaters is not permitted.

3.3.1.5. Origin-destination cost matrix

An origin-destination cost matrix was performed for each monthly timestep to calculate the shortest paths and closest facilities between points representing origin facilities and every demand location (e.g., population) (see Section 3.5.2 for case study specifics). If points (representative of facilities or locations) intersected a floodwater value greater than H_{max} , they were considered

inaccessible and removed from the dataset. Otherwise, points were snapped to the nearest network if they were within a 100 m radius. Only the points on the network were used in each origindestination cost matrix. A closest facility analysis was then performed using the databases to extract the shortest path route and the travel time to the nearest facilities for each demand location. Points which could not be routed to were designated as having no viable form of network access to a healthcare facility.

3.4. Raster-based model

FME Workbench 2020.2 was used to create an automated workflow for generating impedance surfaces that directly consider the impact of floodwater variables on walking accessibility to healthcare facilities (Figure 3.7). The impedance surfaces generated are suitable for input into any cost-distance algorithm in any GIS environment. QGis Desktop 3.16.6 with GRASS 7.8.5 was used in this study to compute accumulated cost surfaces, service areas, origin-destination cost matrices, and closest facilities. Section 3.4.1 provides an overview on how the model generally operates with specific reference to the modelling of spatio-temporal variations in access to healthcare. Section 3.5.2 explicitly describes the scenarios that were assessed using the model.

3.4.1. Procedure

3.4.1.1. Set-up and impedance surface creation

Inputs (see Section 3.2.) and parameters (Table 3.6) were first defined for each scenario. In all model runs with different inputs and parameter sets, the general procedure was the same. Waterbodies were first buffered according to their average width, and then converted to a waterbodies impedance surface with a 10 m spatial resolution. The road network was then converted to a roads impedance surface. Elevated roads, bridges, and water crossings were always prioritised for representation in the resulting 10 m raster cells. As the Barotse Floodplain is extremely flat with a near-homogeneous land use, slope and land use were not considered in the impedance surface creation.

A floodwater impedance surface was then created (Figure 3.8). Floodwater depth (*H*) and velocity (*V*) were first considered independently of each other. If cell *H* was greater than H_{max} , the cell was classified as inaccessible. If cell *V* was greater than V_{max} , the cell was classified as inaccessible. If cell *V* was greater than V_{max} , the cell was classified as inaccessible. *H* and *V* were then considered together by multiplying their cell values together to create depth-velocity products (*HV*) for each cell. An empirical equation (Karvonen *et al.*, 2000) was used to determine the

critical depth-velocity product (HV_c) at which a simulated person would experience toppling instability when walking through floodwaters (equation 3.1). A simulated person was defined based upon human height (h) and weight (m) parameters.

$$HV_c = 0.004hm + 0.2$$

(equation 3.1)

Calculated HVs were then compared against the HVc:

- (1) If cell *HV* was greater than the *HV_c*, the risk of toppling instability was deemed high and the cell classified as inaccessible
- (2) If a cell contained a HV but which did not exceed HV_c, it was considered accessible at a reduced walking speed
- (3) If a cell contained no HV (HV = 0), it was considered not flooded and accessible as usual

It is clearly inappropriate to assume that a simulated person will always attempt to walk through floodwaters. Consequently, the V_{max} and H_{max} parameters, and the empirical equation are optional. When this option is turned off, all cells containing floodwaters are classified as inaccessible.



Figure 3.7. Simplified flow diagram of the raster model framework.



Figure 3.8. Decision tree outlining how the raster-based model decides on cost values (walking speeds) within each cell of an impedance surface.

The floodwaters impedance surface was then resampled from 100 m to 10 m using nearest neighbour interpolation; this resampling was deemed appropriate as the floodwaters raster was now nominal data coded numerically. The roads, permanent waterbodies, and floodwaters surfaces were then mosaicked together to form a final impedance surface with 10 m cell resolution. Cell value conflict was resolved by prioritising representation in the following order: (1) elevated roads; (2) inaccessible floods; (3) flooded but accessible conditions; (4) unflooded roads; (5) off-road areas. It was assumed that any cell classified as elevated road was permanently above the floodwaters; this assumption was appropriate for the Barotse Floodplain where the only elevated road is the causeway which was purposefully elevated above the annual floods. Cell values were assigned based on the

travel time (in seconds) it would take to walk across 10 m at a defined walking speed (see Section 3.5.2). Inaccessible cells were removed from the final output so that they cannot be routed through in cost-surface algorithms. The impedance surfaces were then input into QG to complete the raster analyses.

3.4.1.2. Accumulated cost surfaces and closest facility analysis

Minimum isotropic accumulated cost surfaces were calculated from healthcare facilities to populations. Movement was considered in 16 directions rather than 8 to increase output accuracy. A closest facility analysis was then performed by extracting the minimum travel time for a population to identify its nearest facility.

3.4.1.3. Service areas

Cost allocation outputs were produced which specified the nearest healthcare facility (based on the minimum aggregated travel time) for each cell. These were used to generate service area polygons across the entire study area. Service areas were discretised into time travel thresholds, with the key threshold being walking access within 2 hours as an indicator of timely access to healthcare services.

Parameter	Units	Definition	Appropriate values
r	m	The resolution desired for the final impedance surface	Varies. Dependent on overall size of impedances surface and resolutions of input datasets.
Hmax	m	Maximum water depth threshold. Water depths greater than the threshold are completely impassable	Absolute maximum of 1 m
Vmax	m s ⁻¹	Maximum velocity threshold. Velocities greater than the threshold are completely impassable	Absolute maximum of 1 m s ⁻¹
h	m	Height of a simulated human	Dependent on characteristics of simulated human (e.g., child or adult). Averages are recommended
m	kg	Mass of a simulated human	Dependent on characteristics of simulated human (e.g., child or adult). Averages are recommended
S	km hr ⁻¹	Walking speed within a cell	Dependent on topography characteristics within a cell. 5 km hr ⁻¹ recommended as the average walking speed of an abled individual in the absence of topographical impediments
S _f	km hr ⁻¹	Walking speed through floodwaters	Must be lowest walking speed parameterised. Absolute maximum of 2 km hr ⁻¹ , 1 km hr ⁻¹ recommended
К	n/a	Karvonen equation variant	Default is the "normal" variant. Can be changed to "good" or "poor" variant depending on conditions in simulated floods

Table 3.6. Parameters in the raster-based model. Note that the parameters used to determine hazard offloodwaters can be turned off so that walking through floodwaters is not permitted.

3.5. Application to the Barotse Floodplain

This section explains how the new framework as described prior was applied specifically to model access in the Barotse Floodplain. Section 3.5.1 outlines the sensitivity analysis which was conducted in order to derive appropriate parameters of H_{max} and V_{max} for both the network- and raster-based models. Section 3.5.2 then describes the access scenarios modelled, including the parameter values and inputs used in each scenario.

3.5.1. Sensitivity analysis

A one-at-a-time sensitivity analysis was performed to investigate the effects of changing H_{max} and V_{max} respectively for both the network and raster models. Two scenarios were investigated: a dry season scenario and a wet season scenario. The dry season scenario was based on the flood model outputs from the first timestep, October 2017. The wet season scenario was based on the outputs from the sixth timestep, March 2018, which had the overall greatest mean water depth of any timestep. Mean accumulated cost was chosen as the response variable to aggregate changes in travel times across the entire floodplain. The results of the sensitivity analysis were used to inform the choice of appropriate H_{max} and V_{max} values used in the modelling.

3.5.1.1. Network-based model

The range of appropriate values was determined for a four-wheel drive vehicle. The upper bound of H_{max} was set to 0.6 m. The upper bound of V_{max} was determined to be 2.0 m s⁻¹ but only if H_{max} was no greater than 0.5 m (Martínez-Gomariz *et al.*, 2018); however, none of the flood rasters contained velocity values that exceeded 1.2 m s⁻¹. Standard values for H_{max} and V_{max} were set to 0.5 m and 1.0 m s⁻¹ respectively. Parameter values were varied in increments of ±10% of their standard values. A total of 40 model runs were completed with seven runs per H_{max} scenario and 13 runs per V_{max} scenario.

The dry season was insensitive to changes in H_{max} and V_{max} , reflecting the lack of floodwaters on the floodplains and that the presence of permanent waterbodies was already accounted for with existing bridges and elevated roads. The wet season was sensitive to changes in H_{max} and V_{max} (Figure 3.9). Decreases in both parameters increase mean travel time; however, the output was only sensitive to V_{max} values between -100% to -80% of the standard value. A V_{max} of 0.0 m s⁻¹, or -100% of the standard was the most sensitive value and increased travel times by ~34%. This is expected as the value marks an assumption change where travel through floodwaters is restricted to completely static
Methods

waterbodies. H_{max} was the most sensitive parameter; the output was sensitive to all changes, but particularly those within ±40% of the standard value. The floodplain escarpment was the primary location of uncertainty, with changes in mean travel time predominantly occurring there.



Figure 3.9. Sensitivity of the network-based model to changes in (a) H_{max} and (b) V_{max}.

Methods

3.5.1.2. Raster-based model

For the sensitivity analysis, the Karvonen *et al.* (2000) empirical equation was turned off so that the effects of H_{max} and V_{max} alone could be isolated. The upper bounds of H_{max} and V_{max} were set to 1.0 m and 1.0 m s⁻¹, and the standard values to 0.5 m and 0.5 m s⁻¹ respectively. Parameter values were varied in increments of ±10% of their standard values. A total of 44 model runs were completed with an equal number of runs for H_{max} and V_{max} . Three variations of the output variable were observed: (1) count of null cells; (2) mean accumulated cost of "always accessible" cells; and (3) mean accumulated cost of all cells. For (3), nulls were converted to a value of 113,352 seconds which was the maximum accumulated cost obtained in any run; this permitted them to be included appropriately in raster calculations.

The dry season was insensitive to changes in H_{max} and V_{max} due to the lack of floodwaters resulting in negligible influence from the floodwater parameters. The wet season was sensitive to changes in H_{max} and V_{max} (Figure 3.10); decreases in both parameters increased the null cell count and mean accumulated cost of all cells. The mean accumulated cost of "always accessible" cells (i.e., cells that are not nullified in any run of their scenario) was insensitive to H_{max} and V_{max} , indicating that the impact of the parameters on nulls predominates the response of overall cell access; consequently, the floodplain is most sensitive to changes in the parameters as flood inundation causes nulls to occur there. The changes that did occur for "always accessible" cells were highly localised at floodplain boundaries and indirectly caused by nulls since at lower H_{max} and V_{max} values, fewer cells were nullified and thus more optimal paths were able to be routed, thereby reducing mean accumulated costs of cells at these areas.

Overall, mean accumulated cost of all cells and null count were more sensitive to H_{max} than V_{max} . A 100% decrease in H_{max} increases overall mean accumulated cost by ~42% whilst a 100% decrease in V_{max} increases overall mean accumulated cost by 32%. Additionally, the response variables were sensitive to any change in H_{max} but were insensitive to changes in V_{max} above the standard value. Decreases in H_{max} and V_{max} of 100% (or values of 0.0 m and 0.0 m s⁻¹) respectively produced the most sensitive response in overall mean accumulated cost; this was expected as these particular parameter values represent an assumption change where walking through flooded cells is not permitted.

The Luena Flats was found to exhibit a different response threshold to H_{max} and V_{max} than the Barotse Floodplain. The Barotse Floodplain was relatively insensitive to V_{max} and mostly responded to positive increases in H_{max} beyond the standard. The Luena Flats exhibited great sensitivity to changes in both lower V_{max} and H_{max} values below the standard, reflecting shallower floodwaters present than on the Barotse Floodplain.



Figure 3.10. Sensitivity analysis of the raster-based model to changes in (a) Hmax and (b) Vmax.

3.5.1.3. Conclusions of Sensitivity Analyses

 H_{max} and V_{max} values are locally variable; this was most evident in the raster model where the Luena Flats exhibited a different threshold response which emphasises the importance of site-specific analyses. The Barotse Floodplain is most sensitive to changes in H_{max} in its wet season, reflecting that

the floodwaters are deep but slow-moving. The greatest source of sensitivity for both models is whether movement through floodwaters is permitted. The appropriateness of this assumption should always be a primary consideration.

3.5.2. Access scenarios

Accessibility for the entire population of the floodplain to healthcare facilities between October 2017 and October 2018 was assessed. The raster-based model was used as described in Section 3.4 to assess populations' abilities to reach hospitals, healthcare centres, and health posts (Table 3.7). Two scenarios were generated: one in which populations will walk through floodwaters (FW), and one where populations will not walk through floodwaters (NFW). Walking speeds and simulated person characteristics were assumed for an average 19 year old female (Mitsunaga and Yamauchi, 2020) to produce a resulting HV_c of 0.53 m² s⁻¹, more conservative than the lower boundary in Karvonen *et al.* (2000).

Access to maternal health services between October 2017 and October 2018 was then assessed using women of reproductive age as a proxy for pregnant women (Table 3.7). The rasterbased model was used to assess women's ability to reach a healthcare facility with delivery, emergency obstetric care (EmOC), or maternity waiting shelters (MWS) respectively. Walking travel times were parameterised to be lower to reflect a decreased walking ability of women in their third trimester, and walking through floodwaters was not permitted in the maternal modelling as this was deemed inappropriate for heavily pregnant women potentially in or about to be in labour. The network-based model was also used as described in Section 3.3 to model vehicular referral travel times from a delivery site to the nearest EmOC site. Emergency vehicles were permitted to drive through floodwaters deemed low hazard at heavily reduced speeds.

To compare the new approach with previous approaches, a static "dry" (October 2017) and "wet" (April 2018) season scenario were created. These static scenarios used the same inputs and model parameterisation as the maternal healthcare access scenarios, but the hydrodynamic floodwater variables were substituted with floodwater extent polygons. A MODIS NRT Global Flood Product (250 m spatial resolution) was used as the remotely-sensed extent of floodwaters composited over three days between the 17th and 19th April 2018; this composite was selected for the "wet" season scenario as it was the most representative of true flood conditions visible between March and April 2018.

3.6. Chapter summary

Separate vector- and raster-based models were developed which incorporate floodwater variables to quantitatively assess their impact on vehicular and walking travel times. These models are a modification of common GIS methods already used in geographical access studies, and are suitable for operation in low-income regions. These models were demonstrated by specifically applying them in a large African floodplain to assess access to healthcare, using hydrodynamic model outputs to determine flood hazard and resulting impacts on access in a novelistic approach. Importantly, the frameworks created are not region-specific and can be used to assess access to any services in similar regions, provided the models are parameterised appropriately. A sensitivity analysis was conducted on two of the most important variables in both models, H_{max} and V_{max} , to demonstrate model parameterisation and to determine appropriate values for the model runs in the Barotse Floodplain.

 Table 3.7. All access scenarios modelled alongside input datasets, and parameter settings.

	Model used	Inputs		Walki	ng spe	ed (km hr⁻¹	·)	Parameters				
		Origin	Destination	Road	Off- road	Flooded but accessible	Inaccessible	H _{max} (m)	V _{max} (m s ⁻¹)	Height (m)	Weight (kg)	
FW scenario	Raster	All population	(1) Any HF	5	4	1	0	0.5	0.5	157	54	
		on Barotse Floodplain	(2) Hospital only									
		riocupiani	(3) Health centre									
			or health post only									
NFW	Raster	All population	(1) Any HF	5	4	0	0	0.01	n/a	n/a	n/a	
scenario		on Barotse Floodplain	(2) Hospital only									
		riooupium	(3) Health centre									
			or health post only									
Maternal	Raster	Women of	(1) Delivery site	4	3	0	0	0.01	n/a	n/a	n/a	
walking scenario		reproductive age on Barotse	(2) EmOC site									
		Floodplain	(3) Maternity waiting shelter									
	Model	used Inputs		Driving speed (km hr ⁻¹)				Parameters				
		Origin	Destination	w		w _a v	v _b Inaccess	sible	H _{max}	V _{max}		
Maternal referral scenario	Vector	Delivery	site EmOC site	See 3.4	Table	8 5	0		0.5	1.0		

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS: Health access in the Barotse Floodplain

Section 4.1 will first provide a description of the floodwave passage over the Barotse Floodplain. In Section 4.2, the ability of all populations to walk to their nearest healthcare facility and nearest hospital will then be described, with differences between the FW scenario (walking through floodwaters) and NFW scenario (all floodwaters inaccessible) stated. Section 4.3 then specifically discretises facilities by the maternal services they provide, reporting on the ability of floodplain women to reach these services. Walking access is first described, followed by the ability of delivery sites to refer patients to EmOC sites as identified through network analysis in the vector model. Note that the network-based model was only operated once to produce the vehicular referral times between delivery sites and EmOC in the maternal healthcare scenarios (Section 4.3.3). As household car ownership is rare, it was deemed inappropriate to model driving times for floodplain populations to facilities; modelling referrals between delivery sites and EmOC represented the best use of the new network-based approach to consider a key functional aspect of the healthcare system. Improvements over previous approaches are then explicitly highlighted in Section 4.4, followed by a summary of the key findings in Section 4.5.

4.1. Floodwave passage

Floodwater depths and velocities change each month in response to the passage of the annual floodwave (Table 4.1). Due to the low gradient of the floodplain, floodwaters are deep but with very low velocities; consequently, water depth is the most influential hydrodynamic characteristic of the floodwave on access. Floodwaters first appear in the Luena Flats in November 2017 (Figure 4.1), with depths below 0.3 m and velocities below 0.2 m s¹. By December, these floodwaters have increased in extent, although depths and velocities remain relatively unchanged. In the Barotse Floodplain, land adjacent to river channels has begun to inundate, with negative relief features preferentially flooded. Floodwaters have also appeared in the Luanginga Valley. Inundation is greatest in extent and depth at the southernmost part of the floodplain, at the confluence of the Zambezi and an anabranching channel.



Figure 4.1. Floodwater extent and depth in (a) November 2017, (b) January 2018, (c) March 2018, (d) June 2018, (e) August 2018, and (f) October 2018. The red dot represents Kalabo Hospital.

Results

Between January and February 2018, floodwaters expanded rapidly. Depths are greatest adjacent to the Zambezi trunk, and negative relief assemblages convey deeper floodwaters across the floodplain. Floodwater depths increase in both the Luena and Luanginga valleys; however, these depths remain lower than those on the Barotse Floodplain.

Month	Mean depth (m)	Mean velocity (m s ⁻¹)
October 2017	0.0098	0.0002
November 2017	0.0112	0.001
December 2017	0.0345	0.0025
January 2018	0.21	0.0189
February 2018	0.3377	0.0392
March 2018	0.5659	0.0699
April 2018	0.5497	0.0659
May 2018	0.5388	0.0641
June 2018	0.2522	0.0196
July 2018	0.0795	0.0025
August 2018	0.0352	0.001
September 2018	0.0238	0.0009
October 2018	0.0161	0.0008

Table 4.1. Monthly average depths and velocities across the study region.

The peak of the floods occurs in March and April 2018. Inundation extent is greatest, with floodwaters spanning to the escarpment across the ~90 km length of the study area. Deep floodwaters greater than 1 m span across the floodplain, although depths in the tributary valleys are lower (mostly below 0.5 m). Velocities remain low, mostly below 0.5 m s⁻¹.

Flood drawdown occurs from June 2018 onwards, with floodwaters decreasing depths *in-situ* rather than overall extent retracting. By October, the majority of floodwaters have receded, but

inundation persists in the Luena Flats and Luanginga Valley; these remaining floodwaters are shallow of approximately 0.2 m depths.

4.2. General walking access to healthcare

4.2.1. Overview

The spatio-temporal distribution of floodwaters affects the ability of floodplain population to walk to healthcare facilities. Both the FW (walking through floodwaters permitted) and NFW (all floodwaters inaccessible) scenarios agree that floodwaters act as a barrier, either impeding or completely restricting walking with the consequences of increased travel times and inaccessibility (Figures 4.2-4.4). Walking access changes dynamically as the floodwave passes over the floodplain. Access is most optimal before flood onset, and decreases as the floods rise. As floodwaters increase in depth and extent, walking ability is impacted. By the peak of the floods in March and April 2018, the proportion of the population with timely access to healthcare (defined as within two walking hours) is at its lowest (31-40%) and inaccessibility is at its highest (47-66%). Those living furthest away from healthcare facilities are disproportionately most impacted. As floodwaters recede (Figure 4.1), access generally restores to pre-flood levels by the final model timestep in October 2017.

Populations living closer to the floodplain escarpment typically experience lower walking times to their nearest healthcare facility due to the greater distribution of facilities above the floodplain rather than on the floodplain. In contrast, those living closer to the Zambezi trunk experience worse accessibility; walking times are longest and these populations are impacted in more months by floodwaters which inundate the centre of the floodplain first. A few facilities are positioned on the floodplain which reduces walking times in their catchments, but these facilities are the first to be impacted by rising floodwaters. Populations located near the causeway benefit from the easier access to healthcare in major settlements such as Lealui and Mongu. Due to the sparser number of facilities, access is overall poorer in the Luena Flats. Similarly, walking access is worsened for populations located within the confinements of the Zambezi, Luanginga, and Luambimba rivers which geographically restrict access onto the escarpment.

Due to only five hospitals being located in three geographically distinct areas (Kalabo, Mongu, and Lealui), walking access to hospitals is worse and the majority of the floodplain population lack timely access. Populations in the north-west of the floodplain and in the Luanginga Valley are able to walk to Kalabo and Yuka Mission Hospital in the dry season, but their access is very vulnerable and quickly impacted in flood months due to the few connecting roads (Figure 4.1). Again, the population

in the Luena Flats experiences heightened difficulties due to their nearest hospitals being located in Mongu as access is limited by waterbodies that persist for longer.



Figure 4.2. Comparison of the FW and NFW scenario monthly predictions of the percentage of the floodplain population considered unable to walk to: (a) any healthcare facility, (b) a hospital. Inaccessibility increases as floodwater depths increase each month in both scenarios.



Figure 4.3. Monthly variation in the percentage of the floodplain population with walking access to any healthcare facility, compared between (a) the NFW scenario, and (b) the FW scenario.



Figure 4.4. Monthly variation in the percentage of the floodplain population with walking access to a hospital, compared between (a) the NFW scenario, and (b) the FW scenario.

Results

Both scenarios agree on the general pattern of these findings, but the ability to walk through floodwaters deemed low hazard in the FW scenario decreases the influence of shallow and lowvelocity floodwaters on the accessibility of the floodplain. As a consequence, the two scenarios show different magnitudes of impact, in addition to key differences in: (1) the onset of impacts resulting from floodwaters; (2) the recovery in walking access to hospitals; and (3) the duration of peak floodwater impact. The greatest relative differences between the two scenarios' inaccessibility estimates for different facilities always occurs during the intermediate flood stages rather than at peak flood or peak dry season. The differences between scenarios do not detract from the general pattern observed nor imply one scenario has performed better than the other, but rather present two contrasting scenarios of walking access: how access may look for those able to walk through lowhazard floodwaters, and how access may look for those who cannot or do not want to wade through any floodwaters.

4.2.2. Walking access throughout the hydrological year

Walking access to healthcare facilities and hospitals is optimum in October 2017, reflecting optimal access conditions with only permanent waterbodies present on the floodplain. In the dry season 66% of the population have timely access to their nearest healthcare facility (Table 4.2), and the average walking time is 83 minutes (1.4 hours) whilst the maximum walking time is 320 (5.3 hours). The majority of facilities are either healthcare posts or healthcare facilities, and thus access to hospitals is worse (Table 4.3). Only 14% of the population can walk to a hospital within 2 hours; the average journey takes 314 minutes (5.2 hours) whilst the longest takes 1,035 minutes (17.3 hours). In October 2017, both scenarios identify only 3% of the population to be isolated and unable to walk to a healthcare facility; these populations are within the confinements of the Zambezi trunk and an anabranching channel, with no watercrossings on either channel. Consequently, these populations cannot solely walk to healthcare, it is most likely these populations use boats for at least part of their journey which can be seen navigating the channels in satellite images (Figure 4.5).

In December 2017, the NFW scenario identifies walking access to hospitals as being significantly impacted (Table 4.3, Figure 4.6). However, the FW scenario does not identify the first major impacts until January 2018 by which point the NFW scenario predicts access to have worsened again. Floodwaters have appeared by December 2017 but are shallow and limited in extent; hence whilst the NFW scenario treats them as inaccessible barriers with large implications on access, the FW scenario assumes populations are still able to walk through these shallow floodwaters to access hospitals. Both the NFW and FW scenario are in agreement that from January 2018, walking

accessibility to any facility decreases monthly corresponding with rising floodwaters; their only disagreement is in the magnitude of decline. By the peak of floods in March and April 2018, both scenarios identify inaccessibility to be highest and timely access to be lowest, with walking access to hospitals for the population impacted worse than access to other healthcare facilities. Again, their only disagreement is in the magnitude of impact.



Figure 4.5. A settlement (top right) located within the confinements of the Zambezi and its anabranching channel, with no direct walking access to a healthcare facility. The population is estimated to be ~49 people, containing ~12 women of reproductive age. The settlement is built upon a *suuba* (elevated land) and is not inundated by floodwaters in 2018. A dugout canoe (bottom left) is seen moving along the Zambezi in this satellite image, as are others along this stretch of channel (not pictured here).





Figure 4.6. A comparison of NFW and FW monthly predictions of walking accessibility to hospitals

Access remains impacted through to May 2018 in both scenarios due to the deep and extensive floodwaters present. From June 2018 onwards, floodwater recession coincides with restorations in access to all healthcare facilities. In the NFW scenario, access to all facilities (including hospitals) has nearly restored to pre-flood levels as early as July 2018, with almost complete restoration by the final model timestep in October 2018. However, the NFW scenario identifies a slower recovery period, with access to healthcare facilities largely still recovering until around August 2018. By October 2018 in the NFW scenario, access to health posts and health centres has mostly restored but, in disagreement with the FW scenario, the NFW scenario identifies hospitals as remaining impacted. In the NFW scenario restoration to pre-flood levels has not occurred, and recovery has stagnated since August 2018.

Month	Inac	cessibilit	ty		Timely access (< 2 hrs)					
	FW		NFW		FW	FW				
	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n		
October 2017	3	1,032	3	1,056	66	22,780	66	22,780		
November 2017	3	1,032	3	1,112	66	22,780	66	22,773		
December 2017	3	1,119	5	1,828	66	22,493	61	20,810		
January 2018	10	3,442	30	10,367	54	18,563	47	16,005		
February 2018	18	6,337	49	16,658	50	16,991	40	13,618		
March 2018	47	16,102	66	22,539	40	13,861	31	10,785		
April 2018	47	16,126	64	21,832	41	14,221	31	10,797		
May 2018	46	15,900	59	20,261	42	14,429	32	10,941		
June 2018	12	4,079	46	15,818	54	18,680	40	13,707		
July 2018	4	1,433	16	5,649	64	21,939	54	18,606		
August 2018	3	1,123	7	2,355	66	22,576	61	20,911		
September 2018	3	1,087	5	1,730	66	22,721	64	22,088		
October 2018	3	1,042	4	1,371	66	22,766	65	22,238		

Table 4.2. Monthly estimates from the FW and NFW scenarios of the population with timely access to their nearest healthcare facility, and the population with no access to any healthcare facility.

Month	Inac	cessibilit	y		Timely access (< 2 hrs)					
	FW		NFW		FW		NFW			
	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n		
October 2017	3	1,032	3	1,056	14	4,871	14	4,871		
November 2017	3	1,032	3	1,112	14	4,871	14	4,871		
December 2017	3	1,119	52	17,771	14	4,709	12	3,992		
January 2018	10	3,442	66	22,513	11	3,771	8	2,778		
February 2018	23	7,828	69	23,529	10	3,401	8	2,688		
March 2018	51	17,357	78	26,641	9	3,034	8	2,652		
April 2018	51	17,381	73	24,971	9	3,034	8	2,652		
May 2018	50	17,156	71	24,415	9	3,120	8	2,652		
June 2018	12	4,079	66	22,713	11	3,822	8	2,748		
July 2018	4	1,433	58	19,784	13	4,530	9	3,217		
August 2018	3	1,123	46	15,767	14	4,709	11	3,907		
September 2018	3	1,087	45	15,544	14	4,769	12	4,071		
October 2018	3	1,042	45	15,429	14	4,769	12	4,101		

Table 4.3. Monthly estimates from the FW and NFW scenarios of the population with timely access to their nearest hospital, and the population with no access to any hospital.

4.2.3. The spatio-temporal impact of floodwater variables

The differences exhibited between the FW and NFW scenarios arise due to how they incorporate floodwater depth and velocity into their model parameterisation resulting in different representations of the spatio-temporal impacts on access caused by the same floodwaters. As the NFW scenario does not allow populations to walk through any floodwater regardless of depth or velocity, it always produces an increased magnitude of impact relative to the FW scenario as it is sensitive to any cell containing a floodwater variable. Consequently, when floodwaters first appear in the Luanginga and Luena valleys in December 2017, accessibility is impacted immediately in the NFW scenario, particularly for hospitals where the inundation of roads connecting to a hand-pulled pontoon prevents large numbers of the floodplain population from reaching their nearest hospital in Kalabo. However, as these floodwaters are shallow and of low velocity, they do not act as complete barriers in the FW scenario as populations are able to walk through them albeit at a reduced walking speed;

hence the FW scenario reports the first significant impacts to access in January 2018 where floodwaters increase in extent, depth, and velocity. Similarly, as floodwaters recede, access restores more quickly in the FW scenario as the remaining floodwaters are shallow and considered traversable. The NFW scenario is sensitive to the extent of the remaining floodwaters, which must decrease in extent for estimated access to increase. As floodwaters persist in the Luanginga and Luena valleys throughout the remainder of the model duration, access to hospitals remains impacted in the NFW scenario (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7. For October 2018, (a) shows floodplain populations identified in the NFW scenario as unable to reach a hospital and (b) shows persisting floodwaters in the Luanginga Valley intersecting critical roads linking to Kalabo and its district hospital.

Additionally, in the FW scenario, inaccessibility remains near-uniformly maximal between March and May 2018. However, in the NFW scenario, whilst inaccessibility remains high throughout all three months, it distinctively peaks in March. Floodwaters are most extensive in March 2018 compared with April and May, but the additional floodwaters are of shallower depths and lower velocities. Consequently, the FW scenario is only sensitive to the same hazardously deep floodwaters that persist between March and May and impacts to access remain nearly the same throughout the three months.

4.2.4. Effects of floods on health access inequity

Both scenarios agree that floodwaters disproportionately impact the populations that were located furthest away from their nearest facility in October 2017 (Table 4.4). A greater walking time in the dry season indicates an increased likelihood of being completely inaccessible at the peak of the floods. In the intermediate stages of flood rise and flood drawdown, the disproportionate impact on those furthest away is lessened. There is negligible difference in inaccessibility increases experienced between those living within 1-2 hours of a facility in October 2017, and those living beyond a 2 hour journey (Figure 4.8). Similarly, disproportionate impacts are found regarding access to hospitals (Figure 4.9); however the difference is lessened between those living within 1-2 hours and those living within 1-2 hours and those living beyond 2 hours in October 2017.

		Inaccessibility in March 2018:				
		Nearest healthcare	Nearest hospital (%)			
		facility (%)	(70)			
FW scenario	1 hr	21	15			
Population with	2 hr	52	46			
access in October 2017 within:	>2 hr	71	52			
NFW scenario	1 hr	36	26			
Population with	2 hr	54	66			
access in October 2017 within:	>2 hr	92	82			

Table 4.4. Populations who are furthest away from healthcare facilities in October 2017 experience greaterinaccessibility in March 2018.



Figure 4.8. Relative monthly decreases in accessibility to the nearest healthcare facility depending on the location of the population in October 2017, compared between (a) the NFW scenario, and (b) the FW scenario.

Results



Figure 4.9. Relative monthly decreases in accessibility to the nearest hospital depending on the location of the population in October 2017, compared between (a) the NFW scenario, and (b) the FW scenario.

4.3. Access to maternal services

4.3.1. Walking access throughout the hydrological year

Potential geographic access to maternal services corresponds with the presence of floodwaters which impede the walking ability of women of reproductive age (Figure 4.10, Figure 4.11). Walking access to all maternal services is optimum before flood onset, where inaccessibility is lowest and the proportion of the population with timely access to maternal services is highest. As with access to general healthcare, walking access to maternal services generally decreases as floodwaters rise, is impacted the most at the peak of the floods, and is restored as floodwaters recede.



Figure 4.10. The percentage of women of reproductive age who are unable to walk to maternal services each month, alongside the monthly mean depth of floodwaters.



Figure 4.11. The percentage of women within each walking travel time threshold to: (a) delivery sites; (b) EmOC; (c) Maternity Waiting Shelters (MWS).

Chapter 4

October 2017 represents the peak of the dry season. Walking access to delivery sites, emergency obstetric care (EmOC) and maternity waiting shelters (MWS) is highest; however, the proportion of the population with timely access to services is still low (Table 4.5). Half of the population have walking access to a delivery site within 2 hours, but whilst the average walking time is 109 minutes (1.8 hours), the furthest populations have to walk a maximum time of 420 minutes (7 hours). Only a quarter of the population have access to a MWS within 2 hours, and the average walking time was 251 minutes (4.2 hours) with the furthest populations walking for 845 minutes (14.1 hours). Timely access to EmOC is the worst; less than a fifth of women can walk to EmOC within 2 hours, and the average walking time was 280 minutes (4.7 hours) whilst the maximum travel time was also 845 minutes (14.1 hours).

Comparatively, March 2018 represents the peak of the wet season. Walking access to all maternal services is most severely impacted in this month, with the majority of women unable to reach services. Walking access to EmOC is most impacted, followed by MWS. Delivery sites are impacted relatively less, but still substantially. Whilst the majority of women experience increased walking times or complete inaccessibility to maternal services in the wet season, those who are already located the furthest away in the dry season are those whose accessibility is impacted most by floodwaters (Table 4.6). The proportion of the population who experience inaccessibility each month increases the further away they were from maternal services in October 2017. Evidently, floods disproportionately impact those who already experience the most difficulties walking to maternal services in a timely manner in the dry season.

Monthly inaccessibility for women to a delivery site mimics monthly inaccessibility for women to reach any healthcare facility, indicating good placement of delivery sites within the existing healthcare infrastructure. Walking accessibility is unlikely to improve significantly unless entirely new facilities were to be constructed. Fewer healthcare facilities offer EmOC or MWS which explains the increased inaccessibility for women in accessing these services.

Month	Inaccessibility						Timely access (< 2 hrs)					
	Delivery		Em	EmOC MV		VS	Del	ivery	EmO	C	MW	S
	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n
October 2017	3	256	3	256	3	256	55	4,445	19	1,507	24	1,971
November 2017	3	269	3	269	3	269	55	4,444	19	1,507	24	1,970
December 2017	5	438	45	3,654	51	4,146	51	4,121	17	1,396	22	1,788
January 2018	30	2,456	59	4,798	65	5,285	42	3,394	14	1,149	18	1,426
February 2018	48	3,929	63	5,156	68	5,527	36	2,963	14	1,140	17	1,378
March 2018	65	5,313	76	6,200	74	6,039	29	2,362	14	1,104	16	1,337
April 2018	63	5,141	71	5,787	72	5,871	29	2,363	14	1,125	16	1,339
May 2018	59	4,764	67	5,426	71	5,736	29	2,397	14	1,125	17	1,346
June 2018	46	3,728	60	4,869	66	5,327	37	2,975	14	1,148	17	1,365
July 2018	16	1,340	51	4,132	57	4,621	46	3,745	15	1,239	20	1,601
August 2018	7	562	45	3,681	45	3,681	51	4,114	17	1,356	21	1,736
September 2018	5	415	45	3,627	45	3,627	53	4,304	17	1,381	22	1,817
October 2018	4	330	44	3,600	44	3,600	53	4,328	17	1,396	23	1,838

Table 4.5. The number and percentage of women who are inaccessible and who have timely walking access tomaternal services each month.

Table 4.6. Women who are furthest away from maternal services in October 2017 experience greaterinaccessibility in March 2018.

		Inaccessibility in March 2018:								
		Delivery site (%)	EmOC (%)	MWS (%)						
Women with	1 hr	33	17	14						
access in October 2017	2 hr	62	35	46						
within:	>2 hr	89	87	89						

4.3.2. Spatio-temporal patterns of walking access

The patterns and magnitudes of inaccessibility to maternal services are neither spatially nor temporally uniform (Figure 4.12). Walking access to EmOC and MWS was impacted a month earlier than access to delivery sites; those located more than two hours away from EmOC and MWS accounted for the majority of the rise in inaccessibility. The first major decrease in access to delivery sites occurred in January 2018, with those located beyond two hours of walking time also accounting for a large proportion of the increase. Inaccessibility to EmOC and MWS is not reduced to pre-flood levels by the final model timestep in October 2018. Whilst walking access to delivery sites recovers for all women back to pre-flood levels in October 2018, improvements in access to EmOC and MWS stagnate from August 2018. As before, those located beyond two hours of walking account for the stagnation as they remain inaccessible.

The earlier impact and delayed recovery of access to emergency obstetric care and maternity waiting shelters is due to the limited locations of the facilities offering these services. Whilst 40 facilities offer delivery services that are accessed by the floodplain women, only ten offer emergency obstetric care and only 22 offer maternity waiting shelters. Kalabo District Hospital serves the greatest number of women in the dry season for both emergency obstetric care (45%, *n*=3,687) and maternity waiting shelters (45%, n=3,667). Critically, the hospital serves 3,288 women who are geographically restricted within the confinements of the Zambezi, Luambimba, and Luanginga rivers. These women are only able to access emergency obstetric care and maternity waiting shelters in Kalabo where they must first travel along roads that connect to a hand-pulled pontoon into the town. In December 2017, many of these connecting roads become inundated and the populations are unable to reach Kalabo, with no access to any other facility offering these maternal services; of the 3,288 geographically restricted women, only 3 can now access Kalabo Hospital. Consequently, the population served with EmOC and MWS by Kalabo Hospital declines 89% by December 2017 so that Kalabo Hospital serves just 5% of the total floodplain population with EmOC (n = 396) and MWS (n = 378) in December 2017. Some floodwaters still persist in the Luanginga Valley from August till October 2018, hence these same population remains cut-off (Figure 4.7, Figure 4.12).

Women also experience the greatest inaccessibility in reaching maternity waiting shelters, except in March 2018 when inaccessibility to emergency obstetric care is highest. This is due to the lack of a maternity waiting shelter on the right bank of the Luena Valley where otherwise delivery facilities and emergency obstetric care are present. The Luena Valley floods earlier than the Barotse Floodplain, and its floodwaters persist for longer, restricting use of bridges and water crossings. Thus, populations in the Luena Valley are unable to access a maternity waiting shelter for the majority of the year.

Chapter 4

Results



Figure 4.12. A comparison of accessibility to different maternal services in key months.

4.3.3. Potential referral coverage and referral times

Potential referral times by emergency vehicle between delivery sites and EmOC were calculated using network analysis with the vector model. Identifying potential referrals is complicated by the multiple impacts of floods on: (1) reducing the proportion of the population able to reach a delivery site; (2) altering which delivery facilities are being accessed monthly; and (3) affecting the referral abilities of delivery sites to EmOC locations. Consequently, referral coverage and referral times are only considered for facilities being accessed by populations, which changes monthly; this weights the referral results by the impact on the floodplain population.

Over the entire duration of the model, 40 healthcare facilities act as the nearest delivery site for floodplain women in at least one month of the hydrological year. 33 of these facilities can only provide delivery, whilst seven are able to offer delivery and EmOC. Of the 33 "delivery only" facilities, four have no direct road connection to a facility offering EmOC. As a consequence, these four facilities are unable to make referrals year-round.



Figure 4.13. The number of healthcare facilities providing delivery services to floodplain women each month, discretised by referral capability. A "serving delivery site" refers to a facility which is being accessed by floodplain women and has a direct road connection to EmOC so referrals are possible. The number and location of these changes each month as floodwaters force populations to access different facilities. Note that delivery sites which serve the population but are unable to ever make road referrals are not considered.

Chapter 4

Results

Vehicular referrals between delivery sites to emergency obstetric care are impacted by floodwaters which inundate roads, either reducing safe travel speeds along them or closing them entirely with connectivity implications for the remainder of the network. The depth and extent of floodwaters impacts the number of delivery sites that can make referrals, can be accessed by floodplain populations and which have a direct road connection to an EmOC location. As floodwater mean depth increases, the number of facilities able to make a referral decreases, as does the proportion of those referrals which are within 1 hour (Figure 4.13). Facilities with the lowest referral times in the dry season typically remain consistently accessible with either negligible or no impact to their referral times throughout the hydrological year, whilst facilities with higher referral times are usually those most impacted and experience either increased referral times or a complete inability to make road referrals during the floods. This pattern reflects the impact of the locations of these facilities; urban facilities located closer to EmOC sites have fewer or no roads directly impacted by inundation, and the denser connectivity of urban roads mitigates for any closures by providing alternative routes.

Referral coverage and referral times are most optimal before flood onset in October 2017 (Figure 4.13). Of the 27 "*delivery only*" facilities serving the floodplain population in that month, all are able to make referrals and 23 had referral times within an hour. The mean referral time was 30 minutes whilst the maximum referral time was 89 minutes. Consequently, 50% of women (n=4,083) can be referred to EmOC within an hour whilst 14% (n=1,169) of women have already arrived directly to an EmOC location, resulting in 65% (n=5,251) of women with access to EmOC in a theoretically timely manner.

As floodwaters increase in extent and depth, the number of serving facilities able to make a referral decreases which causes increasingly greater proportions of the population to have either poor or no referral access from their nearest delivery facility. By the peak of the floods in March 2018, referral coverage and referral times were most impacted (Figure 4.14) Of the 25 "delivery only" facilities serving the floodplain population in that month, only 17 were able to make referrals to EmOC and 14 had referral times within an hour. The mean referral time of the remaining accessible facilities was 35 minutes, but the maximum referral time was 205 minutes. Consequently, only 16% of women (n=1,334) can be referred to EmOC within an hour whilst 7% (n=558) are already present at an EmoC location, resulting in only ~23% (n=1,892) having timely access to EmOC.



Figure 4.14. Vehicular referral times across the Barotse Floodplain between delivery sites and EmOC locations in (a) October 2017 and (b) March 2018. The inset maps (red border) show referral times specifically in the Luanginga Valley for: (c) October 2017, (d) March 2018, and (e) October 2018. Due to the presence of persisting floods in the Luanginga Valley, referral times in October 2018 remain slightly elevated.

From flood drawdown until the final modelled month, the referral system steadily recovers. By October 2018, of the 27 "*delivery only*" facilities serving the floodplain population in that month, 26 are able to make referrals; 21 of these are able to make referrals within an hour's travel time. The mean referral time was ~32 minutes, whilst the maximum travel time was 94 minutes. As small areas of floodwaters still persist, a continued impact is experienced on the network which is reflected in elevated referral times between some delivery sites and EmOC (Figure 4.14). Overall, 48% of women (*n*=3,874) can be referred to an EmOC within an hour whilst 13% (*n*=1,031) have already arrived directly at an EmOC. Consequently, 60% (*n*=4,905) of women have timely access to an EmOC again in the final modelled month. Chapter 4

Results

In October 2018, the one facility whose referral access to an EmOC had not been restored was Lealui Rural Health Centre (RHC). This observation arises from a conflict between the geoposition of the facility and the flood model outputs. A 15 m wide water body is located approximately 250 m (Euclidean distance) from Lealui RHC. The flood model represents this waterbody as only becoming wet after flood onset, with the waters within persisting after flood drawdown (Figure 4.15). As the spatial resolution of the flood model is 100 m, this waterbody is represented as being one 100 m cell wide and it is positioned closer to the RHC than in reality. As a consequence, the waterbody intersects the two roads that connect to the RHC. By October 2018, it is likely that this results in a false representation of the facility being unable to make referrals as: (1) there are no remaining floodwaters within the vicinity of Lealui; (2) the waterbody does not, in reality, cross the two roads directly connected to the RHC; (3) the RHC is positioned less than a kilometre away from Lealui Mini Hospital (offering EmOC) with multiple possible routes; and (4) of these possible routes, the waterbody, if still impassable, would only block half as the RHC could still access the causeway to gain access to the Mini Hospital.

Whilst the detrimental impact of floods on referral coverage and referral times has some impact on population ability to reach EmOC in a timely manner, the primary reductions arise from the complete inability of populations to reach any delivery site in flood months. This is reflected in the relative monthly position of women within the referral system (Figure 4.16); as floodwaters increase, the most substantial reduction in women with timely referral access to EmOC occurs because women are unable to reach any facility, rather than because of an increase in the number of women that are at a facility with impacted referral abilities.



Figure 4.15. Flood presence around the floodplain settlement of Lealui in (a) October 2017, (b) March 2018, and (c) October 2018 compared with (d) a satellite image of Lealui showing the flood representation of the canal after the floods to be larger and positioned closer to Lealui Rural Health Centre than in reality, causing false intersection of connecting roads which prevents referrals to Lealui Mini Hospital.



Figure 4.16. Monthly variation in the percentage of women within the different referral categories. (i) EmOC refers to women whose nearest delivery site is a facility capable of EmOC; i.e., those whom do not need a referral to another facility. (ii) 1 hr referral refers to women whose delivery site can refer to an EmOC facility within an hour's travel time. (iii) >1 hr referral refers to women whose delivery site can refer to an EmOC facility, but with a referral travel time greater than one hour. (iv) Delivery site refers to women who have arrived at their nearest delivery site which is unable to refer them to an EmOC due to inundation on the road network. (v) Inaccessible refers to women who are unable to reach any delivery site and thus unable to enter the healthcare or referral system.

4.4. Improvements over previous approaches

To demonstrate improvements over previous static approaches which used remotely-sensed flood extents, the results from the maternal access scenarios were compared against static "dry" (October 2017) and "wet" (April 2018) season scenarios created using remotely-sensed flood extents instead of hydrodynamic model outputs. Aside from the static approaches using remotely-sensed flood extents and modelling access for only two months of the year, all inputs and model parameters were kept the same as the new approach.





The new approach correctly identifies the entire of the Barotse Floodplain and the Luena Flats as inundated in April 2018. The previous approach identifies extensive flooding in the Barotse Floodplain, but the extent used has falsely marked areas of the floodplain as unflooded despite floods being clearly visible in MODIS imagery (Figure 4.17); affected areas are around the Zambezi channel at the central axis of the floodplain, as well as south-west at the bottom of the floodplain. Similarly, the flood extent has failed to recognise the majority of vegetated floodwaters in the Luena Flats. Floodwaters in the Luanginga Valley have been accurately detected, including those beyond the extent of the LISFLOOD-FP flood model. As a consequence, the static "wet season" scenario identifies fewer populations as being inaccessible overall (Figure 4.18, Table 4.7).



Figure 4.18. Comparison between a representative example of a spatio-temporally static previous approach, and the new approach as developed in this study. (a) shows the percentage of women within each travel time threshold to EmOC as identified using a static "dry" and "wet" season approach. The static approach has not specifically considered months, hence the "dry" season scenario is assumed to represent conditions post-floods (the second "dry" after the "wet" season); it is temporally ambiguous. (b) compares the percentage of women within each travel time threshold to EmOC between the static "wet" season scenario (previous approach) and the access scenario for March 2018 (new approach).
		Women of reproductive age			
		Previous approach		New approach	
		n	%	n	%
Walking	1 hr	497	6	482	6
access	2 hr	345	4	622	8
within:	>2 hr	2,818	35	825	10
	Inaccessible	4,469	55	6,200	76

Table 4.7. Comparison of the previous approach (static "wet" season scenario) and the new approach (March2018 scenario) for the ability of women of reproductive age to reach EmOC.

The previous approach is very limited in what information it can provide on access, unlike the new approach (Figure 4.18). The "wet season scenario" indicates increased inaccessibility during flood months (55%, n =4,469), but it under predicts the percentage considered inaccessible relative to the new approach (76%, n = 6,200) by ~28% due to issues with the extent data aforementioned. The "wet season scenario" is able to identify key areas of inaccessibility, but is unable to provide much inference beyond that floodwaters are simply impacting access. For example, the "wet season scenario" correctly identifies that a large proportion of women on the north-west of the Zambezi are unable to reach EmOC in Kalabo, but it is unable to identify when the impact first occurred, for how long they persist, and when access is restored. In the new approach, however, through modelling the monthly impact on access resulting from the spatio-temporal changes of floodwaters, it can be identified that impact occurs in December 2017 due to early presence of floodwaters in the Luanginga Valley. Critically, in the previous approach, the "dry season scenario" would assume the same conditions in October 2018 as in October 2017 (unless a second "dry" scenario was created, which has not been done in previous studies), and thus would be unable to identify the continued impact.

4.5. Summary of key findings

Incorporating floodwater variables into both network- and raster-based models allows detailed visualisation into how changing floodwaters over the hydrological year impacts access patterns. The raster-based model was used to quantify walking times to general healthcare and to maternal services, whilst the network-based model was additionally used in the maternal scenario to specifically calculate referral times by road between delivery sites and EmOC. Access to all facilities and maternal services is impacted most severely at the peak of the floods, but modelling monthly

timesteps of the intermediate flood rise and recession stages identified further patterns regarding the onset and cessation of inaccessibility for different floodplain populations to different services. Those located on the floodplain are disproportionately impacted relative to those living closer to the escarpment, indicating floods worsen existing health access inequity in the area. Populations in the tributary valleys and on the floodplain north-west of the Zambezi were impacted earlier and for longer due to fewer services positioned close to them, and the vulnerability of key infrastructure used to access facilities. During flood months, the inaccessibility of women to reach delivery sites and to receive a timely referral (<1 hr driving time) is greatly increased compared to the dry season. The new raster-based approach was compared with an example of a typical previous static approach modelled for the area using flood extents, considering access to be represented using only a "wet" and "dry" season scenario. This comparison highlighted the inadequacy of former static dry/wet approaches in understanding access across an entire hydrological year, and the use of flood model variables was shown to recreate the extent of floodwaters seen in satellite imagery resulting in an increased proportion of the population being identified as inaccessible in April 2018 compared with the previous approach.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION: Understanding dynamic flood inundation impacts on health service access

A new geospatial framework was created which successfully incorporated dynamic representation of floodwater inundation into network-based and raster-based models assessing vehicular and walking access to services (**Objective 1 - O1**). The new framework was applied to the Barotse Floodplain as a case study, and additional, unprecedented research power was demonstrated through modelling monthly dynamic changes in access occurring between October 2017 and October 2018 as a result of annual floodwave passage through the floodplain (**O2**). Access to all healthcare facilities and to maternal services was shown to be impacted by floodwaters as they changed through the course of the wet season, but impacts were neither spatially nor temporally uniform due to the population (**O3**). Through the consideration of monthly floodwater changes, substantial impacts to access could be dated by month of onset and resolution, and populations were identified that were disproportionately more vulnerable as a result.

Section 5.1 compares this study's results of flood impacts on access with previous findings for other regions, emphasizing the importance of a spatio-temporal approach. The implications of the results and their relevance for any intervention planning on the Barotse Floodplain are then discussed, followed by an assessment of the accuracy of the framework in recreating observed access impacts on the floodplain. The section concludes by considering the parameterisation of the floodwater variables in the framework. Section 5.2 then directly compares the new framework's method with previous approaches, focusing on the usage of hydrodynamic model outputs over remotely-sensed flood extents and the appropriateness of the floodwater parameter values used. Section 5.3 describes the wider significance of the framework, its specific advantages, and how it can be used as a strategic tool. Finally, Sections 5.4 and 5.5 then discuss the limitations of the research and outline areas for future research

5.1. Evaluation of model performance

5.1.1. Impact of floods on access to care

In all scenarios, floods exerted a clear control on access to healthcare in the Barotse Floodplain by both increasing travel times and isolating populations. Access to all facilities and to all maternal services was optimum in the dry season month of October 2017 and most impacted during the peak of the floods in March 2018. The substantial decline in access observed between these two months is similar to previous study findings and anecdotal observations that floods substantially reduce access (Schatz 2008; Alderman *et al.*, 2012; Makanga *et al.*, 2017; Codjoe *et al.*, 2020; Espinet Alegre *et al.*, 2020).

In Niger, Blanford et al. (2012) found the proportion of the population with walking access within one hour to their nearest facility declined from 39% in their static dry season scenario to 24% in their static wet season scenario. Comparatively, in the Barotse Floodplain, the proportion of the entire population with walking access within one hour to their nearest facility declined from 40% in October 2017 to between 25-29% in March 2018 depending on the scenario (i.e., whether all floodwaters acted as total barriers). These declines are similar in magnitude, but substantially greater uncertainty exists regarding how representative the findings of Blanford et al. (2012) are due to their overly-simplistic method that systematically reduced all travel times to create the "wet season scenario". Rather than explicitly model any floodwaters (even the use of remotely-sensed extents were not considered in their study), their approach assumed that the entire of Niger was uniformly affected rather than directly account for seasonal impacts occurring at a specific place and time as was performed in this study. Models that simply reduce travel speeds (e.g., Verburg et al., 2004; Schoeps et al., 2011; Blanford et al., 2012; Lubamba et al., 2013) consider changes in wet season access as a direct function of dry season impedances. Such models are of little operational use as they poorly represent the real physical processes that limit access in the real world where seasonal impacts may be highly localised as was demonstrated in this study.

In southern Mozambique, Makanga *et al.* (2017) found the proportion of pregnant women with walking access within one hour to their nearest facility declined from 46% in the month with most optimal access to 37% in the most impacted month. A direct comparison cannot be made with this figure as there were no data on pregnant women in 2018 for the Barotse Floodplain; instead, women of reproductive age were substituted in models assessing access to maternal healthcare. However, a similar pattern was observed in that 31% of women had access within one hour to their nearest facility in October 2017 which declined to 18% in March 2018.

Both this study and Makanga et al. (2017) modelled changes in access monthly. Makanga et al. (2017) modelled access changes over 17 months for Mozambique, using remotely-sensed flood extents and rasters of empirical precipitation data obtained daily between March 2013 and October 2014 to create their impedance surfaces. Any area intersected by a flood extent was considered completely impassable by Makanga et al. (2017), but roads with precipitation above 1 mm had their travel speeds reduced according to a threshold (Zhang et al., 2011). Makanga et al. (2017) found that access continually changed due to precipitation over their 17-month study period, and this study also found that access in the Barotse Floodplain substantially fluctuated monthly due to floodwaters throughout the 2018 hydrological year. Substantial spatio-temporal variations in access were found in this study that could not have been represented by modelling access as a static "dry" or "wet" season scenario as with previous approaches. For example, access to facilities offering EmOC or MWS was first impacted in December 2017, a month earlier than access to delivery sites, and restoration of access to pre-flood levels similarly lagged behind the recovery of delivery sites. These variations occurred due to early floodwater development and late floodwater recession in the Luanginga and Luena Valleys, which consequently compounded access of the populations to the limited number of locations offering these services for the area. These patterns were revealed and interpreted due to the monthly temporal resolution employed in this study; one "dry" and one "wet" season result were shown to be unable to recognise the onset and duration of these impacts. Consequently, this study arrives at a similar conclusion to Makanga et al. (2017) that access fluctuates more than can be visualised through a "wet" and "dry" season scenario. This study emphasises the importance of considering intermediate months of flood rise and recession to derive additional information on changes in access that will be of importance for health intervention planning (Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009). Spatio-temporal incorporation of floodwater variables is necessary for adequate representation of their impact on access for a region and to produce operational outputs that highlight the most vulnerable populations, and when and where to distribute additional resources in advance to facilities whose supply chains may be restricted during flood months.

Additionally, between 47-66% of the total population on the Barotse Floodplain were estimated to become completely inaccessible at the peak of the floods in March 2018, representing a large proportion of the population being isolated, although some uncertainty exists regarding this value due to the Lozi practicing transhumance (see Section 5.4.3). Comparatively in rural Cambodia, Espinet Alegre *et al.* (2020) estimated that 27% of the population were inaccessible at the worst of flood impacts. Floodplain populations likely suffer greater vulnerability in becoming isolated due to floodwater impacts than typical in seasonally-affected rural regions because of their positioning in relation to infrastructure, but as few have directly quantified isolation in studies, this interpretation

101

requires further studies to be conducted. Regardless, population who were already located the furthest away from healthcare facilities on the floodplain were found to be disproportionately impacted relative to those living closer, in agreement with previous findings (Schatz, 2008; Makanga *et al.*, 2017).

5.1.2. Importance of findings for the region

Access to healthcare services in the Barotse Floodplain is compounded by the annual floodwave passage. However, even in the most optimal month in the dry season, access to emergency services is poor. A benchmark was set by Meara et al. (2015) that 80% of populations should have timely access (defined as within 2 hours) to surgical services. The two hour threshold is important as it recognises the point at which increased morbidities typically occur in medical emergencies, such as postpartum haemorrhage, in the absence of appropriate medical intervention (WHO, 2009; Rudolfson et al., 2020). In October 2017, only 14% of the floodplain population have timely access to a hospital, and only 19% of women have timely access to EmOC. These values are far below the benchmark set but are also worse than aggregated national and continental averages. Ouma et al. (2018) estimated that 29% of Sub-Saharan Africa is unable to reach a hospital within two hours, of which 40% of Zambians lack timely access; comparatively, 86% of the Barotse Floodplain were calculated here to lack timely access. Rural populations have commonly been shown to utilise services less than their urban counterparts due to increased geographical difficulty in reaching care (Gage 2007; Kyei et al., 2012; Tatem et al., 2014; Mupwanyiwa et al., 2020; Vasudevan et al., 2020), and consequently geographic access may be also acting as a significant barrier to healthcare uptake in the Barotse Floodplain.

The inability of the population to reach emergency medical services in a timely manner even under the most optimal access conditions represents a critical concern as poor geographical access has regularly been linked to increased morbidities and mortalities (Phalkey *et al.*, 2012; Manongi *et al.*, 2014; Rodrígues-Espíndola and Gaytán, 2015). Floods were shown to further compound access on the floodplain through increased travel times and inaccessibility which further worsens inequity in access to healthcare, so interventions and strategies are required to increase accessibility in the dry season whilst mitigating for the annual effects of floodwaters.

Access to maternal services was specifically modelled in this study, and the ability of women to reach maternal health services has routinely been acknowledged as an effective strategy in reducing maternal mortality (Mpembeni *et al.*, 2007; Simkhada *et al.*, 2008; Stone *et al.*, 2020). However, decreased uptake of maternal services has been correlated with decreases in geographic

Discussion

accessibility (Ruktanonchai *et al.*, 2016). In Zambia, Gabrysch *et al.* (2011a) found that only a third of rural Zambian births occurred in healthcare facilities due to geographical impedances, and births were less likely to occur in a facility in the wet season. Direct maternal deaths have been correlated with long travel distances (Hanson *et al.*, 2015), and Stone *et al.* (2020) estimated increased neonatal and maternal deaths as a consequence of facility births being 6% lower in the wet season in Mozambique. Consequently, floods may be increasing maternal mortality during the wet season in the Barotse Floodplain by further compounding the inability of women to reach maternal services and increasing vehicular referral times between delivery sites to EmOC on the road network. The results here showing poor potential geographic access to emergency services necessitate further consideration; their interpretation with data on health services uptake and morbidities and mortalities is needed to identify the relative importance of geographic access for any future health intervention planning such as strategies aimed to reduce maternal mortalities.

Potential geographic access to other services was not analysed in this study; however, floodwater impacts will have implications for access to all services as demonstrated by the impacted ability of populations to reach any facility as floodwaters progress. In addition to maternal mortality, HIV has been identified as a key concern in Western Province and for the Barotse Floodplain. Lankowski *et al.* (2014) recognised poor geographic access was associated with poor HIV outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa in their analysis of 66 studies. Antiretroviral treatment (ART) needs to be taken daily to control HIV infection (Schatz, 2008) and access to HIV testing and counselling (HTC) services is important for diagnosing and treating patients at earlier stages of infection in addition to educating populations for the prevention of future HIV transmission. Consequently, the impacts of floods on the inability of populations to reach facilities where they can obtain ART and HTC or on the continued supply of ART medications to healthcare facilities warrants additional investigation. The framework can be used to model walking access to key HIV services and to identify facilities which are at risk of medicine stock-outs if floodwaters cut-off their road access.

5.1.3. Accuracy of the model in representing access

No studies have modelled access to any services in the Barotse Floodplain before, which prevents comparing results to previous models of the region. However, limited qualitative data exists where observations have anecdotally reported inundation patterns and impacts on access. This study's results for the Barotse Floodplain were compared with these previous findings, and overall the results recreated real access patterns well. However, these interpretations are precarious due to the lack of comparison data.

Ascertaining the accuracy of the hydrodynamic model used is important as it provided the variables that influenced the results of the access models. Large African floodplains similar to the Barotse Floodplain have complex hydrology, and limited understanding of hydrological systems and poor availability and quality of data has created difficulty in building two-dimensional models that can adequately represent them (Hughes, 1990; Beven, 2007; Tshimanga *et al.*, 2011; Pedinotti *et al.*, 2012; Cohen Liechti *et al.*, 2014a; Cohen Liechti *et al.*, 2014b; Komi *et al.*, 2017; Grimaldi *et al.*, 2019). Consequently, a hydrodynamic model that poorly represents floodwave passage will cause the coupled access model to poorly represent the impacts of floodwaters on access.

Generally, the hydrodynamic model used to provide floodwater variable captures the dynamics of floodwave passage well. The model best represents inundation at the peak of the floods $(F^2 = 0.62)$, and modelled discharge at Senanga is similar to observed data but predicts peak discharge to occur 2 days earlier and 12% greater than recorded (Willis et al., in press). Performance is worse during the rise and recession of floodwaters ($F^2 = 0.1$), but this could reflect the accuracy of Landsat data (used in evaluation) as areas of "over-prediction" were close to the Zambezi and shown in ground-truthing to be dominated by vegetation which are likely to be inundated but difficult to detect (Hardy et al., 2020). Regardless, inundation patterns are still similar to what has been observed and reported anecdotally. Tributary valleys are inundated earlier than the floodplain as reported by IUCN (2003), which consequently relates to the earlier onset of impact to access in the Luena Flats and Luanginga Valley. In the Luena Flats, the hydrodynamic model finds that the floodwaters persist for longer in agreement with previous observations mapped using Sentinel-1 radar images (Hardy et al., 2019). The peak of the floods is modelled to occur in March 2018 as represented by the greatest mean depth in this month and the larger impact on access. Hardy et al. (2019) identified the average floodwave peak to occur in early April 2018, but the hydrodynamic model does find substantial flooding in both March and April with minimal difference in their extent, depths, and subsequent impact on access.

The access models reproduced key impacts from floodwaters that have been previously reported in the literature. ZVDI (2010) reported that roads connecting to Kalabo in the Luanginga Valley typically become completely impassable from December onwards due to their early inundation. This impact was well-represented in the NFW (not walking through floodwaters) and maternal access scenarios where the floodplain populations living within the river-locked, north-western Baroste Floodplain and on the Luanginga Valley were identified as unable to reach services in Kalabo from December 2017 onwards due to inundation of roads in the Luanginga Valley. The FW (walking through floodwaters permitted) scenario also recognised that these populations were unable to access services in Kalabo for many months, but it modelled inaccessibility as first occurring in January 2018

instead. Whilst early inundation of roads did increase travel times, the route was not considered completely inaccessible as depths were shallow and thus not considered hazardous. However, the FW scenario predicted restoration in access to services in Kalabo from June 2018 onwards, in agreement with ZVDI (2010) which states June is the month the roads become usable again. In contrast, the NFW and maternal scenarios continue to model the roads as impassable beyond June and October 2018 due to the persisting floodwaters that remain in the valley. Evidently, the different parameterisations of the access models causes the scenario variants to successfully capture different parts of the patterns described by ZVDI (2010). The floods in 2018 were the largest experienced by the Barotse Floodplain in recent years, which makes it difficult to ascertain whether the NFW model was conservative in predicting restoration in access, or whether it accurately represented that inundation in 2018 impacted access for longer than in typical years.

Floodwaters are still modelled as present on the floodplain in August 2018, and all access models recognise some persisting impacts on access as a result. This agrees with Del Río (2014) whose study participants reported that access on the floodplain remained impeded in August due to the presence of floodwaters. However, the NFW and FW models differ in their prediction of the relative magnitude of impact. The NFW scenarios predict an increased inaccessibility and access impact relative to the FW scenario which predicts that, whilst localised impacts to access persist, access has otherwise nearly restored to pre-flood conditions.

The differences in predictions between the NFW and FW models occurs due to their contrasting parametrisations. The NFW model represents the most conservative model, where no floodwater parameters are used and all floodwaters act as complete barriers. In contrast, the FW model calculates flood hazard and allows populations to walk through floodwaters deemed low hazard instead of considering all floodwaters to be barriers. Together, the NFW and FW represent the lower and upper boundaries respectively on flood impacts on access. This constricts uncertainty in model predictions between two values based upon alternative representations of what access may look like for populations willing to wade through floodwaters and those that are not or cannot. Cost-distance algorithms do not measure error or uncertainty in their predictions (Le Roux *et al.*, 2019) so previous studies have similarly created uncertainty intervals by varying their travel speed parameters between two boundaries (Tansley *et al.*, 2016; Le Roux *et al.*, 2019; Schmitz *et al.*, 2019; Hierink *et al.*, 2020; Macharia *et al.*, 2021). This approach is more beneficial in providing policy planners with a range of possible access scenarios, allowing them to assess how much uncertainty exists.

5.2. Comparison to previous approaches

5.2.1. Use of hydrodynamic model outputs instead of remotely-sensed flood extents

Floodwaters cause substantial drops in accessibility and the spatio-temporal variations that occur over the course of a hydrological year are not adequately represented through consideration of just a static "dry" season and static "wet" season. As demonstrated in this study, the intermediate months are important for providing additional information regarding the onset of flood impacts on access, identifying which populations are more vulnerable and experience greater impacts relative to others, and for directly relating the changes in floodwater dynamics with changing access; this information can be directly incorporated into health plans preparing for flood impacts, such as supplying additional resources to vulnerable health facilities ahead of predicted impact. The new framework, consequently, is of greater relevance for health intervention where plans need to be designed to improve access year-round; previous static approaches are simply not robust enough for revealing the same complexities in access. As a result, representing floodwaters as they change through space and time is a significant advantage but data are required to achieve this. To model floodwater changes, floodwater data needs to be representative and reliably available at an appropriate temporal resolution.

Previous studies that have considered floodwater impacts on access have relied on flood extents from satellite imagery. Most notably, Makanga *et al.* (2017) took daily remotely-sensed flood extents and incorporated them into their spatio-temporal access model for southern Mozambique. Flood extents have been used previously as they are can be freely- and readily-obtained from different sources, and can be made available as early as a week after a flood event has occurred (Sharma *et al.*, 2016). However, flood extents from satellites are subject to observational biases which are rarely mentioned in studies who assume that their flood extents are entirely representative of actual flood extents.

Optical sensors are sensitive to cloud cover, and both optical and radar sensors experience difficulty in detecting vegetated waters. Post-processing methods exist to reduce bias, but extents derived will still retain some bias and consequently miss real sections of flooding (Bernhofen *et al.*, 2018). Dense cloud presence in the rainy season and vegetated floodwaters were identified as significant barriers to the collection of regular flood extents for the Barotse Floodplain. Both Zimba *et al.* (2018) and Cai *et al.* (2017) reported difficulty in obtaining cloud-free imagery due to persistent cloud coverage in the rising stage and peak of the floodwaters. Similarly, this study recognised extensive cloud cover in MODIS imagery for March and April 2018. Even though MODIS has a temporal

106

Discussion

resolution of 1-2 days which has been claimed as temporally adequate for collating information in the rainy season (Chen *et al.*, 2013, Zimba *et al.*, 2018), readily-available extent from NASA's NRT (near real-time) flood maps (produced from MODIS imagery) were unavailable for the entire duration of March 2018 because of persistent cloud cover. The first extent available that represented peak floodwaters was only obtained between the 15th-17th of April 2018, the first days to have no cloud cover above the floodplain. This extent then missed real flooding (identified in observations of the corresponding satellite image) in the central axis of the floodplain and in the Luena Valley, likely due to these waters being vegetated which is a known systematic limitation in the production of the extent products (Nigro *et al.*, 2014). When compared against the access models using hydrodynamic model inputs, the access models using the extent were shown to underestimate inaccessibility and overestimate the proportion of the population with timely access to healthcare. As a consequence, observational biases (Mateo-Garcia *et al.*, 2021) limit the current usefulness of using satellite-derived flood extents as a reliable source of floodwater information for input into spatio-temporal access models. The data quality may be poor or entirely non-existent during the rainy season when obtaining accurate floodwater information is most crucial.

Hydrodynamic models are not subject to the same observational biases, can provide reliable flood information (if accurate) at the temporal resolution of the modeller's choosing, and also provide floodwater depths and velocities which can be used to better assess flood hazard rather than assuming all floodwaters are equally inaccessible (Smith *et al.*, 2015; Trinh and Molkenthin, 2021). Movement through floodwaters is complicated due to the different forces exerted on a body or car through space and time, and weighting shallow waters as equally impactful on driving and walking abilities simplifies reality. The usage of outputs from LISFLOOD-FP in this study incorporated real-world flood complexity into the access results, and the sensitivity analysis revealed that depth was more important than velocity in the floodplain for controlling access on the floodplain. Consequently, the use of a flood model as demonstrated in this study clearly offers new advantages in identifying which flood variables are more important in affecting access and in modelling flood hazard for different scenarios and population characteristics.

The approach using hydrodynamic model inputs also offers predictive capabilities as potential future floods can be modelled (Jha and Afreen, 2020; Mudashiru *et al.*, 2021). Whilst mapping observed extents provides information on past floods, hydrodynamic models can be used to simulate future flood scenarios (e.g., Robi *et al.*, 2019; Liew *et al.*, 2021); obtained floodwater variables from these future scenarios can be incorporated into geographic access models and used to inform future decision-making about impacts to health access, and could even potentially be used to create early warning systems. The ability to predict flood impacts in addition to modelling those that have already

occurred in the past is becoming increasingly more important. Over the next decade, climate change will alter the prevalence, magnitude, and timings of floods (Zimba *et al.*, 2018; Chomba *et al.*, 2021 IPCC, 2021); this threatens health system resilience and necessitates approaches that can assess where flood impacts may worsen the ability of populations to reach care, prevent referrals from occurring, and hinder healthcare facilities from receiving the equipment and medicines they require to provide good quality of care.

In the short-term, the Covid-19 pandemic has emphasised the importance of having a spatiotemporal modelling approach that considers floodwater impacts. Low-income, rural areas have already been identified as containing additional access challenges which limits abilities to strategise and respond to pandemics and epidemics (Porter, 2002; Espinet Alegre et al., 2020; Ogunkola et al., 2020); seasonal rain and floods are one such substantial challenge. For example, Mensah et al. (2019) found that healthcare facilities in Madagascar which were able to maintain a continuous supply of measles vaccines in the rainy season had the fewest number of unvaccinated children within their catchments. Additionally, low-income regions such as sub-Saharan Africa are disproportionately burdened by the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly as their mitigation strategies for other diseases such as malaria, HIV, and tuberculosis have become further strained (Elebesunu et al., 2021; Ogunbiyi, 2021; Tessema and Nkengasong, 2021). The framework developed here could be used to manage Covid-19 response in low-income countries affected by seasonal flooding through the continuous modelling and quantification of predicted flood impacts on access. This could be of use for: (1) assessing vaccine uptake, including the ability of populations to reach vaccination centres and for health facilities to receive vaccine deliveries; (2) ensuring Covid-19 patients can access appropriate treatment and can be referred if they need specialist care (Denhard et al., 2021); (3) preventing disruption in access to critical health services and provision of resources for other diseases, such as antimalarial and antiretroviral medicines, to ensure morbidities and mortalities do not increase (Weiss et al., 2020b; Assefa et al., 2021; Hamer, 2021).

It is recognised that creating a hydrodynamic model to couple with an access model represents a significant undertaking due to the additional time investment and considerations required to set up and parameterise such a model, especially in data-limited regions where sufficient hydrological and topographical information may not be of good temporal and spatial quality to be able to adequately represent floodwave passage (Karim *et al.*, 2011). These limitations are becoming less restrictive, particularly due to the provision of free and low-cost topography data (Mukolwe *et al.*, 2016), and methodological innovations such as sub-grid modelling which allows representation of features smaller than the resolution of DEMs in data-restricted areas (Neal *et al.*, 2012; Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Shastry *et al.*, 2020); for example, canals on the Barotse Floodplain were modelled using the

Discussion

sub-grid approach (Willis *et al., in press*). Global flood models (GFMs) are a potential alternative source of hydrodynamic data; advancements in computing power and the availability of global data have facilitated their rapid recent development (e.g., Yamazaki *et al.,* 2017; Allen and Pavelsky, 2018), permitting simulations within reasonable costs and time (Ward *et al.,* 2015). However, as with any model, an access model's outputs are only as good as its inputs so an access model run with outputs from an ill-representative model would not be more advantageous. GFMs have accuracy and resolution limitations that have been well-documented in the literature which limit their current application (Sampson *et al.,* 2015; Sampson *et al.,* 2016; Trigg *et al.,* 2016; Hoch and Trigg, 2019); as a result, the use of flood extents remain likely to be the main form of incorporating flood data into access models for now. Thus, optimising abilities to obtain flood extents reliably at sufficient temporal and spatial resolutions is important.

The Landsat-based approach of TropWet (Hardy *et al.*, 2020) has been recently developed showing greater accuracy in distinguishing between open and vegetated waters in grassland environments. The Landsat archive has greater spatial resolution than MODIS and more accurately represents inundation (Chen *et al.*, 2013), although its revisit period is longer at 16-days. Such a tool could be used to take advantage of the Landsat archive and provide more accurate flood extents across seasonal timespans for incorporation into spatio-temporal access models; for example, computing geographic access over multiple years to derive an average baseline of flood impact. The results produced would be analogous to those created in the NFW scenario and would be vastly superior to the static approaches using extents more afflicted by observational biases, even if the same level of complexity in modelling hazard as derived in this study is not obtainable.

5.2.2. Walking through floodwaters

Nearly all studies who incorporate satellite-derived flood extents consider the extents to represent impassable waterbodies. Hierink *et al.* (2020), however, obtained flood extent shapefiles from Sentinel-1 for two tropical cyclone events that occurred in Mozambique and modelled access before and after cyclone impact. In some scenarios representing one week after cyclone impact, Hierink *et al.* (2020) modelled all flooded areas as being passable with walking speeds of 1.5 km hr⁻¹ without consideration of the relative hazard of floodwaters; no additional hydrodynamic information beyond extent was used to assess flood risk. The new framework developed in this study directly considers flood depth and velocity when assessing hazard. This better represents the realities of floodwaters whose hazard is neither spatially nor temporally uniform. In this study, where populations were modelled to walk through floodwaters when allowed, a lower walking speed of 1 km hr⁻¹ was

used; this was chosen to be lower than the self-reported floodwater walking speeds in Kaneda *et al.*, (2014) which were between 1.2 and 2.4 km hr⁻¹. Hierink *et al.* (2020) were the first to model changes in geographic access after a disaster, but their approach in allowing all floodwaters to be traversable during flood recession does not recognise any continued hazard as the new framework is capable of. As a consequence, the framework is also of relevance for modelling geographical access throughout disasters with a flooding element.

5.2.3. Comparison of floodwater parameters with those used in hazard mapping

As floodwater depths and velocities have never been incorporated into cost-distance algorithms previously, it is not possible to compare the framework's method for assessing floodwater safety using them as variables. However, hydrodynamic model outputs have been used to make flood hazard maps previously (Poretti and De Amicis, 2011; Aronica *et al.*, 2012; Moya Quirogaa *et al.*, 2016), including for the lower Mono basin in Togo, West Africa (Ntajal *et al.*, 2016) and for the Chipembe Dam in Mozambique (Álvarez *et al.*, 2017). These studies represent the closest analogue available to which the new framework for incorporating floodwater variables into cost-distance algorithms can be compared to assess the wider applicability of the approach. Different floodwater parameter settings alter the representation of floodwater hazard, and thus vary representations of access; this was evidenced in the differences between the FW and NFW access scenarios. Consequently, it is necessary to ensure that these parameters are locally-appropriate to the region which they are being applied to.

A sensitivity analysis was used in this study to investigate how changing the H_{max} (maximum water depth threshold) and V_{max} (maximum velocity threshold) altered access model behaviour. The 0.5 m H_{max} and 0.5 m s⁻¹ V_{max} derived in this study were also commonly used to denote the boundary of low hazard in other flood hazard studies including for a riverine floodplain in Bolivia (Moya Quirogaa *et al.*, 2016) and the surrounding area of Chipembe Dam in northern Mozambique (Álvarez *et al.*, 2017). This suggests these H_{max} and V_{max} values may be widely applicable, likely as they are sourced from the human instability literature and thus represent absolute upper boundaries of human stability.

This study used a HV_c (critical depth-velocity criteria) of 0.53 m² s⁻¹ based on the calculation of the Karvonen equation under normal conditions for the typical height and weight of a Zambian girl. Álvarez *et al.* (2017) stated HVs (depth-velocity products) above 0.5 m² s⁻¹ constituted high hazard and HVs needed to be below 0.25 m² s⁻¹ to be considered low hazard, thus this study applied a HV_c deemed to be too hazardous according to their hazard determination. HV_c derived experimentally have ranged between 0.6 to 2 m² s⁻¹ (Jonkman *et al.*, 2008), and a HV_c of 0.5 m² s⁻¹ has been typically recommended as an upper threshold distinguishing low hazard. As a result, Álvarez *et al.*, (2017)'s choice of *HV*_c is conservative, although this is not a limitation; *HV*_c derived from flume experiments represent idealised conditions of flood hazard (Abt *et al.*, 1989; Xia *et al.*, 2014a) so opting for lower values may reduce perceived risk of overestimating stability in floodwaters. Moya Quirogaa *et al.*, (2016) ignored HVc entirely, stating that the usage of *HV*s alone was inappropriate in their floodplain due to the deep floods and low velocities of floodwaters. Instead, Moya Quirogaa *et al.*, 2016 relied on floodwater depth alone to determine hazard.

Evidently, the choice of HV_c or whether to use it at all differs depending on location as well as the modeller's personal perception of hazard, but this study agrees with Moya Quirogaa *et al.* (2016) that considering HV_c alone is inappropriate in floodplain environments where deep depths and low velocities can produce HV_s misrepresentative of hazard. The framework developed in this study is robust in using H_{max} , V_{max} , and HV_c to comprehensively ensure access is accounted for. All three are parameterisable and optional which gives the new framework flexibility and widens its applicability.

5.3. Importance of the new framework

The results show that national-scale evaluations of access may mask subnational variations in access for complex environments such as floodplains, and are thus of limited use for identifying and resolving geographical access issues. Precise representation of access at smaller scales is necessary as health interventions are typically operationalised at provincial or district level (Roder-DeWan *et al.*, 2020). Consequently, the framework created in this study is significant as it provides a method in which flood impacts on access can be represented with a high level of spatio-temporal detail, providing an operational tool for this health access modelling niche. Increasing the spatial and temporal resolution of access models is arguably of more relevance for health intervention planning as approaches can be developed more strategically to mitigate inequity for the most vulnerable populations. Through modelling access spatio-temporally, more evidence is provided to justify decisions, such as where investments of limited resources will yield the greatest cost-benefit.

Stark contrast in geographical access and subsequently health service uptake has been identified between urban and rural areas (Hosseinpoor *et al.*, 2007; Fisseha *et al.*, 2017; Debie *et al.*, 2019; Kpienbaareh *et al.*, 2019), and this study has further compiled evidence that populations exposed to annual flooding experience disproportionate inequity in accessing care due to the impact of floods. If interventions are to be designed which can reduce inequity for those affected by seasonal floods, producing higher spatial and temporal representations of access is necessary. This framework

developed is thus a tool for achieving this, and represents a significant advancement of access modelling for low-income regions which are where the majority of floods with substantial impacts on health occur. The framework has been demonstrated for the Barotse Floodplain where it has provided novel understanding of health access, but the framework can be employed widely to other regions.

5.3.1. Raster-based model

As far as the author is aware, this study represents the first time that floodwater variables from a hydrodynamic model have been incorporated into a cost-distance algorithm to assess access to healthcare. Through direct representation of flood hazard as revealed by water depth and velocity, the new approach is able to assess flood impacts on access as a function of human stability. This has permitted more precise representation of how changes in floodwaters across space and time directly impact access, when compared to previous approaches.

Whilst the framework was specifically applied to the Barotse Floodplain as a case study, the framework has global significance. The framework is of relevance for any region which experiences substantial flooding, and its approach can (and should) be adapted to suit the data requirements and characteristics of different locations. In the absence of available hydrodynamic inputs, the framework is still able to incorporate floodwater extent, and all travel time and floodwater parameters can be modified as deemed appropriate for a study region. Whilst the framework was developed with consideration to the characteristics of large African floodplains, other flood events can be considered. For example Moya Quirogaa *et al.*, (2016) assessed flood risk for an inland riverine flood event for a Bolivian floodplain in South America, whose flood characteristics consisted of deep depths, low velocities, and a duration of a few days. With a sensitivity analysis to determine appropriate parameters, and obtaining data at a higher temporal resolution, the framework could be appropriately applied for similar events in South American floodplains. Hence, the new framework has wide applicability, and its usage does not need to be restricted to modelling just healthcare access; it can be used to model access to any service of interest.

5.3.2. Vector-based model

Hydrodynamic model outputs have been used in network analysis before, but never in a rural, low-income and data-limited region such as the Barotse Floodplain. The framework developed in this study provides a methodology for incorporating floodwater variables into network analysis operational in low-income, data-limited regions. The network-based model features functions of the

more sophisticated approaches operated in high-income regions as it is able to account for flood impacts through both closure of roads and reduced speeds along roads using both depth and velocity information. However, unlike the methods operated in urban, high-income regions, the new vector framework is simplified and its assumptions are appropriate for it to be used in rural, unpaved environments. Consequently, the new network-based framework allows researchers in low-income and data-restricted study regions to experience increased research power in being able to locate specific vulnerabilities in network infrastructure and to assess the onset and persistence of flood impacts in relation to their study interest.

Network analysis has been historically underutilised in low-income environments as studies have focused on the ability of populations to arrive at facilities; as populations typically rely on multiple forms of transport, a raster-based model is normally deemed more appropriate for being able to represent travel off-road. However, network analysis has advantages for investigating the operational side of healthcare systems (e.g., Bailey *et al.*, 2011; Chowdhury *et al.*, 2018). In this study, vehicular referral times to emergency care were investigated. The modified network analysis approach could also be used to investigate the effects of floods on medical supply deliveries. Facilities could be identified which may become unable to receive deliveries during flood months and are thus at risk of stock-outs which would have detrimental impacts on patients (e.g., HIV patients reliant on ART). Consequently, the development of the vector-based framework in this study allows exploration of infrastructure- and system-functioning of health facilities.

5.4. Limitations

5.4.1. Data constraints

Difficulty was experienced in obtaining suitable datasets to be used in both the raster- and vector-based models. This is not a limitation caused by the framework, but instead reflects the wider issue in acquiring GIS data for health studies in low-income regions as noted previously (Makanga *et al.*, 2016a). In this study, data constraints pertained to the acquirement of roads, bridges and water crossings, and health services data.

No complete dataset existed that detailed the **road network** of the Barotse Floodplain. OpenStreetMap contained relatively good coverage of roads beyond the floodplain escarpment but gaps still existed; very little of the informal, community-level tracks on the floodplain were detailed (Figure 3.4). As a consequence, all roads had to be delineated from composite satellite images sourced from Google Earth and Bing Maps. Makanga *et al.* (2016b) also found large gaps in OSM coverage in

Mozambique and similarly resorted to manual delineation of roads; the approach is common in lowand middle-income data regions where large areas of roads have gone undocumented (Laurance *et al.*, 2014). Generally, there was good availability of images but composite datasets vary in quality, particularly in dynamic environments, and some images were unusable. Occasionally, images suitable for delineating roads within an area could not be obtained in either Google Earth or Bing Maps which incurred uncertainty in identifying road presence within small areas across the floodplain.

Additionally, difficulties were experienced in distinguishing between sandy tracks and canals infilled with sediment due to their visual similarity, and elevated roads could not be detected. Overall, however, the solution of delineating roads was successful in producing the most complete road network dataset to be used in both vector- and-raster based access models. Manual digitisation has been facilitated as an approach due to it becoming easier and cheaper with the availability of high-resolution and recent composite satellite images (Makanga *et al.*, 2016a; Makanga *et al.*, 2016b), but doing so still represents a significant burden experienced in low- and middle-income data-sparse regions. The increasing availability of high-resolution satellite imagery has facilitated attempts to automatically delineate roads using machine and deep learning approaches (Miao *et al.*, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2016; Singh *et al.*, 2020; Soni *et al.*, 2021); the potential for such approaches to be adapted and rolled out across data-sparse rural regions in the future would help substantially reduce the need for manual digitisation.

As with the road network, few data existed on the **presence of bridges and water crossings** on the floodplains. As a consequence, all waterbodies were traced in satellite imagery to manually delineate crossing locations. Bridges and water crossings have a large influence on access due to permanent waterbodies acting as significant topological barriers; in some locations, a crossing may act as the only accessible way across a river for many kilometres. Study participants in Nhemachena *et al.* (2011) specifically singled out bridges and water crossing as influential infrastructure in Limpopo, South Africa as, when seasonally inundated, access was restricted across them to schools, shops, and healthcare centres. Whilst all bridges and water crossings identified on satellite imagery were recorded, some uncertainty remains regarding whether all were captured. Blanford *et al.* (2012) experienced similar difficulties with collating information on the presence of bridges due to a lack of data.

It has been continually noted that there is a lack of **information on the geolocation of facilities in Africa and the services they offer**. This has historically limited the application of access modelling (Blanford *et al.*, 2012; Ouma *et al.*, 2018; Ebener *et al.*, 2019; Weiss *et al.*, 2020a). An increase in the creation and availability of up-to-date master health facility lists (e.g., Maina *et al.*, 2019) has helped

Discussion

to reduce limitations regarding knowledge of the location of primary healthcare facilities. For example, the Zambian Ministry of Health website maintains a master health facility list which was last updated in 2019 and this provided the location of all facilities on and surrounding the floodplain, distinguished by health system level; comparison with previously recorded data from field investigations confirmed that these were accurate. However, the master facility list provided no information on the services offered by each facility. The only available services data identified originated from a 2012 report (MoH, 2012) which contained gaps in service data for newly-built facilities. This limited the ability of the study in considering access to specific services, as was also concluded as a limitation in Blanford *et al.*, (2012).

This study modelled access of women to EmOC, but the results are subject to large uncertainties. Firstly, it is not known whether additional EmOC sites were added to the floodplain since 2012. Secondly, what constitutes EmOC is vague in the 2012 list. EmOC sites can be either basic or comprehensive depending on how many of eight signal functions (Table 5.1) they offer (Gabrysch *et al.*, 2011b). As a result, the sites listed as offering EmOC cannot be distinguished. Ebener *et al.*, (2019) recommended three indicators be modelled to comprehensively assess access to EmOC: the proportion of women with timely access to (1) any EmOC and (2) comprehensive EmOC; and (3) the proportion of timely referral linkages between basic and comprehensive EmOC sites. In this study, it was only possible to model the first indicator without further data to discretise EmOC sites into categories. Tatem *et al.*, (2014) similarly recognised that a lack of service data hampered their ability to advance beyond simplistic models of general access to healthcare as specific scenarios could not be precisely explored without adequate information on the services provided at healthcare facilities.

Table 5.1. Classification of basic and emergency obstetric care based upon the signal functions available. Adapted from Gabrysch *et al.* (2011b).

Basic emergency obstetric care (BEmOC)

- Injectable antibiotics
- Injectable oxytocics
- Injectable anticonvulsants
- Manual removal of placenta
- Manual removal of retained products
- Assisted vaginal delivery

Comprehensive emergency obstetric care (CEmOC)

All of the above plus:

- Caesarean section
- Blood transfusion

5.4.2. Unimodality of approach

Whilst vehicular and walking access were considered in the case study, the two were considered separately in unimodal network- and raster-based models. In the network model, considering vehicular access alone was deemed appropriate for the purpose of modelling referral times in emergency vehicles between delivery sites and EmOC. However, rural, low-income populations have been commonly found in previous studies to rely on multiple modes of transport in order to access healthcare.

In the Barotse Floodplain, oxen-carts and boats have additionally been used as modes of transport across the region (Shela, 2000; Del Río, 2014; Rajaratnam *et al.*, 2015), but these were not considered in the study due to a lack of data on their usage which could be used to create and justify a multimodal approach. Oxen-carts have similar slow travel speeds to walking and are also constrained by the presence of floodwaters, so their explicit representation was not deemed necessary. However, boats are commonly used on the floodplain (Shela, 2000; Rajaratnam *et al.*, 2015), and these are able to navigate areas not accessible by walking. For example, in Del Río (2014), farmers reported that it was necessary to own a canoe to be able to navigate through the floodplain in the wet season across floodwaters and canals. In all scenarios, 3% of the population were recorded as always being unable to access healthcare due to being river-locked within the confinements of the Zambezi and an

Discussion

anabranching channel; no bridges were on either waterbody. However, these populations likely do have access to healthcare by substituting part of their journey with the use of dugout canoes. Consequently, assuming that canals and waterbodies act only as impassable barriers in the absence of a water crossing is inaccurate; they are known to facilitate transportation.

From the outset of this study, it was recognised that incorporation of boats as a form of access in the framework would be useful, but this was difficult to execute. Multimodal models require correct parameterisation in order for their results to be representative, and the lack of qualitative data collection on community behaviours and transportation habits caused uncertainty in deciding what was appropriate. Important considerations include: (1) identifying whether populations rely solely on a boat for an entire journey, or whether boats are combined with other modes of transport; (2) determining the appropriateness of any assumptions, such as whether it is reasonable to assume populations have a canoe readily-available that can be used to navigate floodwaters positioned kilometres away from their settlement; and (3) establishing household prevalence of boat ownership, and usage patterns (i.e., whether boats are used equally in all months). Implementing canoe transport into the raster-based framework also required additional knowledge on what water depth clearances are needed for a canoe to be able to use floodwaters, and for data to identify vegetated waters which act as barriers to canoe travel.

A dearth of research exists on boat access modelling (e.g., Salonen *et al.*, 2012; Makkonen *et al.*, 2013; Webster *et al.*, 2016; Chen *et al.*, 2017) despite that boats have been identified as a common mode of transport in many communities globally (Oppong, 1996; Schmid *et al.*, 2001; Salonen *et al.*, 2012; Makkonen *et al.*, 2013; Chen *et al.*, 2017). As with any multimodal model, the incorporation of boats into the raster-based framework required many additional considerations to be made (e.g., Tenkanen *et al.*, 2015). This substantial piece of research in itself was beyond the scope of this project. It was thus deemed more appropriate to keep the raster-based framework as unimodal currently to prevent incurring uncertainty that could not be adequately accounted for.

5.4.3. Transhumanance behaviours of the population

This study calculated a new estimate of the population of ~44,600 which is substantially lower than the most commonly-cited estimate of ~250,000. However, the Lozi exhibit transhumance, which creates difficulty in ascertaining their location at different months throughout the year. In this study, the population locations and densities derived from the HRSL dataset were assumed to remain static and consistent throughout the year despite it being known that the Lozi vacate the floodplain for portions of the year. Characterising movements of populations that are nomadic or exhibit

Discussion

transhumance is difficult, as was similarly reported as a limitation in Blanford *et al.* (2012) in Niger. In the absence of qualitative data to understand where people vacate to and how many remain on the floodplain and in what months, it was not possible to represent access with direct consideration of the dynamic movements of the Lozi. However, the greatest uncertainty in estimates of the Lozi population on the floodplain can be constrained due to the characteristics of Lozi movements. The BRE announces the Kuomboka festival each year, which dictates when Lozi will vacate the floodplain after their Litunga; this festival is typically held in March or April, although it may not take place at all if sufficient rain has not fallen and floodwaters are deemed shallow. In 2018, the Kuomboka festival was held on April 21st (Chabala, 2018) and Kufuluhela (the festival celebrating the return of the Lozi to the floodplain) was held on the 20th August (Lusaka Times, 2018). Consequently, for the scenarios modelled, uncertainty in population estimates is greatest between April and August.

Some populations will always remain on the floodplain, such as fishermen who reside isolated on floodplain levees to take advantage of fish (e.g., Lungu and Hüsken, 2010), so identifying access issues in all months remains important for targeting these populations. Future efforts are needed to obtain an accurate estimate of the population as it changes throughout the year as it is important for planning healthcare interventions and assessing health system usage. Floodplain settlements appear to have village "twins" which the Lozi vacate to, which necessitates an interdisciplinary mixed qualitative and quantitative methods approach that can understand these movements and map them. A new census is also currently underway which could be used to estimate the floodplain population again for 2021 provided the Covid-19 pandemic does not further impact its progression.

5.4.4. Validation of travel times and consideration of other access variables

Only potential geographic access was considered in this study, and the modelled travel times were not compared with actual travel times; this prevented ascertaining how representative the modelled travel times are of real journeys, and whether the parameterisation of the access models was appropriate. Van Duinen *et al.* (2020) compared the results from two different access models in Kenya with real travel times and found that the more conservative approach (Munoz and Källestål, 2012) better represented real travelled times than the less conservative approach (Ouma *et al.*, 2018). The availability of real travel times would have been useful in this study for further evaluating the success of the FW and NFW scenarios.

Populations are modelled as immediately starting healthcare journeys at the onset of a medical complication (i.e., no stage one delays), traveling at the same consistent speeds, and omnisciently knowing the fastest route to take. Modelled travel times are thus optimistic. Access is

Discussion

modelled to the nearest facility only, and all facilities are assumed to offer the same quality of care and to be adequately staffed. This may misrepresent access as populations may walk further if they perceive care to be better or more suitable at another facility (Penfold *et al.*, 2013; Roder-DeWan *et al.*, 2020; Mupwanyiwa *et al.*, 2020), and availability of qualified staff may vary throughout a region which influences service provision (Fogliati *et al.*, 2015; Faruk *et al.*, 2020). In the Barotse Floodplain, participants surveyed by Pasqualino *et al.* (2016) reported issues with quality of care received at some facilities such as inconsistent provision of ART, and stated that some facilities were only staffed by untrained community health workers. Populations are also assumed to receive appropriate care immediately on arrival, ignoring potential further delays in being treated by staff.

Measured walking speeds have been shown to vary throughout the day and in different weather conditions (Witt, 2012) but these were not accounted for. In general, the use of an average walking speed does not represent the multiple influences that affect the walking ability of a person (Bosina and Weidmann, 2017). Some populations, such as women in labour, may not be able to walk at all (Gabrysch and Campbell, 2009). The position of cars and humans in relation to oncoming flow was not modelled despite that instability may occur at lower thresholds depending on the orientation of oncoming flow (Teo *et al.*, 2012; Xia *et al.*, 2014c). Current understanding of how instability thresholds are modified based on slope and flow orientation remain incomplete for accounting for this effect. Walking times were also not reduced in the wet season due to a lack of data to parameterise the effects of precipitation on walking speeds. No discretion was made in either model about how floodwater impacts are likely to differ between paved and unpaved surfaces. Additionally, the 100 m spatial resolution of the hydrodynamic model is also a limitation as LISFLOOD-FP assumes flat topography within a cell, resulting in a constant cell water depth; this could obscure local depressions within the cell, such as wheel ruts, which could impede access.

Modelled referral times assumed that emergency vehicles were present at every location and immediately available to make referrals; this is a large assumption as these vehicles are rarely available in sub-Saharan Africa due to high running costs and their usage for other tasks in addition to transporting patients (Chen *et al.*, 2017). Vehicles were also assumed to be able to navigate along sandy tracks at the same travel speeds as other tracks, despite sandy terrain offering poor traction (Sinkala *et al.*, 2014). Communication between facilities is needed to arrange referrals (Ebener *et al.*, 2019), and all facilities were assumed to have operational communications equipment; failure or lack of equipment delaying or preventing referrals may not have been accounted for (Speranza, 2010).

5.5. Future work

This section outlines future research that has been identified for consideration in this study. Section 5.5.1 considers the scales used to model geographic access, and highlights the limited understanding on what resolution of input datasets are needed to produce accurate results with access models. Section 5.5.2 explains the lack of research on boat models, and describes some considerations integral to their incorporation into future access studies. Finally, Section 5.5.3 discusses the necessity in incorporating both qualitative and quantitative methods in an interdisciplinary approach to provide a complete overview of access to care which would establish the relative importance of each access variable (including geographic access).

5.5.1. Scale of approach

Geographical access models have been operated at larger continental to global (Ouma *et al.*, 2018; Weiss *et al.*, 2020a), national (Epstein *et al.*, 2020; Macharia *et al.*, 2021), and sub-national scales (Chen *et al.*, 2017) but no study has ever explicitly considered the scale of inputs required to obtain representative access results with the best trade-off between accuracy and research burden. In this study, significant time investment was required in order to obtain a complete roads dataset and the hydrodynamic model outputs used are highly specialised; both are beyond what could be reasonably expected in every future operation of the framework. However, it is unknown to what extent the high-resolution results in this study could be recreated using lower resolution datasets. Can specific datasets (such as the geolocation of water crossings) be identified which are more influential on successful results than others which should thus be prioritised for collection? To operate the new framework over larger areas such as Western Province, it would be inconceivable to expect the same high-level of inputs to be used; the data and computational costs would be substantial. As a consequence, investigating the scale of approach necessary for operating geographic access models at different areal units is highlighted as a key area of future research that will help researchers optimise their geographic access methods.

5.5.2. Boat modelling

Boats can be an important mode of transport on floodplains and for travelling along canals and rivers, which makes them important to consider when modelling access as was determined in this study. However, there is currently a dearth of research modelling boat accessibility (Makkonen *et al.*, 2013; Webster *et al.*, 2016). The few studies completed where boats are modelled as a form of

transport have been limited to the Peruvian Amazon, where a version of network analysis is completed assessing boat access on the fluvial network (Salonen *et al.*, 2012; Tenkanen *et al.*, 2015; Webster *et al.*, 2016). Access modelling specific to boats is thus a gap in the literature, and future work should investigate how boats can be incorporated into cost-distance algorithms, outlining key variables that must be considered and incorporated; such research would facilitate appropriate representation of boats as a form of travel for regions such as the Barotse Floodplain.

5.5.3. Integration of qualitative and quantitative approaches

Health access is a complex concept, constituting multiple dimensions of access including sociodemographic, socio-economic, and geographical variables (Penchansky and Thomas, 1981; Thaddeus and Maine, 1994). All access variables are influential in affecting human decision-making, and in the ability of populations to seek and reach appropriate care (e.g., Jammeh et al., 2011; Mpimbaza et al., 2017; Adedokun et al., 2017). Studies that solely consider one dimension of access are limited in the conclusions that can be derived as access cannot be fully interpreted and understood without identification of all influential variables (Eklund and Mårtensson, 2012). For example, in this study, the impact of floods on geographic access was investigated. It was already identified that floods can exert a dual effect on health access by preventing populations reaching care and impacting health system functioning by impeding referrals and causing medicine stock-outs; this in turn leads to poor perception of care which negatively affects utilisation in all months. The study's framework modelled potential geographic access and revealed that floods have a substantial detrimental impact on the potential ability of populations to walk to care, and that referrals were impeded. However, this can only explain part of the dual effect identified. Without qualitative data obtained on service and medicine provision, and community perceptions of quality of care, it is not possible to completely understand how influential floods are in impacting health access in the Barotse Floodplain. Such data is not quantifiable and requires sophisticated qualitative techniques developed in the social science disciplines to survey staff, patients, and populations to obtain information on their perspectives and lived experiences of health access (e.g., Chibwana et al., 2009; Eide et al., 2018; Marhatta et al., 2021). Obtaining this information supplements any results from a geographic access model by interpreting whether floods impact particular population subgroups and whether specific socioeconomic and sociodemographic characteristics can be linked to perceptions of floods or related to utilisation patterns.

Integration of qualitative data also improves the execution of geographic access models. Information on the health needs of populations can be used to plan where and how geographic access models

should be operated as part of targeted strategies to address key health priorities (e.g., reduction of maternal mortality) rather than merely modelling access to any primary healthcare facility. Qualitative information can also be used as inputs and as part of model parameterisation. For example, this study would have benefited from qualitative data on nomadic population movements and the prevalence and usage of different transport on the floodplain; with such data, a more regionally-specific multimodal model could have been developed for assessing Lozi access to healthcare. Collaboration with local communities and organisations can also help by validating modelled travel to develop geographic access models that are representative of real journeys (Van Duinen *et al.,* 2020).

To conclude, future work should aim to take advantage of health access as an interdisciplinary concept by fully integrating qualitative and quantitative data and techniques. Access and utilisation can be complicated by regionally- and community-specific factors (such as community beliefs, perception of care, and stigma), and so consideration of these factors helps tailor intervention plans that are most suitable to the needs of specific communities. The health access discipline can also benefit from approaches and knowledge from wider fields, as was demonstrated through this study operationalising knowledge from the hydrology, geospatial, and hazard management fields in its framework. For the most effective health access policies to be developed and successfully implemented, comprehensive knowledge of all factors relevant to health access are needed which necessitates an interdisciplinary mixed methods approach. This study's framework has greatly improved representation of floods as a barrier, but future work is now needed to determine the relative importance of floods on health system utilisation for regions.

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSION: towards a new understanding of floodwater impact on access

Annual floods are common in low-income countries with seasonal climates. Regular floodwave passage through floodplains supports local livelihoods with the provision of ecosystem resources. However, assessing how floods impact access to healthcare for these and other populations affected by floods has been hindered by the lack of models able to represent the spatio-temporal dynamics of flood inundation on accessibility. This shortcoming has limited the ability of previous studies to identify vulnerable populations, to assess the resilience of health system functioning, and to understand how floodwater variables impact access. To better represent and ultimately resolve existing health inequity, an approach was needed that could explicitly model changes in access under flooding. This study has provided a new geospatial framework that is able to address this important research gap. The new framework precisely models the spatio-temporally variable impacts of floodwaters on geographic access. An interdisciplinary approach was used to determine changing flood hazard by relating floodwater depth and velocity variables to mechanisms of human and vehicular instability.

The new framework was successfully demonstrated in the Barotse Floodplain, Zambia. Monthly changes in access to healthcare were modelled to provide completely novel information on how annual floodwave passage impacts access to general and maternal services between October 2017 and October 2018. This represents the first such implementation of this approach. Dramatic variations in geographic access through space and time were revealed to occur as a result of the seasonal floods. This was expected based on previous identification from WARMA that this was a problem on access to healthcare, but access had never been explicitly modelled before. The proportion of the population without timely access (within two hours) to healthcare is increased at the peak of the floods, with accessibility to emergency care (hospitals and emergency obstetric care) impacted the worst. Hydrodynamic variables were shown to exert a strong control on the potential ability of populations to reach healthcare, and access asynchronously varied with floodwaters depending on flood stage, the location of settlements, and the position of facilities and services within

Conclusion

the landscape. Substantial declines in potential access were observed between the peak dry and peak flood months, as has similarly been reported in previous studies. However, dynamic spatio-temporal variations in access observed in the intermediate flood rise and flood recession months were also seen which could not be recreated using previous static scenarios of "dry" and "wet" season access, emphasising the need to move away from such simple representations.

The framework is widely applicable to other regions affected by seasonal flooding. Its assumptions are appropriate to the characteristics typical in low-income regions, and its data requirements are not substantially beyond what is already expected to operate simple network analysis or a raster cost-distance algorithm. It is advantageous in using parameters to alter the representation of floods as a barrier, allowing the representation of flood hazard to vary based upon context and regional characteristics. In this study, the same floodwater inputs were used to produce two different representations of access in each month: one in which populations could walk through floodwaters deemed low hazard, and one in which all floodwaters acted as impassable barriers. This created an upper and lower uncertainty boundary on access measures, which would be of use to intervention planning to consider uncertainty in access scenarios. Additionally, the framework benefits health intervention planning by allowing floodwater variables to represent real events and updating access as it changes under floodwaters. This provides additional research power for applications such as: identifying health facilities whose catchments are most vulnerable to flood impact; measuring the number of months communities are unable to reach healthcare; and recognising roads whose inundation would have the greatest detriment to the resilience of the referral system. The framework also has uses beyond health access modelling. Access to other services could be modelled, and the ability to use hydrodynamic model outputs allows predictions to be made about expected changes in access under climate change and in disaster situations.

Improved representation of floodwaters in geographic access models was achieved in the framework created in this study. However, modelled access is simplified by: assuming populations access their nearest facility only; ignoring other influential access variables; and being restricted to modelling access with one mode of transport only. Key limitations pertaining explicitly to the case study are the assumption that population is static throughout the year despite the Lozi practicing transhumance, and the lack of consideration of canoes and oxen as a mode of transport. These limitations reflect existing issues regarding how to best model populations exhibiting transhumance and the dearth of research on boat modelling. Both are proposed as areas for future research that uses an interdisciplinary approach to identify this information and relate it to access. Additionally, it is unknown what scale of inputs are required in order to balance geographic access model accuracy

with computational and data burden. Future work should contrast access results obtained for the same region using different resolutions of input data.

It is recognised that qualitative and quantitative data must be interpreted to contextualise all access factors as they pertain to a region. Whilst in the Barotse Floodplain floods are identified as causing a substantial decline in accessibility, the results of the geographic access model alone are inadequate for determining the actual effect floods are having on real-word health service utilisation. To take geographic access results and operationalise them into an effective health policy, additional research is needed to determine the relative importance of geographic access as an influential access variable in relation to other non-measured variables such as quality of care, gender, and education. Where possible, future work should contextualise the results of geographic access models within the wider access framework.

References

- Abd El Karim, A., Awawdeh, M.M., 2020. Integrating GIS Accessibility and Location-Allocation Models with Multicriteria Decision Analysis for Evaluating Quality of Life in Buraidah City, KSA. *Sustainability* **12**(4), article no: 1412. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041412
- Abt, S.R., Wittier, R.J., Taylor, A., Love, D.J., 1989. Human Stability in a High Flood Hazard Zone1. JAWRA, Journal of the American Water Resources Association. **25**(4), pp.881–890. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.1989.tb05404.x
- Acreman, M.C., 1996. Environmental Effects of Hydro-Electric Power Generation in Africa and the Potential for Artificial Floods. *Water and Environment Journal.* **10**(6), pp.429–435. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-6593.1996.tb00076.x
- Adams, W.M., 1993. Indigenous Use of Wetlands and Sustainable Development in West Africa. *The Geographical Journal*. **159**(2), pp.209–218. https://doi.org/10.2307/3451412
- Adedokun, S.T., Adekanmbi, V.T., Uthman, O.A., Lilford, R.J., 2017. Contextual factors associated with health care service utilization for children with acute childhood illnesses in Nigeria. *PLoS ONE* **12**, article no: e0173578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173578</u>
- Albano, R., Sole, A., Adamowski, J., Mancusi, L., 2014. A GIS-based model to estimate flood consequences and the degree of accessibility and operability of strategic emergency response structures in urban areas. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*. 14, pp.2847–2865. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-14-2847-2014</u>
- Alderman, K., Turner, L.R., Tong, S., 2012. Floods and human health: A systematic review. *Environment International* **47**, pp.37–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.06.003</u>
- Alegana, V.A., Wright, J.A., Pentrina, U., Noor, A.M., Snow, R.W., Atkinson, P.M., 2012. Spatial modelling of healthcare utilisation for treatment of fever in Namibia. *International Journal of Health Geographics*. **11**(6), . https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-11-6
- Allen, G.H., Pavelsky, T.M., 2018. Global extent of rivers and streams. *Science* **361**, pp.585–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat0636</u>
- Álvarez, M., Puertas, J., Peña, E., Bermúdez, M., 2017. Two-Dimensional Dam-Break Flood Analysis in Data-Scarce Regions: The Case Study of Chipembe Dam, Mozambique. *Water* **9**, article no: 432. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w9060432</u>
- Andersen, R.M. (1995). Revisiting the behavioral model and access to health care: Does it matter? *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior. **36**(1), pp.1-10. https://doi.org/10.2307/2137284
- Apparicio, P., Gelb, J., Dubé, A.-S., Kingham, S., Gauvin, L., Robitaille, É., 2017. The approaches to measuring the potential spatial access to urban health services revisited: distance types and aggregation-error issues. *International Journal of Health Geographics.* **16**(32), . https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-017-0105-9
- Arnell, N.W., Gosling, S.N., 2016. The impacts of climate change on river flood risk at the global scale. *Climatic Change* **134**, pp.387–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-014-1084-5</u>

- Aronica, G.T., Candela, A., Fabio, P., Santoro, M., 2012. Estimation of flood inundation probabilities using global hazard indexes based on hydrodynamic variables. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, Estimating and representing uncertainty in applied hydrology, hydraulics and water quality studies* 42–44, pp.119–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2011.04.001</u>
- Arrighi, C., Oumeraci, H., Castelli, F., 2017. Hydrodynamics of pedestrians' instability in floodwaters. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*. **21**, pp.515-531. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-21-515-2017
- Assefa, N., Sié, A., Wang, D., Korte, M.L., Hemler, E.C., Abdullahi, Y.Y., Lankoande, B., Millogo, O., Chukwu, A., Workneh, F., Kanki, P., Baernighausen, T., Berhane, Y., Fawzi, W.W., Oduola, A., 2021. Reported Barriers to Healthcare Access and Service Disruptions Caused by COVID-19 in Burkina Faso, Ethiopia, and Nigeria: A Telephone Survey. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 105, pp.323–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.20-1619</u>
- Atubi, A.O., Onokala, P.C., 2009. Contemporary Analysis of Variability in Road Traffic Accidents in Lagos State, Nigeria. *African Geographical Review.* **28**(1), pp.11–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/19376812.2009.9756216
- Bailey, P.E., Keyes, E.B., Parker, C., Abdullah, M., Kebede, H., Freedman, L., 2011. Using a GIS to model interventions to strengthen the emergency referral system for maternal and newborn health in Ethiopia. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics.* **115**(3), pp.300–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.09.004
- Bates, P.D. and De Roo, A.P.J., 2000. A simple raster-based model for flood inundation simulation. *Journal of Hydrology*. **236**, pp.54-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(00)00278-X
- Beilfuss, R., 2012. A Risky Climate for Southern African Hydro: assessing hydrological risks and consequences for
ZambeziZambeziRiverBasinDams.UnitedStates:InternationalRivers.https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.30193.48486
- Berendes, S., Lako, R.L., Whitson, D., Gould, S., Valadez, J.J., 2014. Assessing the quality of care in a new nation: South Sudan's first national health facility assessment. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*. **19**(10), pp.1237– 1248. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12363
- Bernhofen, M.V., Whyman, C., Trigg, M.A., Sleigh, P.A., Smith, A.M., Sampson, C.C., Yamazaki, D., Ward, P.J., Rudari,
 R., Pappenberger, F., Dottori, F., Salamon, P., Winsemius, H.C., 2018. A first collective validation of global
 fluvial flood models for major floods in Nigeria and Mozambique. Environmental Research Letters 13, article
 no: 104007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae014</u>
- Beven, K., 2007. Towards integrated environmental models of everywhere: uncertainty, data and modelling as a learning process. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* **11**, pp.460–467.
- Bignami, D.F., Rosso, R., Sanfilippo, U., 2019a. Flood Impact on Human Beings Stability, in: Bignami, D.F., Rosso, R., Sanfilippo, U. (Eds.), *Flood Proofing in Urban Areas*. Springer International Publishing: Cham, pp. 25–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05934-7_3
- Bignami, D.F., Rosso, R., Sanfilippo, U., 2019b. Flood Impact on Mobilizable Objects, in: Bignami, D.F., Rosso, R., Sanfilippo, U. (Eds.), *Flood Proofing in Urban Areas*. Springer International Publishing: Cham, pp. 45–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-05934-7_4
- Blanford, J.I., Kumar, S., Luo, W., MacEachren, A.M., 2012. It's a long, long walk: accessibility to hospitals, maternity and integrated health centers in Niger. *International Journal of Health Geographics*. **11**(24), . https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-11-24

- Böer, J., Fiedler, H., Krieger, G., Zink, M., Bachmann, M., Hueso Gonzalez, J., 2008. TanDEM-X: A Global Mapping Mission, in: International Federation of Surveyors (Ed.), *Proceedings of the Fédération Internationale Des Géomètres Conference* (FIG). Stockholm: Sweden, p. 13.
- Bosina, E., Weidmann, U., 2017. Estimating pedestrian speed using aggregated literature data. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* **468**, pp:1–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physa.2016.09.044</u>
- BRLi and NIRAS. 2014. Detailed assessment, conceptual design and Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) study for the improved use of priority traditional canals in the Barotse sub-basin of the Zambezi. Zambia: BRLi and NIRAS.
- Brottem, L.V., Coulibaly, B., 2019. The Geography of the Bottom Billion: Rural Isolation and Basic Service Access in the Republic of Mali. *The European Journal of Development Research.* **31**, pp.1147–1170. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41287-019-00205-7
- Brugger, A. 2008. Nalikwanda. [Online]. [Accessed 29th June 2021]. Available from: https://flic.kr/p/cdDU9
- Cai, X.L., Haile, A.T., Magidi, J., Mapedza, E. and Nhamo, L. 2017. Living with floods Household perception and satellite observations in the Barotse floodplain, Zambia. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*. **100**, pp.278-286.
- Chabala, M. BRE sets April 21 for Kuomboka Ceremony. *Diggers News*. [Online]. March 29, 2018. [Accessed 20 September 2021]. Available from: <u>https://diggers.news/local/2018/03/29/bre-sets-april-21-for-kuomboka-ceremony/</u>
- Chanson, H., Brown, R., McIntosh, D., 2014. Human body stability in floodwaters: the 2011 flood in Brisbane CBD, in: *Hydraulic Structures and Society - Engineering Challenges and Extremes*. Presented at the 5th IAHR International Symposium on Hydraulic Structures, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, pp. 1– 9. https://doi.org/10.14264/uql.2014.48
- Charlton, R. 2008. Fundamentals of Fluvial Geomorphology. London: Routledge
- Chen, Q., Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Guo, P., 2019. Further improvement in a criterion for human stability in floodwaters. *Journal of Flood Risk Management.* **12**, article no: e12486 . https://doi.org/10.1111/jfr3.12486
- Chen, Y., Huang, C., Ticehurst, C., Merrin, L., Thew, P., 2013. An Evaluation of MODIS Daily and 8-day Composite Products for Floodplain and Wetland Inundation Mapping. *Wetlands* **33**, pp.823–835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-013-0439-4</u>
- Chen, Y.N., Schmitz, M.M., Serbanescu, F., Dynes, M.M., Maro, G., Kramer, M.R., 2017. Geographic Access Modeling of Emergency Obstetric and Neonatal Care in Kigoma Region, Tanzania: Transportation Schemes and Programmatic Implications. *Global Health: Science Practice* 5, pp.430–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-17-00110</u>
- Chibwana, A.I., Mathanga, D.P., Chinkhumba, J., Campbell, C.H., 2009. Socio-cultural predictors of health-seeking behaviour for febrile under-five children in Mwanza-Neno district, Malawi. *Malaria Journal* **8**, article no: 219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-8-219</u>
- Chikozho, C., Mapedza, E., 2017. In search of socio-ecological resilience and adaptive capacity: articulating the governance imperatives for improved canal management on the Barotse floodplain, Zambia. *International Journal of the Commons.* **11**(1), pp.119–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.18352/ijc.636</u>

- Chomba, I.C., Banda, K., Winsemius, H., Makungu, E., Hughes, D., Eilander, D., Hrachowitz, M., Nyambe, I., Sichingabula, H., Mataa, M., Chomba, M., Ellender, B., Ngwenaya, V., 2021. A fully coupled spatially distributed hydrologic-hydrodynamic model for the Barotse Floodplain, Upper Zambezi (*No. EGU21-16325*). Presented at the EGU21, Copernicus Meetings. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu21-16325</u>
- Chowdhury, A.I., Haider, R., Abdullah, A.Y.M., Christou, A., Ali, N.A., Rahman, A.E., Iqbal, A., Bari, S., Hoque, D.M.E., Arifeen, S.E., Kissoon, N., Larson, C.P., 2018. Using geospatial techniques to develop an emergency referral transport system for suspected sepsis patients in Bangladesh. *PLoS ONE* 13, article no: e0191054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191054</u>
- Codjoe, S.N.A., Gough, K.V., Wilby, R.L., Kasei, R., Yankson, P.W.K., Amankwaa, E.F., Abarike, M.A., Atiglo, D.Y., Kayaga, S., Mensah, P., Nabilse, C.K., Griffiths, P.L., 2020. Impact of extreme weather conditions on healthcare provision in urban Ghana. *Social Science & Medicine* 258, article no: 113072. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113072</u>
- Cohen Liechti, T., Matos, J.P., Boillat, J.-L., Portela, M.M., Schleiss, A.J., 2014b. Hydraulic–hydrologic model for water resources management of the Zambezi basin. *Journal of Applied Water Engineering and Research* 2(2), pp.105–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/23249676.2014.958581
- Cohen Liechti, T., Matos, J.P., Segura, D.F., Boillat, J.-L., Schleiss, A.J., 2014a. Hydrological modelling of the Zambezi River Basin taking into account floodplain behaviour by a modified reservoir approach. *International Journal* of River Basin Management. **12**(1), pp.29–41. https://doi.org/10.1080/15715124.2014.880707
- Coles, D., Yu, D., Wilby, R.L., Green, D., Herring, Z., 2017. Beyond 'flood hotspots': Modelling emergency service accessibility during flooding in York, UK. *Journal of Hydrology*, **546**, pp.419–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.12.013
- Comber, A.J., Brunsdon, C., Radburn, R., 2011. A spatial analysis of variations in health access: linking geography, socio-economic status and access perceptions. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, **10**, article no: 44 . https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-10-44
- Cox R.J., Shand T.D. and Blacka M.J., 2010. Appropriate safety criteria for people. Report No. P10/S1/006, Australian Rainfall and Runoff. Commonwealth of Australia: Geoscience Australia.
- Dartmouth Flood Observatory (DFO) Dartmouth Atlas of Global Flood Hazard. Available online: <u>https://floodmap.modaps.eosdis.nasa.gov</u>
- Dawkins, B., Renwick, C., Ensor, T., Shinkins, B., Jayne, D., Meads, D., 2021. What factors affect patients' ability to access healthcare? An overview of systematic reviews. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.13651
- Debie, A., Lakew, A.M., Tamirat, K.S., Amare, G., Tesema, G.A., 2020. Complete vaccination service utilization inequalities among children aged 12–23 months in Ethiopia: a multivariate decomposition analyses. *International Journal for Equity in Health* **19**, article no: 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01166-8</u>
- Del Río, T., Groot, J.C., DeClerck, F. and Estrada-Carmona, N., 2018. Integrating local knowledge and remote sensing for eco-type classification map in the Barotse Floodplain, Zambia. *Data in Brief*, **19**, pp.2297-2304.
- Delamater, P.L., Messina, J.P., Shortridge, A.M. and Grady, S.C., 2012. Measuring geographic access to health care: raster and network-based methods. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, **11**, article no: 15, . https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-11-15

- Denhard, L., Kaviany, P., Chicumbe, S., Muianga, C., Laisse, G., Aune, K., Sheffel, A., 2021. How prepared is Mozambique to treat COVID-19 patients? A new approach for estimating oxygen service availability, oxygen treatment capacity, and population access to oxygen-ready treatment facilities. International *Journal for Equity in Health* 20, article no: 90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01403-8</u>
- Dos Anjos Luis, A., Cabral, P., 2016. Geographic accessibility to primary healthcare centers in Mozambique. International Journal of Equity Health, **15**, article no: 173, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0455-0
- Duinen, A.J. van, Adde, H.A., Fredin, O., Holmer, H., Hagander, L., Koroma, A.P., Koroma, M.M., Leather, A.J., Wibe, A., Bolkan, H.A., 2020. Travel time and perinatal mortality after emergency caesarean sections: an evaluation of the 2-hour proximity indicator in Sierra Leone. *BMJ Global Health* 5, article no: e003943. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003943</u>
- Dumitrache, L., Nae, M., Simion, G., Taloş, A.-M., 2020. Modelling Potential Geographical Access of the Population to Public Hospitals and Quality Health Care in Romania. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, **17**, article no: 8487, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17228487
- E.W. Dijkstra (Edsger), 1959. A note on two problems in connexion with graphs. *Numerische Mathematik*, **1**, pp.269-271.
- Ebener, S., Stenberg, K., Brun, M., Monet, J.-P., Ray, N., Sobel, H.L., Roos, N., Gault, P., Morrissey Conlon, C., Bailey, P., Moran, A.C., Ouedraogo, L., Kitong, J.F., Ko, E., Sanon, D., Jega, F.M., Azogu, O., Ouedraogo, B., Osakwe, C., Chimwemwe Chanza, H., Steffen, M., Ben Hamadi, I., Tib, H., Haj Asaad, A., Tan Torres, T., 2019. Proposing standardised geographical indicators of physical access to emergency obstetric and newborn care in low-income and middle-income countries. *BMJ Global Health* 4, article no: e000778. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000778
- Eide, A.H., Dyrstad, K., Munthali, A., Van Rooy, G., Braathen, S.H., Halvorsen, T., Persendt, F., Mvula, P., Rød, J.K., 2018. Combining survey data, GIS and qualitative interviews in the analysis of health service access for persons with disabilities. *BMC International Health and Human Rights* 18, article no: 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-018-0166-2
- Eklund, L., Mårtensson, U., 2012. Using geographical information systems to analyse accessibility to health services in the West Bank, Occupied Palestinian Territory. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal* **18**, pp.796–802. <u>https://doi.org/10.26719/2012.18.8.796</u>
- Elebesunu, E.E., Oke, G.I., Adebisi, Y.A., Nsofor, I.M., 2021. COVID-19 calls for health systems strengthening in Africa: A case of Nigeria. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management*. Advance online publication.. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.3296</u>
- Epstein, A., Namuganga, J.F., Kamya, E.V., Nankabirwa, J.I., Bhatt, S., Rodriguez-Barraquer, I., Staedke, S.G., Kamya, M.R., Dorsey, G., Greenhouse, B., 2020. Estimating malaria incidence from routine health facility-based surveillance data in Uganda. *Malaria Journal* 19, article no: 445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-020-03514-z</u>
- Espinet Alegre, X., Stanton-Geddes, Z., Aliyev, S., 2020. Analyzing Flooding Impacts on Rural Access to Hospitals and Other Critical Services in Rural Cambodia Using Geo-Spatial Information and Network Analysis. Policy Research Working Paper; No. 9262. World Bank: Washington DC.
- Estrada-Carmona, N., Attwood, S., Cole, S.M., Remans, R., DeClerck, F., 2020. A gendered ecosystem services approach to identify novel and locally-relevant strategies for jointly improving food security, nutrition, and conservation in the Barotse Floodplain. *International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability*, **18**(4), pp.351–375. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735903.2020.1787618

- Etherington, T.R., 2016. Least-Cost Modelling and Landscape Ecology: Concepts, Applications, and Opportunities. *Current Landscape Ecology Reports*, **1**, pp.40–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40823-016-0006-9
- Evans, B., Chen, A.S., Djordjević, S., Webber, J., Gómez, A.G., Stevens, J., 2020. Investigating the Effects of Pluvial Flooding and Climate Change on Traffic Flows in Barcelona and Bristol. *Sustainability*, **12**, article no: 2330 https://doi.org/10.3390/su12062330
- Facebook Connectivity Lab and Center for International Earth Science Information Network CIESIN Columbia University. 2016. High Resolution Settlement Layer (HRSL). Source imagery for HRSL © 2016 DigitalGlobe. Accessed 30 August 2021.
- Faruk, N., Surajudeen-Bakinde, N.T., Abdulkarim, A., Oloyede, A.A., Olawoyin, L., Bello, O.W., Popoola, S.I., Edoh, T.O.C., 2020. Rural Healthcare Delivery in Sub-Saharan Africa: An ICT-Driven Approach. *International Journal* of Healthcare Information Systems and Informatics (IJHISI 15(3).
- Fatemi, S.B., Gholinejad, S., 2019. Assessing the effectiveness of Google Earth images for spatial enhancement of RapidEye multi-spectral imagery. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, **40**, pp.4526–4543. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2019.1569280
- Fernández, A., Najafi, M.R., Durand, M., Mark, B.G., Moritz, M., Jung, H.C., Neal, J., Shastry, A., Laborde, S., Phang, S.C., Hamilton, I.M., Xiao, N., 2016. Testing the skill of numerical hydraulic modeling to simulate spatiotemporal flooding patterns in the Logone floodplain, Cameroon. *Journal of Hydrology* 539, pp.265– 280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.05.026</u>
- Fisher, R. and Lassa, J., 2017. Interactive, open source, travel time scenario modelling: tools to facilitate participation in health service access analysis. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, **16**, article no: 13.
- Fisseha, G., Berhane, Y., Worku, A., Terefe, W., 2017. Distance from health facility and mothers' perception of quality related to skilled delivery service utilization in northern Ethiopia. *International Journal of Womens Health* 9, pp.749–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S140366</u>
- Flint, L., 2006. Contradictions and Challenges in Representing the Past: The Kuomboka Festival of Western Zambia. *Journal of Southern African Studies* **32**, pp.701–717. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057070600995483
- Fogliati, P., Straneo, M., Brogi, C., Fantozzi, P.L., Salim, R.M., Msengi, H.M., Azzimonti, G., Putoto, G., 2015. How Can Childbirth Care for the Rural Poor Be Improved? A Contribution from Spatial Modelling in Rural Tanzania. *PLoS ONE* **10**(9), article no: e0139460 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139460
- Foster D.N. and Cox R.J. 1973. *Stability of children on roads used as floodways. WRL Technical Report No. 73/13.* Water Research Laboratory: Australia.
- Fynn, R.W.S., Murray-Hudson, M., Dhliwayo, M., Scholte, P., 2015. African wetlands and their seasonal use by wild and domestic herbivores. Wetlands Ecology Management 23(2), pp.559–581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11273-015-9430-6
- Gabrysch, S., Campbell, O.M., 2009. Still too far to walk: Literature review of the determinants of delivery service use. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* **9**, article no: 34 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-9-34
- Gabrysch, S., Cousens, S., Cox, J., Campbell, O.M.R., 2011a. The Influence of Distance and Level of Care on Delivery Place in Rural Zambia: A Study of Linked National Data in a Geographic Information System. *PLoS Medicine* 8, article no: e1000394 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000394

- Gabrysch, S., Simushi, V., Campbell, O.M.R., 2011b. Availability and distribution of, and geographic access to emergency obstetric care in Zambia. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics* **114**, pp.174–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2011.05.007
- Gage, A.J., 2007. Barriers to the utilization of maternal health care in rural Mali. *Social Science & Medicine* **65**, pp.1666–1682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.06.001
- Gage, A.J., Calixte, M.G., 2006. Effects of the physical accessibility of maternal health services on their use in rural Haiti. *Population Studies* **60**, pp.271–288. https://doi.org/10.1080/00324720600895934
- Gammino, V.M., Diaz, M.R., Pallas, S.W., Greenleaf, A.R., Kurnit, M.R., 2020. Health services uptake among nomadic pastoralist populations in Africa: A systematic review of the literature. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 14(7), article no: e0008474 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0008474
- Gaudet, J.J. 1992. Structure and function of African floodplains. *Journal of the East Africa Natural History Society and National Museum.* **82**(199), pp. 1-32
- Gething, P.W., Johnson, F.A., Frempong-Ainguah, F., Nyarko, P., Baschieri, A., Aboagye, P., Falkingham, J., Matthews,
 Z., Atkinson, P.M., 2012. Geographical access to care at birth in Ghana: a barrier to safe motherhood. *BMC Public Health* 12, article no: 991 https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-991
- Geurs, K.T., van Wee, B., 2004. Accessibility evaluation of land-use and transport strategies: review and research directions. *Journal of Transport Geography* **12**, pp.127–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2003.10.005
- Ghandehari Shandiz, S., Doluweera, G., Rosehart, W.D., Behjat, L., Bergerson, J.A., 2018. Investigation of different methods to generate Power Transmission Line routes. *Electric Power Systems Research* **165**, pp.110–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsr.2018.08.012
- Goodchild, M.F., 1977. An Evaluation of Lattice Solutions to the Problem of Corridor Location. Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space, **9**, pp.727–738. https://doi.org/10.1068/a090727
- Grimaldi, S., Schumann, G.J.-P., Shokri, A., Walker, J.P., Pauwels, V.R.N., 2019. Challenges, Opportunities, and Pitfalls for Global Coupled Hydrologic-Hydraulic Modeling of Floods. *Water Resources Research* **55**, pp.5277–5300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018WR024289</u>
- Guagliardo, M.F., 2004. Spatial accessibility of primary care: concepts, methods and challenges. *International Journal* of Health Geographics **3**, article no: 3 https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-3-3
- Gulzar, L., 1999. Access to Health Care. *Image: the Journal of Nursing Scholarship* **31**(1), pp.13–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1999.tb00414.x
- Hallett, L.F., McDermott, D., 2011. Quantifying the extent and cost of food deserts in Lawrence, Kansas, USA. Applied Geography, Local Food Systems and the Applied Geography of Food **31**, pp.1210–1215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2010.09.006
- Hamer, D.H., 2021. Short-term and Potentially Long-term Negative Impacts of COVID-19 in Sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from the Africa Research, Implementation Science, and Education Network Rapid Monitoring Survey. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 105, pp.269–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.21-0617</u>
- Hanson, C., Cox, J., Mbaruku, G., Manzi, F., Gabrysch, S., Schellenberg, D., Tanner, M., Ronsmans, C., Schellenberg, J., 2015. Maternal mortality and distance to facility-based obstetric care in rural southern Tanzania: a secondary analysis of cross-sectional census data in 226 000 households. *The Lancet Global Health* 3, pp.e387–e395. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(15)00048-0
- Hanson, C., Gabrysch, S., Mbaruku, G., Cox, J., Mkumbo, E., Manzi, F., Schellenberg, J., Ronsmans, C., 2017. Access to maternal health services: geographical inequalities, United Republic of Tanzania. *Bulletin of the World Health* Organisation **95**(12), pp.810–820. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.17.194126
- Hardy, A., Ettritch, G., Cross, D.E., Bunting, P., Liywalii, F., Sakala, J., Silumesii, A., Singini, D., Smith, M., Willis, T., Thomas, C.J., 2019. Automatic Detection of Open and Vegetated Water Bodies Using Sentinel 1 to Map African Malaria Vector Mosquito Breeding Habitats. *Remote Sensing* 11, article no: 59. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11050593
- Hardy, A., Oakes, G., Ettritch, G., 2020. Tropical Wetland (TropWet) Mapping Tool: The Automatic Detection of Open and Vegetated Waterbodies in Google Earth Engine for Tropical Wetlands. *Remote Sensing* 12, article no: 1182 https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12071182
- Heywood, D.I., Cornelius, S.C., Carver, S.J., 2011. An Introduction to Geographical Information Systems. Pearson Prentice Hall: UK
- Hierink, F., Rodrigues, N., Muñiz, M., Panciera, R., Ray, N., 2020. Modelling geographical accessibility to support disaster response and rehabilitation of a healthcare system: an impact analysis of Cyclones Idai and Kenneth in Mozambique. *BMJ Open* **10**, article no: e039138 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039138
- Hoch, J.M., Trigg, M.A., 2019. Advancing global flood hazard simulations by improving comparability, benchmarking, and integration of global flood models. *Environmental Research Letters* 14, article no: 034001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaf3d3</u>
- Hosseinpoor, A.-R., Naghavi, M., Alavian, S.M., Speybroeck, N., Jamshidi, H., Vega, J., 2007. Determinants of seeking needed outpatient care in Iran: results from a national health services utilization survey. Archives of Iranian Medicine **10**, pp.439–445. <u>https://doi.org/07104/AIM.005</u>
- Howard, G.W., 1991. Floodplains: utilisation and the need for management. In: *Wetlands Conservation Conference* for Southern Africa: Proceedings of the Southern African Development Coordination Conference, 3rd-5th June 1991 Gaborone: Botswana. International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources (IUCN): Switzerland, pp.15-25
- Hu, Q., Wu, W., Xia, T., Yu, Q., Yang, P., Li, Z. and Song, Q., 2013. Exploring the use of Google Earth imagery and object-based methods in land use/cover mapping. *Remote Sensing*, **5**(11), pp.6026-6042.
- Huber, D.L., Church, R.L., 1985. Transmission Corridor Location Modeling. *Journal of Transportation Engineering* **111**, pp.114–130. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-947X(1985)111:2(114)
- Huerta Munoz, U., Källestål, C., 2012. Geographical accessibility and spatial coverage modeling of the primary health care network in the Western Province of Rwanda. *International Journal of Health Geographics* **11**, article no: 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-11-40
- Hughes, F.M.R., 1990. The Influence of Flooding Regimes on Forest Distribution and Composition in the Tana River Floodplain, Kenya. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **27**, pp.475–491. https://doi.org/10.2307/2404295

- Huot, S., Ho, H., Ko, A., Lam, S., Tactay, P., MacLachlan, J., Raanaas, R.K., 2019. Identifying barriers to healthcare delivery and access in the Circumpolar North: important insights for health professionals. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health* **78**, article no: 1571385 . https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2019.1571385
- Ihantamalala, F.A., Herbreteau, V., Révillion, C., Randriamihaja, M., Commins, J., Andréambeloson, T., Rafenoarimalala, F.H., Randrianambinina, A., Cordier, L.F., Bonds, M.H., Garchitorena, A., 2020. Improving geographical accessibility modeling for operational use by local health actors. *International Journal of Health Geographics* 19, article no: 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-020-00220-6
- limi, A., Rajoela, V.H., 2018. Transport Connectivity, Medical Supplies, and People's Health Care Access: Evidence from Madagascar (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. ID 3238325). Social Science Research Network: Rochester, NY.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), 2003. *Barotse floodplain, Zambia: local economic dependence on wetland resources*. Switzerland: IUCN. [Accessed: 30/10/2020]. Available from: https://www.cbd.int/financial/values/zambia-valuebarotse.pdf
- IPCC, 2021: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press
- Jammeh, A., Sundby, J., Vangen, S., 2011. Barriers to Emergency Obstetric Care Services in Perinatal Deaths in Rural Gambia: A Qualitative In-Depth Interview Study. *ISRN Obstetrics and Gynecology* **2011**, pp.1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/981096</u>
- Jha, M.K., Afreen, S., 2020. Flooding Urban Landscapes: Analysis Using Combined Hydrodynamic and Hydrologic Modeling Approaches. *Water* **12**, article no: 1986. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w12071986</u>
- Jonkman, S.N., Penning-Rowsell, E., 2008. Human Instability in Flood Flows. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association **44**, pp.1208–1218. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2008.00217.x
- Joseph, N.K., Macharia, P.M., Ouma, P.O., Mumo, J., Jalang'o, R., Wagacha, P.W., Achieng, V.O., Ndung'u, E., Okoth, P., Muñiz, M., Guigoz, Y., Panciera, R., Ray, N., Okiro, E.A., 2020. Spatial access inequities and childhood immunisation uptake in Kenya. *BMC Public Health* 20, article no: 1407 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09486-8
- Junk, W., P.B. Bayley, and R.E. Sparks. 1989. The flood pulse concept in river-floodplain systems. In: Dodge, D.P., ed. *Proceedings of the International Large River Symposium (LARS), Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 106*. Canada: Department of Fisheries and Oceans, pp.110-127.
- Kaneda, K., Ohgi, Y., Tanaka, C., Burkett, B., 2014. The development of an estimation model for energy expenditure during water walking by acceleration and walking speed. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 17, pp.96– 101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.jsams.2013.02.004</u>
- Karim, F., Marvanek, S., Wallace, J., Petheram, C., Ticehurst, C., Gouweleeuw, B., 2012. The use of hydrodynamic modelling and remote sensing to assess hydrological connectivity of floodplain wetlands. *Proceedings of the* 34th Hydrology and Water Resources Symposium, HWRS 2012 pp.1334–1341.
- Karra, M., Canning, D., Hu, J., Ali, M., Lissner, C., 2016. Community-Based Financing of Family Planning in Developing Countries: A Systematic Review. *Studies in Family Planning* 47, pp.325–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/sifp.12000

- Karvonen, R.A., Hepojoki, A., Huhta, H.K., Louhio, A., 2000. *The use of physical models in dam-break analysis. RESCDAM Final Report.* Helsinki University of Technology: Helsinki, Finland.
- Kasmalkar, I.G., Serafin, K.A., Miao, Y., Bick, I.A., Ortolano, L., Ouyang, D., Suckale, J., 2020. When floods hit the road: Resilience to flood-related traffic disruption in the San Francisco Bay Area and beyond. *Science Advances* 6(32), article no: eaba2423. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba2423
- Keller, R.J. and Mitsch, B., 1993. *Safety aspects of the design of roadways as floodways*: Urban Water Research Association of Australia: Australia.
- Kenny, A., Basu, G., Ballard, M., Griffiths, T., Kentoffio, K., Niyonzima, J.B., Sechler, G.A., Selinsky, S., Panjabi, R.R., Siedner, M.J., Kraemer, J.D., 2015. Remoteness and maternal and child health service utilization in rural Liberia: A population–based survey. *Journal of Global Health* 5, article no: 020401 https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.05.020401
- Khan, A.A., Bhardwaj, S.M., 1994. Access to Health Care: A Conceptual Framework and its Relevance to Health Care Planning. *Evaluation & the Health Professions* **17**, pp.60–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/016327879401700104
- Khatri, R.B., Karkee, R., 2018. Social determinants of health affecting utilisation of routine maternity services in Nepal: a narrative review of the evidence. *Reproductive Health Matters* 26, pp.32–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/09688080.2018.1535686
- Kibambe Lubamba, J.-P., Radoux, J., Defourny, P., 2013. Multimodal accessibility modeling from coarse transportation networks in Africa. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science* **27**, pp.1005–1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2012.735673</u>
- Kironji, A.G., Hodkinson, P., de Ramirez, S.S., Anest, T., Wallis, L., Razzak, J., Jenson, A., Hansoti, B., 2018. Identifying barriers for out of hospital emergency care in low and low-middle income countries: a systematic review. BMC Health Services Research 18, article no: 291. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3091-0
- Kling, H., Stanzel, P., Preishuber, M., 2014. Impact modelling of water resources development and climate scenarios on Zambezi River discharge. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies* 1, pp.17–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2014.05.002
- Komi, K., Neal, J., Trigg, M.A., Diekkrüger, B., 2017. Modelling of flood hazard extent in data sparse areas: a case study of the Oti River basin, West Africa. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies* 10, pp.122–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2017.03.001</u>
- Kpienbaareh, D., Atuoye, K.N., Ngabonzima, A., Bagambe, P.G., Rulisa, S., Luginaah, I., Cechetto, D.F., 2019. Spatiotemporal disparities in maternal health service utilization in Rwanda: What next for SDGs? *Social Science & Medicine* 226, pp.164–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.02.040</u>
- Kramer, M., Terheiden, K., Wieprecht, S., 2016. Safety criteria for the trafficability of inundated roads in urban floodings. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction 17, pp.77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2016.04.003
- Kumar Soni, P., Rajpal, N., Mehta, R., 2021. Road network extraction using multi-layered filtering and tensor voting from aerial images. *The Egyptian Journal of Remote Sensing and Space Science* **24**, pp.211–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrs.2021.01.004

- Kyei, N.N.A., Campbell, O.M.R., Gabrysch, S., 2012. The Influence of Distance and Level of Service Provision on Antenatal Care Use in Rural Zambia. *PLoS ONE* 7, article no: e46475 . https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0046475
- Laborde, S., Mahamat, A., Moritz, M., 2018. The interplay of top-down planning and adaptive self-organization in an African floodplain. Human Ecology **46**, pp.171–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-018-9977-y
- Lankowski, A.J., Siedner, M.J., Bangsberg, D.R., Tsai, A.C., 2014. Impact of Geographic and Transportation-Related Barriers on HIV Outcomes in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review. *AIDS and Behaviour* **18**, pp.1199– 1223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-014-0729-8
- Larsen, K., Gilliland, J., 2008. Mapping the evolution of "food deserts" in a Canadian city: Supermarket accessibility in London, Ontario, 1961–2005. International Journal of Health Geographics 7, article no: 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-7-16
- Laurance, W.F., Clements, G.R., Sloan, S., O'Connell, C.S., Mueller, N.D., Goosem, M., Venter, O., Edwards, D.P., Phalan, B., Balmford, A., Van Der Ree, R., Arrea, I.B., 2014. A global strategy for road building. *Nature* **513**, pp.229–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13717
- Le Roux, A., Khuluse-Makhanya, S., Arnold, K., Engelbrecht, F., Paige-Green, P., Verhaeghe, B., 2019. A framework for assessing the risks and impacts of rural access roads to a changing climate. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* **38**, 101175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2019.101175
- Lesiv, M., See, L., Laso Bayas, J.C., Sturn, T., Schepaschenko, D., Karner, M., Moorthy, I., McCallum, I., Fritz, S., 2018. Characterizing the Spatial and Temporal Availability of Very High Resolution Satellite Imagery in Google Earth and Microsoft Bing Maps as a Source of Reference Data. *Land* 7, article no: 118. https://doi.org/10.3390/land7040118
- Levesque, J.-F., Harris, M.F., Russell, G., 2013. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. *International Journal of Equity Health* **12**, article no: 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-12-18
- Lewin, J., Ashworth, P.J., 2014. The negative relief of large river floodplains. *Earth-Science Reviews* **129**, pp.1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2013.10.014
- Liew, Y.S., Mat Desa, S., Md. Noh, M.N., Tan, M.L., Zakaria, N.A., Chang, C.K., 2021. Assessing the Effectiveness of Mitigation Strategies for Flood Risk Reduction in the Segamat River Basin, Malaysia. Sustainability 13, article no: 3286. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13063286</u>
- Lima, R.M. de, Osis, R., Queiroz, A.R. de, Santos, A.H.M., 2016. Least-cost path analysis and multi-criteria assessment for routing electricity transmission lines. *IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution* **10**, pp.4222–4230. https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2016.1119
- Lind, N.D., Hartford, D., Assaf, H., 2004. Hydrodynamic models of human instability in a flood. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association* **40**(1), pp.89-96.
- Lohela, T.J., Campbell, O.M.R., Gabrysch, S., 2012. Distance to Care, Facility Delivery and Early Neonatal Mortality in Malawi and Zambia. *PLoS ONE* **7**, article no: e52110 . https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052110

- Lungu, A. and Hüsken, S.M.C. 2010. Assessment of access to health services and vulnerabilities of female fish traders in the Kafue Flats, Zambia: analysis report. WorldFish Center and the Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (FAO): Zambia.
- Luo, W., Qi, Y., 2009. An enhanced two-step floating catchment area (E2SFCA) method for measuring spatial accessibility to primary care physicians. *Health & Place* **15**, pp.1100–1107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.06.002
- Luo, W., Wang, F., 2003. Measures of Spatial Accessibility to Health Care in a GIS Environment: Synthesis and a Case Study in the Chicago Region. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design* **30**, pp.865–884. https://doi.org/10.1068/b29120
- Lusaka Times. 2018. Kufuluela ceremony takes off in Mongu. *Lusaka Times*. [Online]. August 20, 2018. [Accessed 20 September 2021]. Available from: <u>https://www.lusakatimes.com/2018/08/20/kufuluela-ceremony-takes-off-in-mongu/</u>
- Macharia, P.M., Mumo, E., Okiro, E.A., 2021. Modelling geographical accessibility to urban centres in Kenya in 2019. *PLoS ONE* **16**, article no: e0251624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251624</u>
- Maina, J., Ouma, P.O., Macharia, P.M., Alegana, V.A., Mitto, B., Fall, I.S., Noor, A.M., Snow, R.W. and Okiro, E.A., 2019. A spatial database of health facilities managed by the public health sector in sub Saharan Africa. *Scientific Data*, **6**, article no: 134. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-019-0142-2
- Makanga, P.T., Schuurman, N., Sacoor, C., Boene, H., Dadelszen, P. von, Firoz, T., 2016b. Guidelines for creating framework data for GIS analysis in low- and middle-income countries. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe canadien* **60**, pp.320–332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cag.12295</u>
- Makanga, P.T., Schuurman, N., Sacoor, C., Boene, H.E., Vilanculo, F., Vidler, M., Magee, L., von Dadelszen, P., Sevene, E., Munguambe, K., Firoz, T., 2017. Seasonal variation in geographical access to maternal health services in regions of southern Mozambique. *International Journal of Health Geographics* 16, article no: 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-016-0074-4
- Makanga, P.T., Schuurman, N., von Dadelszen, P., Firoz, T., 2016a. A scoping review of geographic information systems in maternal health. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics* **134**, pp.13–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.11.022</u>
- Makkonen, T., Salonen, M., Kajander, S., 2013. Island accessibility challenges: Rural transport in the Finnish archipelago. *European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research* **13**, pp.274-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.18757/ejtir.2013.13.4.3005</u>
- Malarvizhi, K., Kumar, S.V., Porchelvan, P., 2016. Use of High Resolution Google Earth Satellite Imagery in Landuse Map Preparation for Urban Related Applications. In: *Procedia Technology, International Conference on Emerging Trends in Engineering, Science and Technology (ICETEST - 2015) 24*, pp:1835–1842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2016.05.231
- Målqvist, M., Sohel, N., Do, T.T., Eriksson, L., Persson, L.-Å., 2010. Distance decay in delivery care utilisation associated with neonatal mortality. A case referent study in northern Vietnam. *BMC Public Health* **10**, article no: 762 . https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-762
- Manongi, R., Mtei, F., Mtove, G., Nadjm, B., Muro, F., Alegana, V., Noor, A.M., Todd, J., Reyburn, H., 2014. Inpatient child mortality by travel time to hospital in a rural area of Tanzania. *Tropical Medicine & International Health* **19**, pp.555–562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12294</u>

- Marahatta, S.B., Yadav, R.K., Giri, D., Lama, S., Rijal, K.R., Mishra, S.R., Shrestha, A., Bhattrai, P.R., Mahato, R.K., Adhikari, B., 2020. Barriers in the access, diagnosis and treatment completion for tuberculosis patients in central and western Nepal: A qualitative study among patients, community members and health care workers. *PLoS ONE* **15**, article no: e0227293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0227293</u>
- Marchand, M., 1987. The productivity of African floodplains. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, **29**(2-3), pp.201-211.
- Márquez-Pérez, J., Vallejo-Villalta, I., Álvarez-Francoso, J.I., 2017. Estimated travel time for walking trails in natural areas. *Geografisk Tidsskrift-Danish Journal of Geography* **117**, pp.53–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/00167223.2017.1316212
- Martínez-Gomariz, E., Gómez, M. and Russo, B., 2016a. Experimental study of the stability of pedestrians exposed to urban pluvial flooding. *Natural Hazards*, **82**(2), pp.1259-1278.
- Martínez-Gomariz, E., Gómez, M., Russo, B. and Djordjević, S., 2018. Stability criteria for flooded vehicles: A state-of-the-art review. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, **11**, pp.S817-S826.
- Martínez-Gomariz, E., Gómez, M., Russo, B., 2016b. Estabilidad de personas en flujos de agua. *Ingeniería del agua* **20**, pp.43–58. https://doi.org/10.4995/ia.2016.4231
- Mateo-Garcia, G., Veitch-Michaelis, J., Smith, L., Oprea, S.V., Schumann, G., Gal, Y., Baydin, A.G., Backes, D., 2021. Towards global flood mapping onboard low cost satellites with machine learning. *Scientific Reports* **11**, article no: 7249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86650-z</u>
- McGuire, F., Kreif, N., Smith, P.C., 2021. The effect of distance on maternal institutional delivery choice: Evidence from Malawi. *Health Economics* **30**, pp.2144–2167. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.4368
- Meara, J.G., Leather, A.J.M., Hagander, L., Alkire, B.C., Alonso, N., Ameh, E.A., Bickler, S.W., Conteh, L., Dare, A.J., Davies, J., Mérisier, E.D., El-Halabi, S., Farmer, P.E., Gawande, A., Gillies, R., Greenberg, S.L.M., Grimes, C.E., Gruen, R.L., Ismail, E.A., Kamara, T.B., Lavy, C., Lundeg, G., Mkandawire, N.C., Raykar, N.P., Riesel, J.N., Rodas, E., Rose, J., Roy, N., Shrime, M.G., Sullivan, R., Verguet, S., Watters, D., Weiser, T.G., Wilson, I.H., Yamey, G., Yip, W., 2015. Global Surgery 2030: evidence and solutions for achieving health, welfare, and economic development. *The Lancet* 386, pp.569–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60160-X</u>
- Medrano, F.A., 2021. Effects of raster terrain representation on GIS shortest path analysis. *PLoS ONE* **16**, article no: e0250106 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250106
- Mens, M.J,P., Erlich, M., Gaume, E., Lumbroso, D., Moreda, Y., van der Vat, M., and Versini, P.A. 2008. *Frameworks* for flood event management. *FLOODsite report T19-07-03* (2008). HR Wallingford: UK.
- Mensah, K., Heraud, J.M., Takahashi, S., Winter, A.K., Metcalf, C.J.E. and Wesolowski, A., 2019. Seasonal gaps in measles vaccination coverage in Madagascar. *Vaccine*, **37**(18), pp.2511-2519.
- Miao, Z., Shi, W., Gamba, P., Li, Z., 2015. An Object-Based Method for Road Network Extraction in VHR Satellite Images. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing 8, pp.4853–4862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/JSTARS.2015.2443552</u>
- Mikou, M., Rozenberg, J., Koks, E.E., Fox, C.J.E. and Peralta Quiros, T., 2019. *Policy Research Working Paper 8746: Assessing Rural Accessibility and Rural Roads Investment Needs Using Open Source Data*. [Online]. [No place]: The World Bank.

- Milanesi, L., Pilotti, M. and Ranzi, R., 2015. A conceptual model of people's vulnerability to floods. *Water Resources Research*, **51**(1), pp.182-197.
- Ministry of Community Development (MCD) and Ministry of Health (MoH). 2013. *Roadmap for accelerating reduction of maternal, newborn and child mortality,* 2013–2016. Zambia.
- Ministry of Health (MoH) 2019. Zambia Master Health Facility List. [Online]. [Date accessed: 15/09/2021]. Available from: https://mfl.moh.gov.zm
- Ministry of Health (MoH), 2016. National Health Strategic Plan 2017-2021. Ministry of Health: Lusaka, Zambia.
- Ministry of Health (MoH). 2012. *The 2012 List of Health Facilities in Zambia. Preliminary report (version no. 15).* Ministry of Health: Lusaka, Zambia.
- Mitsunaga, A., Yamauchi, T., 2020. Evaluation of the nutritional status of rural children living in Zambia. *Journal of Physiological Anthropology* **39**, article no. 34 https://doi.org/10.1186/s40101-020-00244-8
- Moritz, M., Laborde, S., Phang, S.C., Ahmadou, M., Durand, M., Fernandez, A., Hamilton, I.M., Kari, S., Mark, B., Scholte, P. and Xiao, N., 2016. Studying the Logone floodplain, Cameroon, as a coupled human and natural system. *African Journal of Aquatic Science*, **41**(1), pp.99-108.
- Movik, S., Mehta, L., Mtisi, S., Nicol, A., 2005. A "Blue Revolution" for African Agriculture? *IDS Bulletin* **36**, pp.41–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1759-5436.2005.tb00194.x
- Mpembeni, R.N., Killewo, J.Z., Leshabari, M.T., Massawe, S.N., Jahn, A., Mushi, D., Mwakipa, H., 2007. Use pattern of maternal health services and determinants of skilled care during delivery in Southern Tanzania: implications for achievement of MDG-5 targets. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 7, article no: 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-7-29
- Mpimbaza, A., Ndeezi, G., Katahoire, A., Rosenthal, P.J., Karamagi, C., 2017. Demographic, Socioeconomic, and Geographic Factors Leading to Severe Malaria and Delayed Care Seeking in Ugandan Children: A Case– Control Study. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene **97**, pp.1513–1523. <u>https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.17-0056</u>
- Mudashiru, R.B., Sabtu, N., Abustan, I., Balogun, W., 2021. Flood hazard mapping methods: A review. *Journal of Hydrology* **603**, article no: 126846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2021.126846</u>
- Mukolwe, M.M., Yan, K., Di Baldassarre, G., Solomatine, D.P., 2016. Testing new sources of topographic data for flood propagation modelling under structural, parameter and observation uncertainty. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* **61**, pp.1707–1715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2015.1019507</u>
- Mulrooney, T., Beratan, K., McGinn, C., Branch, B., 2017. A comparison of raster-based travel time surfaces against vector-based network calculations as applied in the study of rural food deserts. *Applied Geography* **78**, pp.12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2016.10.006
- Munthali, A.C., Swartz, L., Mannan, H., MacLachlan, M., Chilimampunga, C., Makupe, C., 2019. "This one will delay us": barriers to accessing health care services among persons with disabilities in Malawi. *Disability and Rehabilitation* **41**, pp.683–690. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2017.1404148
- Mupwanyiwa, A., Chundu, M., Mavesere, I., Dengedza, M., 2020. Exploring Factors That Influence the Uptake of Maternal Health Care Services by Women in Zimbabwe. *Open Journal of Social Sciences* **8**, pp. 46–70. https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2020.810005

- Mwaliko, E., Downing, R., O'Meara, W., Chelagat, D., Obala, A., Downing, T., Simiyu, C., Odhiambo, D., Ayuo, P., Menya, D., Khwa-Otsyula, B., 2014. "Not too far to walk": the influence of distance on place of delivery in a western Kenya health demographic surveillance system. *BMC Health Services Research* 14, article no: 212 https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-14-212
- Mwanangombe. 2010. WATER-ZAMBIA: Lozi Make Annual Migration to Higher Ground. [Online]. [Accessed 30 September, 2020]. Available from: http://www.ipsnews.net/2010/04/water-zambia-lozi-make-annual-migration-to-higher-ground/
- Nanía, L. S. 1999. "Metodología numérico experimental para el análisis del riesgo asociado a la escorrentía pluvial en una red de calles [Experimental Numerical Methodology for the Analysis of the Risk Associated with Storm Runoff in a Street Network]." PhD thesis, Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, Barcelona, España.
- Nassoro, M.M., Chetto, P., Chiwanga, E., Lilungulu, A., Bintabara, D., Wambura, J., 2020. Maternal Mortality in Dodoma Regional Referral Hospital, Tanzania. *International Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, article no: e9082179 https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9082179
- Neal, J., Schumann, G., Bates, P., 2012. A subgrid channel model for simulating river hydraulics and floodplain inundation over large and data sparse areas. Water Resources Research 48. article no: W11506 https://doi.org/10.1029/2012WR012514
- Nesbitt, R.C., Gabrysch, S., Laub, A., Soremekun, S., Manu, A., Kirkwood, B.R., Amenga-Etego, S., Wiru, K., Höfle, B., Grundy, C., 2014. Methods to measure potential spatial access to delivery care in low- and middle-income countries: a case study in rural Ghana. *International Journal of Health Geographics* 13, article no: 25 https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-13-25
- Neutens, T., 2015. Accessibility, equity and health care: review and research directions for transport geographers. *Journal of Transport Geography* **43**, pp.14–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2014.12.006
- Ngana, F.R., Karyawati, A.A.I.N.E., 2021. Scenario modelling as planning evidence to improve access to emergency obstetric care in eastern Indonesia. *PLoS ONE* **16**, article no: e0251869. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251869
- Nhemachena, C., Chakwizira, J., Dube, S. and Mokonyama, M., 2011. Improving accessibility and mobility in the Masia traditional council area in Vhembe district municipality, Limpopo: Application of low-cost access and mobility technologies. 30th Annual Southern African Transport Conference, "Africa on the Move", 11th-14th July 2011, Pretoria: South Africa. Transportation Research Board of the National Academies (TRB): Ministry of Transport, South Africa, pp.85-96
- Nigro, J., Slayback, D., Policelli, F., Brakenridge, G.R., 2014. NASA/ DFO MODIS Near Real-Time (NRT) Global Flood Mapping Product Evaluation of Flood and Permanent Water Detection.
- Nka, B.N., Oudin, L., Karambiri, H., Paturel, J.E., Ribstein, P., 2015. Trends in floods in West Africa: analysis based on 11 catchments in the region. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences. **19**, pp.4707–4719. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-19-4707-2015</u>
- Noor, A.M., Zurovac, D., Hay, S.I., Ochola, S.A., Snow, R.W., 2003. Defining equity in physical access to clinical services using geographical information systems as part of malaria planning and monitoring in Kenya. *Tropical Medicine & International Health* **8**, pp.917–926. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3156.2003.01112.x

- Ntajal, J., Lamptey, B., Mianikposogbedji, J., 2016. Flood Vulnerability Mapping in the Lower Mono River Basin in Togo, West Africa. *International Journal of Scientific and Engineering Research*, **7**(10) pp.1553-1562
- Ogunbiyi, O., 2021. The disproportionate burden of COVID-19 in Africa. *COVID-19 Pandemic.* Advance online publication. pp.179–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-82860-4.00021-5</u>
- Ogunkola, I.O., Adebisi, Y.A., Imo, U.F., Odey, G.O., Esu, E., Lucero-Prisno, D.E., 2020. Rural communities in Africa should not be forgotten in responses to COVID-19. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management* **35** pp.1302-1305 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.3039</u>
- Oppong, J.R., 1996. Accommodating the rainy season in third world location-allocation applications. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, **30**(2), pp.121-137.
- Oshikawa H., Oshima T. & Komatsu T. Study on the Risk for Vehicular Traffic in a Flood Situation (in Japanese). *Adv River Eng JCSE*, **17**, pp.461–466.
- Ouma, P.O., Maina, J., Thuranira, P.N., Macharia, P.M., Alegana, V.A., English, M., Okiro, E.A. and Snow, R.W., 2018. Access to emergency hospital care provided by the public sector in sub-Saharan Africa in 2015: a geocoded inventory and spatial analysis. *The Lancet Global Health*, **6**(3), pp.e342-e350.
- Pasqualino, M., Kennedy, G., Longley, K., Thilsted, S. H. 2016 *Food and nutrition security in the Barotse Floodplain system.* Italy: CGIAR Research Program on Aquatic Agricultural Systems, Biodiversity International.
- Pedinotti, V., Boone, A., Decharme, B., Crétaux, J.F., Mognard, N., Panthou, G., Papa, F. and Tanimoun, B.A., 2012.
 Evaluation of the ISBA-TRIP continental hydrologic system over the Niger basin using in situ and satellite derived datasets. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 16(6) pp.1745-1773
- Penchansky, R. and Thomas, J.W., 1981. The concept of access: definition and relationship to consumer satisfaction. *Medical Care*, **19**(2) pp.127-140.
- Penfold, S., Shamba, D., Hanson, C., Jaribu, J., Manzi, F., Marchant, T., Tanner, M., Ramsey, K., Schellenberg, D., Schellenberg, J.A., 2013. Staff experiences of providing maternity services in rural southern Tanzania – a focus on equipment, drug and supply issues. *BMC Health Services Research* 13, article no: 61. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-61
- Pereira, R.H.M., Braga, C.K.V., Servo, L.M., Serra, B., Amaral, P., Gouveia, N., Paez, A., 2021. Geographic access to COVID-19 healthcare in Brazil using a balanced float catchment area approach. *Social Science & Medicine* 273, article no: 113773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113773
- Pérez-Espona, S., Pérez-Barbería, F.J., Mcleod, J.E., Jiggins, C.D., Gordon, I.J., Pemberton, J.M., 2008. Landscape features affect gene flow of Scottish Highland red deer (Cervus elaphus). *Molecular Ecology* 17, pp.981–996. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03629.x
- Phalkey, R., Dash, S., Mukhopadhyay, A., Runge-Ranzinger, S., Marx, M., 2012. Prepared to react? Assessing the functional capacity of the primary health care system in rural Orissa, India to respond to the devastating flood of September 2008. *Global Health Action* 5, article no: 10964. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v5i0.10964
- Pollard, S. and Cousins, T., 2008. Towards integrating community-based governance of water resources with the statutory frameworks for IWRM: A review of cases of community based governance of freshwater resources in Southern Africa to inform potential arrangements of communal wetlands. *Report to the Water Research Commission. South Africa: Water Research Commission.* [Accessed: 30/10/2020]. Available from: http://www.wrc.org.za/wp-content/uploads/mdocs/TT328%20-%20CONSERVATION.pdf

- Poretti, I., De Amicis, M., 2011. An approach for flood hazard modelling and mapping in the medium Valtellina. Natural Hazards and Earth System Science, **11**, pp.1141–1151. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-11-1141-2011</u>
- Porter, G., 2002. Living in a Walking World: Rural Mobility and Social Equity Issues in Sub-Saharan Africa. *World Development* **30**, pp.285–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(01)00106-1</u>
- Pregnolato, M., Ford, A., Wilkinson, S.M., Dawson, R.J., 2017. The impact of flooding on road transport: A depthdisruption function. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* **55**, pp.67–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.06.020
- Pyatkova, K., Chen, A.S., Butler, D., Vojinović, Z., Djordjević, S., 2019. Assessing the knock-on effects of flooding on road transportation. *Journal of Environmental Management* **244**, pp.48–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.05.013
- Quirogaa, V.M., Kurea, S., Udoa, K., Manoa, A., 2016. Application of 2D numerical simulation for the analysis of the February 2014 Bolivian Amazonia flood: Application of the new HEC-RAS version 5. *Ribagua*, **3**(1), pp25-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riba.2015.12.001
- Rajaratnam S, Cole SM, Fox KM, Dierksmeier B, Puskur R, Zulu F, Teoh SJ and Situmo J. 2015. *Social and gender analysis report: Barotse Floodplain, Western Province, Zambia*. Penang, Malaysia: CGIAR Research Program on Aquatic Agricultural Systems. Program Report: AAS-2015-18.
- Ray, N., Ebener, S., 2008. AccessMod 3.0: computing geographic coverage and accessibility to health care services using anisotropic movement of patients. *International Journal of Health Geographics* 7, article no: 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-7-63
- Rebelo, L.M., McCartney, M.P. and Finlayson, C.M. 2010. Wetlands of Sub-Saharan Africa: distribution and contribution of agriculture to livelihoods. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*. **18**(5), pp.557-572.
- Rekha, R.S., Wajid, S., Radhakrishnan, N., Mathew, S., 2017. Accessibility Analysis of Health care facility using Geospatial Techniques. *Transportation Research Procedia, 20th EURO Working Group on Transportation Meeting, EWGT 2017, 4-6 September 2017, Budapest, Hungary*, pp.1163–1170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2017.12.078
- Robi, M.A., Abebe, A., Pingale, S.M., 2019. Flood hazard mapping under a climate change scenario in a Ribb catchment of Blue Nile River basin, Ethiopia. *Applied Geomatics* **11**, pp.147–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12518-018-0249-8</u>
- Roder-DeWan, S., Nimako, K., Twum-Danso, N.A.Y., Amatya, A., Langer, A., Kruk, M., 2020. Health system redesign for maternal and newborn survival: rethinking care models to close the global equity gap. *BMJ Global Health* 5, article no: e002539. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002539
- Rodríguez-Espíndola, O., Gaytán, J., 2015. Scenario-based preparedness plan for floods. *Natural Hazards* **76**, pp.1241–1262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-014-1544-2</u>
- Rudolfson, N., Gruendl, M., Nkurunziza, T., Kateera, F., Sonderman, K., Nihiwacu, E., Ramadhan, B., Riviello, R., Hedt-Gauthier, B., 2020. Validating the Global Surgery Geographical Accessibility Indicator : Differences in Modeled Versus Patient-Reported Travel Times. *World Journal of Surgery*. 44(7) pp.2123-2130 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-020-05480-8

- Ruktanonchai, C.W., Ruktanonchai, N.W., Nove, A., Lopes, S., Pezzulo, C., Bosco, C., Alegana, V.A., Burgert, C.R., Ayiko, R., Charles, A.S., Lambert, N., Msechu, E., Kathini, E., Matthews, Z., Tatem, A.J., 2016. Equality in Maternal and Newborn Health: Modelling Geographic Disparities in Utilisation of Care in Five East African Countries. *PLoS ONE* 11, article no: e0162006. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162006
- Salonen, M., Toivonen, T., Cohalan, J.-M., Coomes, O.T., 2012. Critical distances: Comparing measures of spatial accessibility in the riverine landscapes of Peruvian Amazonia. *Applied Geography* **32**, pp.501–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2011.06.017
- Sampson, C.C., Smith, A.M., Bates, P.D., Neal, J.C., Alfieri, L., Freer, J.E., 2015. A high-resolution global flood hazard model. *Water Resources Research* **51**, pp.7358–7381. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2015WR016954</u>
- Sampson, C.C., Smith, A.M., Bates, P.D., Neal, J.C., Trigg, M.A., 2016. Perspectives on Open Access High Resolution Digital Elevation Models to Produce Global Flood Hazard Layers. *Frontiers in Earth Science* 3, article no: 85. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2015.00085</u>
- Schatz, J.J., 2008. Floods hamper health-care delivery in southern Africa. *The Lancet* **371**, pp.799–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60362-1
- Schmid, T., Kanenda, O., Ahluwalia, I., Kouletio, M., 2001. Transportation for Maternal Emergencies in Tanzania: Empowering Communities Through Participatory Problem Solving. *American Journal of Public Health* 91, pp,1589–1590. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.91.10.1589</u>
- Schmitz, M.M., Serbanescu, F., Arnott, G.E., Dynes, M., Chaote, P., Msuya, A.A., Chen, Y.N., 2019. Referral transit time between sending and first-line receiving health facilities: a geographical analysis in Tanzania. *BMJ Global Health* 4, article no: e001568. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001568
- Schoeps, A., Gabrysch, S., Niamba, L., Sié, A., Becher, H., 2011. The Effect of Distance to Health-Care Facilities on Childhood Mortality in Rural Burkina Faso. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **173**, pp.492–498. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq386
- Schuijt, K., 2002. Land and water use of wetlands in Africa: Economic values of African wetlands International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis: Austria.
- Schuijt, K.D., 2005. Economic consequences of wetland degradation for local populations in Africa. *Ecological Economics* **53**, pp.177–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.08.003
- Shand, T.D., Cox, R,J., Blacka, M.J., and Smith, G.P. 2010. *Appropriate Safety Criteria for Vehicles (Report Number: P10/S1/006) Australian Rainfall and Runoff.* Commonwealth of Australia: Australia.
- Sharma, V.K., Rao, G.S., Amminedu, E., Nagamani, P.V., Shukla, A., Rao, K.R.M., Bhanumurthy, V., 2016. Event-driven flood management: design and computational modules. *Geo-spatial Information Science* **19**, pp.39–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10095020.2016.1151212</u>
- Shastry, A., Durand, M., Neal, J., Fernández, A., Phang, S.C., Mohr, B., Jung, H.C., Kari, S., Moritz, M., Mark, B.G., Laborde, S., Murumkar, A., Hamilton, I., 2020. Small-scale anthropogenic changes impact floodplain hydraulics: Simulating the effects of fish canals on the Logone floodplain. *Journal of Hydrology* 588, article no: 125035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2020.125035

Shela, O.N., 2000. Management of shared river basins: the case of the Zambezi River. Water Policy, 2(1-2), pp.65-81.
 Shu, C., Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Lin, B., 2011. Incipient velocity for partially submerged vehicles in floodwaters. Journal of Hydraulic Research 49, pp.709–717. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221686.2011.616318

- Shu, C.W., Han, S.S., Kong, W.N., Dong, B.L., 2016. Mechanism of toppling instability of the human body in floodwaters. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. **39**, article no: 012038. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/39/1/012038
- Simkhada, B., Teijlingen, E.R. van, Porter, M., Simkhada, P., 2008. Factors affecting the utilization of antenatal care in developing countries: systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* **61**, pp.244–260. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04532.x
- Singh, M., Shekher, M., Jacob, N., Radhadevi, Venkataraman, V.R., 2020. Automatic Road Delineation Using Deep Neural Network, in: 2020 IEEE India Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (InGARSS). Presented at the 2020 IEEE India Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (InGARSS), pp. 94–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/InGARSS48198.2020.9358928</u>
- Singini, D., 2015. A Synopsis of maternal deaths in Zambia based on Maternal Death Review Data. Masters thesis, University of Zambia
- Sinkala, Y., Simuunza, M., Pfeiffer, D.U., Munang'andu, H.M., Mulumba, M., Kasanga, C.J., Muma, J.B., Mweene, A.S., 2014. Challenges and Economic Implications in the Control of Foot and Mouth Disease in Sub-Saharan Africa: Lessons from the Zambian Experience. *Veterinary Medicine International.* article no: 373921 <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/373921</u>
- Smith, A., Newing, A., Quinn, N., Martin, D., Cockings, S., Neal, J., 2015. Assessing the Impact of Seasonal Population Fluctuation on Regional Flood Risk Management. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo*-Information 4, pp.1118–1141. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi4031118</u>
- Smith, M.W., Macklin, M.G., Thomas, C.J., 2013. Hydrological and geomorphological controls of malaria transmission. *Earth-Science Reviews* **116**, pp.109–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2012.11.004
- Speranza, C.I., 2010. Flood disaster risk management and humanitarian interventions in the Zambezi River Basin: Implications for adaptation to climate change. *Climate and Development* **2**, pp.176–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.3763/cdev.2010.0041</u>
- Statutory Instrument No 007 of 2020, The Road Traffic Act (Speed Limits Regulation). Zambia: Government of Zambia
- Stone, B., Sambo, J., Sawadogo-Lewis, T., Roberton, T., 2020. When it rains, it pours: detecting seasonal patterns in utilization of maternal healthcare in Mozambique using routine data. *BMC Health Services Research* 20, article no: 950. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05807-0
- Sturrock, H.J., Cohen, J.M., Keil, P., Tatem, A.J., Le Menach, A., Ntshalintshali, N.E., Hsiang, M.S., Gosling, R.D., 2014.
 Fine-scale malaria risk mapping from routine aggregated case data. *Malaria Journal* 13, article no: 421. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-13-421
- Taliaferro, M.S., Schriever, B.A., Shackley, M.S., 2010. Obsidian procurement, least cost path analysis, and social interaction in the Mimbres area of southwestern New Mexico. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 37, pp.536– 548. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jas.2009.10.018
- Tanser, F., Gijsbertsen, B., Herbst, K., 2006. Modelling and understanding primary health care accessibility and utilization in rural South Africa: An exploration using a geographical information system. *Social Science & Medicine* 63, pp.691–705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.01.015

- Tatem, A.J., Campbell, J., Guerra-Arias, M., de Bernis, L., Moran, A., Matthews, Z., 2014. Mapping for maternal and newborn health: the distributions of women of childbearing age, pregnancies and births. *International Journal of Health Geographics* **13**, article no: 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-13-2
- Tegegne, T.K., Chojenta, C., Loxton, D., Smith, R., Kibret, K.T., 2018. The impact of geographic access on institutional delivery care use in low and middle-income countries: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE* **13**, article no: e0203130. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203130
- Tembo, T., Chongwe, G., Vwalika, B., Sitali, L., 2017. Signal functions for emergency obstetric care as an intervention for reducing maternal mortality: a survey of public and private health facilities in Lusaka District, Zambia. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth 17, article no: 288. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1451-0
- Témez Pelaez J. R. (1992). Control del desarrollo urbano en las zonas inundables. In: J. Dolz, M. Gómez, JP Martín *(eds) Inundaciones y Redes de Drenaje Urbano'*. Editores. CICCP Monografías. Madrid, España.
- Tenkanen, H., Salonen, M., Lattu, M., Toivonen, T., 2015. Seasonal fluctuation of riverine navigation and accessibility in Western Amazonia: An analysis combining a cost-efficient GPS-based observation system and interviews. *Applied Geography* 63, pp.273–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.07.003</u>
- Teo, F.Y., Liew, Y., Falconer, R., Lin, B., 2013. Estimation of flood hazard risk relating to vehicles. *Proceedings of 2013 IAHR World Congress*. Chengdu, China.
- Teo, F.Y., Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Lin, B., 2012. Experimental studies on the interaction between vehicles and floodplain flows. *International Journal of River Basin Management*, **10**, pp.149–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/15715124.2012.674040
- Tessema, S.K., Nkengasong, J.N., 2021. Understanding COVID-19 in Africa. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **21**, pp.469–470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-021-00579-y</u>
- Thaddeus, S. and Maine, D., 1994. Too far to walk: maternal mortality in context. *Social Science & Medicine*, **38**(8), pp.1091-1110.
- Thompson, J.R., Crawley, A., Kingston, D.G., 2017. Future river flows and flood extent in the Upper Niger and Inner Niger Delta: GCM-related uncertainty using the CMIP5 ensemble. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* 62, pp.2239–2265. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2017.1383608
- Thompson, J.R., Laizé, C.L.R., Acreman, M.C., Crawley, A., Kingston, D.G., 2021. Impacts of climate change on environmental flows in West Africa's Upper Niger Basin and the Inner Niger Delta. *Hydrology Research* 52, pp.958–974. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.2021.041
- Thompson, J.R., Polet, G., 2000. Hydrology and land use in a sahelian floodplain wetland. *Wetlands* **20**, pp.639–659. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2000)020[0639:HALUIA]2.0.CO;2
- Tobler, W. 1993. Three presentation on geographical analysis and modelling: non-isotropic geographic modelling; speculations on the geometry of geography; and global spatial analysis. Technical Report 93-1. National Center for Geographic Information and Analysis: California.
- Toda, K., Ishigaki, T. and Ozaki, T., 2013. Experiments study on floating car in flooding. In: *International Conference on Flood Resilience 2013 (ICFR, 2013): Experiences in Asia and Europe (Vol. 6).* Exeter, UK.
- Togawa, K., Anderson, B.O., Foerster, M., Galukande, M., Zietsman, A., Pontac, J., Anele, A., Adisa, C., Parham, G., Pinder, L.F., McKenzie, F., Schüz, J., Santos-Silva, I. dos, McCormack, V., 2021. Geospatial barriers to

healthcare access for breast cancer diagnosis in sub-Saharan African settings: The African Breast Cancer— Disparities in Outcomes Cohort Study. *International Journal of Cancer* **148**, pp.2212–2226. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.33400

- Tomlin, D., 2010. Propagating radial waves of travel cost in a grid. International *Journal of Geographical Information Science* **24**, pp.1391–1413. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658811003779152
- Trigg, M.A., Birch, C.E., Neal, J.C., Bates, P.D., Smith, A., Sampson, C.C., Yamazaki, D., Hirabayashi, Y., Pappenberger, F., Dutra, E., Ward, P.J., Winsemius, H.C., Salamon, P., Dottori, F., Rudari, R., Kappes, M.S., Simpson, A.L., Hadzilacos, G., Fewtrell, T.J., 2016. The credibility challenge for global fluvial flood risk analysis. *Environmental Research Letters* 11, article no: 094014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/9/094014</u>
- Trinh, M.X., Molkenthin, F., 2021. Flood hazard mapping for data-scarce and ungauged coastal river basins using advanced hydrodynamic models, high temporal-spatial resolution remote sensing precipitation data, and satellite imageries. *Natural Hazards* **109**, pp.441–469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-021-04843-1</u>
- Tsang, M. and Scott, D.M., 2020. An integrated approach to modeling the impact of floods on emergency services: A case study of Calgary, Alberta. *Journal of Transport Geography*, **86**, pp.102774.
- Tshimanga, R.M., Hughes, D.A., Kapangaziwiri, E., 2011. Initial calibration of a semi-distributed rainfall runoff model for the Congo River basin. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, **36**, pp.761–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pce.2011.07.045</u>
- Vadrevu, L., Kanjilal, B., 2016. Measuring spatial equity and access to maternal health services using enhanced two step floating catchment area method (E2SFCA) – a case study of the Indian Sundarbans. *International Journal for Equity in Health* **15**, article no: 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0376-y
- Vasudevan, L., Baumgartner, J.N., Moses, S., Ngadaya, E., Mfinanga, S.G., Ostermann, J., 2020. Parental concerns and uptake of childhood vaccines in rural Tanzania – a mixed methods study. *BMC Public Health* 20, article no: 1573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09598-1</u>
- Veenstra, N., Whiteside, A., Lalloo, D., Gibbs, A., 2010. Unplanned antiretroviral treatment interruptions in southern Africa: how should we be managing these? *Globalization and Health* **6**, article no: 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8603-6-4</u>
- Verburg, P.H., Overmars, K.P., Witte, N., 2004. Accessibility and land-use patterns at the forest fringe in the northeastern part of the Philippines. *The Geographical Journal* **170**, pp.238–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0016-7398.2004.00123.x</u>
- Vora, K.S., Koblinsky, S.A., Koblinsky, M.A., 2015. Predictors of maternal health services utilization by poor, rural women: a comparative study in Indian States of Gujarat and Tamil Nadu. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition* **33**, article no: 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41043-015-0025-x
- Wan, N., Zou, B., Sternberg, T., 2012. A three-step floating catchment area method for analyzing spatial access to health services. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science* 26, pp.1073–1089. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2011.624987
- Wang, W., Yang, N., Zhang, Y., Wang, F., Cao, T., Eklund, P., 2016. A review of road extraction from remote sensing images. *Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering* 3, pp.271–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtte.2016.05.005</u>
- Wang, W., Yang, S., Gao, J., Hu, F., Zhao, W. and Stanley, H.E., 2020. An Integrated Approach for Assessing the Impact of Large-Scale Future Floods on a Highway Transport System. *Risk Analysis*, **40**(9), pp.1780-1794.

- Ward, P.J., Jongman, B., Salamon, P., Simpson, A., Bates, P., De Groeve, T., Muis, S., de Perez, E.C., Rudari, R., Trigg, M.A., Winsemius, H.C., 2015. Usefulness and limitations of global flood risk models. *Nature Climate Change* 5, pp.712–715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2742</u>
- Webster, K., Arroyo-Mora, J.P., Coomes, O.T., Takasaki, Y., Abizaid, C., 2016. A cost path and network analysis methodology to calculate distances along a complex river network in the Peruvian Amazon. *Applied Geography* **73**, pp.13–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2016.05.008</u>
- Weiss, D.J., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Rumisha, S.F., Amratia, P., Arambepola, R., Battle, K.E., Cameron, E., Chestnutt, E., Gibson, H.S., Harris, J., Keddie, S., Millar, J.J., Rozier, J., Symons, T.L., Vargas-Ruiz, C., Hay, S.I., Smith, D.L., Alonso, P.L., Noor, A.M., Bhatt, S., Gething, P.W., 2021b. Indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on malaria intervention coverage, morbidity, and mortality in Africa: a geospatial modelling analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 21, pp.59–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30700-3</u>
- Weiss, D.J., Nelson, A., Vargas-Ruiz, C.A., Gligorić, K., Bavadekar, S., Gabrilovich, E., Bertozzi-Villa, A., Rozier, J., Gibson, H.S., Shekel, T., Kamath, C., Lieber, A., Schulman, K., Shao, Y., Qarkaxhija, V., Nandi, A.K., Keddie, S.H., Rumisha, S., Amratia, P., Arambepola, R., Chestnutt, E.G., Millar, J.J., Symons, T.L., Cameron, E., Battle, K.E., Bhatt, S., Gething, P.W., 2020a. Global maps of travel time to healthcare facilities. *Nature Medicine* 26, pp.1835–1838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1059-1</u>
- Welcomme, R.L. (1979) Fisheries Ecology of Floodplains Rivers. Longman: New York.
- Welcomme, R.L., 1975. The fisheries ecology of African floodplains, In: *Documents Occasionnels Du CPCA (FAO)*. Presented at the Consultation on Fisheries Problems in the Sahelian Zone, Bamako (Mali), 13 Nov 1974.
- Wessel, B., Huber, M., Wohlfart, C., Marschalk, U., Kosmann, D., Roth, A., 2018. Accuracy assessment of the global TanDEM-X Digital Elevation Model with GPS data. ISPRS *Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* 139, pp.171–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2018.02.017
- White, D.A., 2015. The Basics of Least Cost Analysis for Archaeological Applications. *Advances in Archaeological Practice* **3**, pp.407–414. https://doi.org/10.7183/2326-3768.3.4.407
- Willis, T.D.M., Smith, M.W., Cross, D.E., Hardy, A.J., Ettrich, G.E., Malawo H., Chalo C., Sinkombo M., and Thomas, C.J. In press. Hydrodynamic modelling of inundation patterns of a large African floodplain indicates sensitivity to waterway restoration.
- Witt, P., 2012. The Development of a Predictive Hiking Travel Time Model Accounting for Terrain Variations. In T. Jekel, A. Car, J. Strobl, & G. Griesebner (Eds.), Gl_Forum 2012: Geovisualization, Society and Learning pp. 102–112. Salzburg: Wichmann.
- Wong, K.L.M., Benova, L., Campbell, O.M.R., 2017. A look back on how far to walk: Systematic review and metaanalysis of physical access to skilled care for childbirth in Sub-Saharan Africa. *PLoS ONE* 12, article no: e0184432. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184432
- World Bank. 2013. Detailed assessment, conceptual design and environmental and social impact assessment (ESIA)

 study for the improved use of priority traditional canals in the Barotse sub-basin of the Zamezi, Mongu,

 Zambia.
 [Online].

 [Accessed:
 27th

 March
 2021].

 Available
 from:

 http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/210491468334781262/pdf/SFG1087-EA-P127254-ESIA-Barotse-Canals-Box391463B-PUBLIC-Disclosed-05-26-2015.pdf
- World Health Organization (WHO). (1978). Primary health care. Report of the International Conference on the Primary Health Care, Alma Ata, 6-12 September. Geneva, Switzerland Author.

- World Health Organization, United Nations Population Fund, Mailman School of Public Health. Averting Maternal Death and Disability & United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2009. Monitoring emergency obstetric care: a handbook. Switzerland: World Health Organization. [Accessed 9/10/2020]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44121
- Wright, K., Doody, B.J., Becker, and J., McClure, J. 2010. *Pedestrian and motorist flood safety study: a review of behaviours in and around floodwater and strategies to enhance appropriate behaviour*. GNS Science: New Zealand.
- Xia, J., Falconer, R., Guo, P. and Gu, A., 2014b. Stability criterion for a flooded human body under various ground slopes. 11th International Conference on Hydroinformatics (HIC 2014), Informatics and the Environment: Data and Model Integration in a Heterogeneous Hydro World, 17th-21st August 2014, New York City: USA. Curran Associates Inc.: USA
- Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Lin, B. and Tan, G., 2011b. Numerical assessment of flood hazard risk to people and vehicles in flash floods. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, **26**(8), pp.987-998.
- Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Wang, Y., Xiao, X., 2014a. New criterion for the stability of a human body in floodwaters. *Journal of Hydraulic Research* **52**, pp.93–104. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221686.2013.875073
- Xia, J., Falconer, R.A., Xiao, X., Wang, Y., 2014c. Criterion of vehicle stability in floodwaters based on theoretical and experimental studies. *Natural Hazards* **70**, pp.1619-1630.
- Xia, J., Teo, F.Y., Lin, B., Falconer, R.A., 2011a. Formula of incipient velocity for flooded vehicles. *Natural Hazards* **58**, pp.1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-010-9639-x
- Yamazaki, D., Ikeshima, D., Tawatari, R., Yamaguchi, T., O'Loughlin, F., Neal, J.C., Sampson, C.C., Kanae, S., Bates,
 P.D., 2017. A high-accuracy map of global terrain elevations. *Geophysical Research Letters* 44, article no: 5844–5853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017GL072874</u>
- Yin, J., Yu, D., Lin, N., Wilby, R.L., 2017. Evaluating the cascading impacts of sea level rise and coastal flooding on emergency response spatial accessibility in Lower Manhattan, New York City. *Journal of Hydrology* 555, pp.648–658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.10.067
- Yin, J., Yu, D., Yin, Z., Liu, M., He, Q., 2016. Evaluating the impact and risk of pluvial flash flood on intra-urban road network: A case study in the city center of Shanghai, China. *Journal of Hydrology* 537, pp.138–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.03.037
- Yu, D., Yin, J., Wilby, R.L., Lane, S.N., Aerts, J.C.J.H., Lin, N., Liu, M., Yuan, H., Chen, J., Prudhomme, C., Guan, M., Baruch, A., Johnson, C.W.D., Tang, X., Yu, L., Xu, S., 2020. Disruption of emergency response to vulnerable populations during floods. *Nature Sustainability* **3**, pp.728–736. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0516-7
- Zambezi Valley Development Initiative (ZVDI), 2010. Lyambai Vulnerability and Adaptation Project Stage 2: Community based adaptation to climate change (CBA), first field expedition, 20-31 October 2010: Report (second draft). [Online]. Zambia: ZVDI
- Zambia Statistics Agency, Ministry of Health (MOH) Zambia, and ICF. 2019. *Zambia Demographic and Health Survey* 2018. Lusaka, Zambia, and Rockville, Maryland, USA: Zambia Statistics Agency, Ministry of Health, and ICF

- Zegeye, K., Gebeyehu, A. and Melese, T., 2014. The role of geographical access in the Utilization of institutional delivery service in rural Jimma Horro District, Southwest Ethiopia. *Primary Health Care: Open Access*, **4**(1), article no: 1000150.
- Zhang, X., Alexander, L., Hegerl, G.C., Jones, P., Tank, A.K., Peterson, T.C., Trewin, B., Zwiers, F.W., 2011. Indices for monitoring changes in extremes based on daily temperature and precipitation data. WIREs Climate Change 2, pp.851–870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.147</u>
- Zimba, H., Kawawa, B., Chabala, A., Phiri, W., Selsam, P., Meinhardt, M., Nyambe, I., 2018. Assessment of trends in inundation extent in the Barotse Floodplain, upper Zambezi River Basin: A remote sensing-based approach. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies* 15, pp.149–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2018.01.002</u>